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Vision 

We strive for a connected and thriving community. 

Mission 

We will foster opportunities, celebrate our identity and lifestyle, 
and provide high quality and responsive services.

Values 

Teamwork
Integrity
Respect

Disclaimer 
The advice and information contained herein is given by the Council without 
liability or responsibility for its accuracy. Before placing any reliance on this advice 
or information, a written enquiry should be made to the Council giving the entire 
reason or reasons for seeking the advice or information and how it is proposed to 
be used.

Council meetings are livestreamed on the Internet to provide members of the 
community greater access to Council decisions and debate. A recording of the 
meeting will be available on Council’s website after the meeting (usually within 48 
hours). Visitors in the public gallery may be filmed and/or recorded during the 
meeting. By attending the meeting, it is assumed consent is given in the event that 
this occurs.
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Order of Business

1 Prayer

We ask for guidance and blessing on this Council. May the true needs and wellbeing 
of our communities be our concern. Help us, who serve as leaders, to remember that 
all our decisions are made in the best interests of the people, culture and the 
environment of the Corangamite Shire. 

Amen.

2 Acknowledgment of Country

We acknowledge the traditional custodians of the land around Corangamite Shire, 
the Eastern Maar and Wadawurrung people. 

We pay our respects to all Aboriginal Elders and peoples past, present and 
emerging.

3 Apologies

4 Declarations of Conflict of Interest

In accordance with section 130 (1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2020 Councillors 
are required to disclose any “conflict of interest” in respect of a matter to be 
considered at a Council Meeting. Disclosure must occur immediately before the 
matter is considered or discussed.

5 Confirmation of Minutes
5.1 Corangamite Shire Council meeting held on xxxDayxxMonthxxYearxx

RECOMMENDATION

That the minutes of the Corangamite Shire Council meeting held on 28 May 2024 be 
confirmed as correct.
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6 Deputations and Presentations

Members of the public may address Council under this section of the agenda during 
a meeting of Council if: 

1) The person is addressing the Council in respect to a submission on an issue 
under Section 223 of the Local Government Act 1989; or 

2) The person has requested that they address Council on an issue and the 
Mayor has agreed that they be heard. 

Requests to address Council must be received by 5.00 pm on the day prior to the 
scheduled meeting of Council. 

Presentations made to Council in this section of the agenda may not exceed five 
minutes in length, although Councillors may ask questions following each 
presentation. If a presentation exceeds five minutes in length, the Mayor may 
request that the presenter ceases to address Council immediately.
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7 Committee Reports

Nil

8 Planning Reports
8.1 Planning Permit Application PP2023/152 - Two Lot Subdivision (Excision of Dwelling) - 65 Doaks Track, Scotts Creek

8.1 Planning Permit Application PP2023/152 - Two Lot 
Subdivision (Excision of Dwelling) - 65 Doaks Track, Scotts 
Creek

Directorate: Sustainable Development

Author: Melanie Oborne, Planning Coordinator

Previous Council Reference: Nil

Attachments: 1. Under Separate Cover - Planning Permit Application 
PP2023/152 [8.1.1 - 24 pages]

2. Under Separate Cover - Copy of Objection PP2023/152 
[8.1.2 - 1 page]

  

Declaration
Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – Melanie Oborne

In providing this advice to Council as the Planning Coordinator, I have no interests to 
disclose in this report.

Summary
Council must consider a planning permit application seeking approval for a two (2) 
lot subdivision (excision of dwelling) at 65 Doaks Track, Scotts Creek.

Council has received one (1) objection to the application.
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The application has been assessed against the Corangamite Planning Scheme and 
the key issues raised in the objection have been considered. It is considered that the 
proposed subdivision, which creates an isolated rural-residential lot within the 
Farming Zone, does not provide an acceptable response to the relevant strategic 
direction, planning policy and controls of the planning scheme.

It is recommended that Council issue a Notice of Decision to Refuse to Grant a 
Permit.

Introduction
Planning Permit Application PP2023/152 was received on 19 October 2023 for a 
two-lot subdivision to excise a dwelling from the balance farmland. The reason the 
subdivision is sought is to enable the applicant (owner) to retain the dwelling and sell 
the balance farmland. 

Council has given public notice of the application and one (1) objection to the 
application was received. The key issue raised can be summarised as follows:

• The ongoing purchase of land by blue gum tree companies to neighbouring 
farms in the Scotts Creek area is of great concern;

• Losing good productive farming land to trees (timber production);
• Local Real Estate Agents not considering neighbouring farms and contacting 

tree plantation companies to purchase farms.

This report provides a planning assessment of the application.

History
The following planning permit history applies to the subject land:

• Planning Permit PP2009/031 was issued for development of a dwelling at a 
reduced setback from a road under the Farming Zone.

• Planning Permit PP2016/2016 was issued for a two-lot subdivision under the 
Farming Zone where both lots met the minimum lot size requirements. The 
subdivision created the subject site and a second lot of approximately 55ha.

• Planning Permit PP2017/018 was issued for development of a shed at a 
reduced setback from a road under the Farming Zone.

Subject Land
The subject site has a total area of 40ha and consists of: 
• Single dwelling
• Several sheds 
• Multiple dams and a waterway that runs through the centre of the site.
• The subject site is regular in shape where access to the dwelling is via Doaks 

Track that comes off Doaks Road.
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Surrounding Area
The main land use characteristics within the surrounding area include:

• The topography of the site is undulating where it has a downward slope to the 
southeast.

• The site abuts Cooriemungle Creek to the east.
• Doaks Track is a gravel access road and maintained for all weather access to 

the dwelling only. The tracks within the road reserve along the north and west 
boundaries beyond the house driveway, provides dry weather access only.

• Surrounding land uses are predominantly associated with agriculture – 
grazing animal production, including dairy, beef and sheep.

Figures 1 and 2 include a planning zone map and aerial images of the site and 
surrounds. 

Figure 1: Planning Zone Map
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Figure 2: Aerial showing subject site and surrounds

Proposal
The application seeks approval for a two-lot subdivision comprising of:

• Lot 1 – 1.5ha consisting of existing dwelling and farm sheds 
• Lot 2 – 38.37ha of balance farmland

A copy of the planning permit application is provided under separate cover. 

Policy and Legislative Context
Zoning
The subject land is in the Farming Zone – Schedule 1 (FZ1). 

A permit is required to subdivide land in the Farming Zone. Each lot must be at least 
40 hectares. However, a permit may be granted to create smaller lot if the following 
applies: 

• The subdivision is to create a lot for an existing dwelling. The subdivision 
must be a two lot subdivision.

The proposal complies with this provision. The purpose and decision guidelines of 
the Farming Zone need to be considered in the assessment of this application.

Overlays
There are no planning overlays applying directly to the site. 

Municipal Planning Strategy and the Planning Policy Framework
The following clauses are considered relevant to this permit application:
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Clause 02 Municipal Planning Strategy
Clause 02.01 Context; The Shire is a renowned farming region, producing dairy, 
wool, beef, prime lamb, crops and grain. Agricultural production and processing, 
along with their ancillary services, are the largest economic drivers for the 
municipality.

Clause 02.02 Vision

Clause 02.03-3 Environmental risks and amenity (Bushfire, flooding, erosion and 
land slip)

Clause 02.03-4 Natural resource management (Agriculture); seeks to limit further 
fragmentation of rural land and avoid subdivision of land for dwellings where it has 
the ability to impact on the ‘right to farm’ of existing rural properties or removes land 
from agricultural production; and avoid land use conflicts between agriculture and 
sensitive uses (i.e. dwellings).

Clause 02.03-6 Housing (Rural Living); supports rural-residential use and 
development adjacent to existing townships to sustain population levels and 
communities and seeks to avoid rural-residential development in farming areas 
which can lead to the inefficient use of land. 

Clause 13 Environmental Risks and Amenity
Clause 13.07-1S Land Use Compatibility; seeks to protect amenity and ensure that 
use and development is compatible with adjoining uses and avoid location uses in 
areas that may be affected to off-site impacts.

Clause 14 Natural Resource Management
Clause 14.01-1S Agriculture – Protection of agricultural land; seeks to avoid the 
permanent removal of productive agricultural land from the State’s agricultural base 
without consideration of the economic importance of the land for the agricultural 
production and processing sectors and to prevent inappropriately dispersed urban 
activities in rural areas. Key strategies require consideration of the impacts on the 
continuation of agriculture and land use compatibility.

Clause 14.01-1L Agriculture – Protection of agricultural land; seeks to minimise 
conflict between agricultural and non-agricultural land uses in rural areas and avoid 
rural-residential subdivision of productive agricultural land, unless it can be 
demonstrated that it is required to maintain the productive agricultural use of the 
land.

Clause 14.01-1L Agriculture – Subdivision in the Farming Zone; 
• discourages subdivision unless the subdivision will enhance farm 

consolidation and trading of lots between farms and will not adversely impact 
on the ability to use the land for agriculture. 

• discourages subdivision that increases the potential for future dwellings.
• discourages excisions of lots unless all of the following apply:
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o It can be demonstrated that farming can be continued on the balance 
of the lot unhindered.

o The dwelling is not required for the farming use of the property.
o The dwelling is in a habitable condition.
o The dwelling is at the front of the property.
o The dwelling is serviced by a road.
o The lot is designed in a manner that does not prejudice surrounding 

rural production activities.
• discourages excisions that create long narrow lots or battle axe lots; ensure 

that the excision of a dwelling and creation of a lot smaller than what is 
specified in the Schedule to the Farming Zone (i.e. 40ha) is consistent with 
the purposes of the zone.

•
Clause 16 Housing
Clause 16.01-3S Residential Development – Rural residential development; seeks to 
manage development in rural areas to protect agriculture and avoid inappropriate 
rural residential development and discourages the development of small lots in rural 
zones for residential use.

Particular Provisions
Not applicable.

Clause 65 Decision Guidelines 
Council must decide whether the proposal will provide an acceptable outcome in 
terms of the purpose and decision guidelines of the zone, and the direction outlined 
in the Municipal Planning Strategy and Planning Policy Framework which contains 
strong policy which seeks to protect agricultural land.  

Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006
Under section 46 of the Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006, a mandatory cultural heritage 
management plan is required for a proposed activity if the regulations require the 
preparation of the plan for that activity.

If required, an approved cultural heritage management plan (CHMP) must be 
submitted to Council before deciding on a planning permit application.

The Aboriginal Heritage Regulations 2018 stipulate that unless an activity is 
specified as being an exempt activity, a cultural heritage management plan is 
required if:

a) all or part of the activity area for the activity is an area of cultural heritage 
sensitivity; and

b) all or part of the activity is a high impact activity.
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The subject land (activity area) is not in an area of cultural heritage sensitivity, and 
the subdivision of land into two lots is not specified as a high impact activity in the 
regulations. Therefore, a mandatory CHMP is not required for the proposed 
subdivision.

Internal / External Consultation
Referrals
There are no statutory referrals for this application. 

Advice on the application was sought from the following Council Departments.
Internal Department Response
Assets Planning If a new or upgraded access is required to the lots then 

a separate Vehicle Crossing permit will be required from 
Council.

Environmental Health Standard comments for a rural subdivision in relation to 
wastewater management for a dwelling on a small lot. 

Advertising
Notice of the application was given in accordance with Section 52 of the Planning 
and Environment Act 1987, including:

• Sending notices to the owners and occupiers of adjoining land.
• Notice of Council’s website.

One objection was received to the application. The issues raised in the objections 
can be summarised as follows:

• Ongoing purchases of neighbouring farms in Scotts Creek by blue gum tree 
companies is a concern.

• Losing good productive farm land to trees (timber production).
• Local Real Estate Agents not considering neighbouring farms and contacting 

tree plantation companies to purchase farms.

A copy of the objection is provided under separate cover. 

Consultation
Consultation for the application was undertaken and included: 

• 17 May 2024: The applicant was informed that planning officers had 
outstanding concerns with the application and it was unlikely it could be 
supported. 

• 4 June 2024: A planning site inspection was held and attended by Councillors, 
Council officers, the applicant, and objector to discuss the proposal, planning 
considerations and issues raised in the objection. 
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Assessment
The assessment of the permit application will consider how the proposal responds to 
the purpose and decision guidelines of the Farming Zone and the strategic and 
policy direction outlined within Municipal Planning Strategy and the Planning Policy 
Framework.

The Corangamite Planning Scheme discourages the creation of small rural-
residential lots in productive agricultural areas which have the potential to impact on 
the continuation of agriculture and cause land use conflict. The southern parts of 
Corangamite Shire include areas of high agricultural value and productivity, which 
need to be protected from land use change to ensure the long-term viability of 
agriculture as the primary industry in the local economy given its State and regional 
importance.

The application raises key issues for Council to consider, including the need to 
protect and avoid fragmentation of agricultural land, which may impact on the ‘right 
to farm’ due to land use conflict and impede the long-term viability of agriculture 
within Corangamite Shire.

Municipal Planning Strategy and Planning Policy Framework 
The objectives and strategies of the Planning Policy Framework (PPF) recognise the 
importance of agriculture and the need to protect productive land from inappropriate 
subdivision which fragments agricultural land and creates isolated small rural-
residential lots which can be incompatible with adjoining farming operations and 
growth, and lead to land use conflict. 

These objectives are further supported through the Municipal Planning Strategy 
(MPS) and local planning policy. The agricultural sector is identified as the largest 
and most important industry in the Corangamite Shire, employing approximately one 
third of the Shire’s workforce. A key issue for the Council, is the need to manage the 
subdivision of land to reduce potential impacts on productive agricultural land and 
uses.

The proposed subdivision seeks to subdivide a dwelling onto a small lot, separating 
it from the balance farmland and thus creating a rural-residential lot of 1.5ha in a 
productive agricultural area. Whilst it has been indicated that there is interest for the 
balance land to be purchased and used for timber production (blue gum plantation), 
the application instead suggests that the subdivision is required as part of ‘farm 
succession planning’, with the owners to remain in the existing dwelling and the 
balance land (Lot 2) to be transferred. After a request from planning officers, no 
further supporting information or justification has been provided to demonstrate the 
need or beneficial agricultural outcome as a result of the subdivision.
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The proposed subdivision is sought to sell off the vacant farmland, with the owner to 
reside in the dwelling, which creates a rural-residential allotment. The proposal fails 
to provide an appropriate response to local planning policy for the following reasons:

• The subdivision will lead to land use change with a dwelling on a rural-
residential-lot disconnected from agriculture, where, without adequate 
justification, there is greater value in maintaining the property as whole entity 
and protecting the agricultural value of the land.

• The benefits of the rural-residential subdivision do not outweigh the impacts 
through land use change, conflict and restriction on the continuation and 
growth of agricultural uses.

• The proposal doesn’t minimise conflict between agricultural and non-
agricultural land uses in rural areas and does not address the long-term 
impacts of the subdivision.

• Insufficient justification and information has been provided regarding the need 
for subdivision and there is greater planning benefit in retaining the dwelling 
on the land for long-term connection with agriculture.

• The subdivision will create an isolated rural-residential use within a productive 
agricultural area, which State and local policy seeks to carefully manage and 
protect.

Overall, the application does not provide an appropriate response to the strategic 
direction and policy objectives of the Planning Scheme which seek to prioritise the 
protection of productive agricultural land from incompatible land uses and prevent 
inappropriate urban activities in rural areas which may prejudice the ongoing 
operation of agriculture. 

Local strategic direction in the MPS, more specifically, discourages subdivision 
where it has the ability to impact on the ‘right to farm’ and create land use conflict. In 
addition, subdivision should be discouraged unless it will clearly advance and 
agricultural outcome on the balance land and not adversely impact on the ability to 
use the balance land for agriculture.

Council is at a critical stage in considering the future of agriculture in the Shire and 
the protection of productive agricultural land. Progressive decisions to fragment 
farmland have the potential to lead to long-term negative cumulative outcomes, 
restricting the continuation and growth of this key industry of local, regional and State 
significance.
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Farming Zone 
The purpose of the Farming Zone is to provide land for agricultural uses, retain 
productive agricultural land and ensure that non-agricultural uses such as dwellings 
do not adversely affect farming activities. 

The application must be considered against the purpose and decision guidelines of 
the zone. The following comments are made with regard to the decision guidelines:

• The application provides insufficient justification as to how the proposed 
subdivision will enhance the agricultural productivity of the subject land by 
creating an isolated rural-residential lot with a high risk of land use conflict and 
incompatibility between land uses.

• The proposal will result in a permanent change of land use, removing the 
dwelling from any association with the farm and ongoing agricultural 
production.

• Future residents are likely to be adversely affected by agricultural activities on 
adjacent and nearby land, by way of noise, smell and the impact of ongoing 
farming operations. Conversely, the residents of the dwelling have the 
potential to restrict future agricultural use of the balance land through reverse-
amenity expectations.

• Rural-residential lots must be located in areas which don’t have the potential 
to restrict the continuation of agriculture and are compatible with the current 
and future use of surrounding land. Residential growth and development 
should be directed to existing settlements which have the services and 
facilities to support this use.

• The existing use and possible future development of the land has been 
considered. The land is productive and valuable farming land, and orderly 
planning directs that isolated rural-residential lots and potential land use 
conflict should be avoided to preserve the Shire’s agricultural base.
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Response to Objections
The key issues raised in the objection and an officer response are provided below.

Internal Department Response
Ongoing purchases by 
Blue Gum Tree 
Companies of 
neighbouring farms is 
of great concern.

Objection not supported
Whilst recognising the current local concern regarding 
land use change for timber production, Council is not 
currently in a position to speculate or control this type of 
land use which is ‘as of right’ and does not require a 
planning permit.

The application has not been submitted on the basis that 
the subdivision is required to enable the future use of 
land for timber production. Council can only assess the 
application based on the information provided and 
relevant planning policy direction and controls.

Losing good productive 
farm land to trees 
(timber production).

Objection supported (in part)
Whilst the application has not been made to Council with 
any reference to timber production, the loss and 
fragmentation of highly productive and valuable farmland 
is a relevant consideration and is sought to be 
discouraged by strategy and planning policy.

Continued rural-residential subdivision and land use 
change, without clear and adequate justification, could 
cumulatively impact and erode the Shire's agricultural 
base.

Local Real Estate 
Agents not considering 
neighbouring farms and 
contacting tree 
plantation companies to 
purchase farms.

Objection not supported
This is a speculative claim and not a planning 
consideration that Council has any direct control over, 
however, the Planning Scheme seeks to ensure the 
protection and continuation of agriculture, and Council 
encourages opportunities through sale or subdivision 
which supports the growth and expansion of agriculture.

Options
Council has the following options: 

1. Issue a Notice of Decision to Refuse to Grant a Permit based on the grounds 
set out within the recommendation. (Recommended option) 

2. Issue a Notice of Decision to Grant a Permit subject to conditions.
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Conclusion
The application for a two-lot subdivision (excision of dwelling) at 65 Doaks Track, 
Scotts Creek is not supported. The application for the subdivision of land which 
creates a rural-residential lot, has not been adequately justified and is inconsistent 
with local and state planning policy. The current and future agricultural use of the 
land does not warrant or justify the need for subdivision and, at present and based 
on the information provided, there is greater planning benefit in retaining the dwelling 
on the land for long-term connection with agriculture. 

The proposal will result in the fragmentation of agricultural land and creates a rural 
lifestyle property in an established and highly productive farming area which is in 
direct conflict with the purpose of the Farming Zone and the strategic directions and 
policy objectives of the Corangamite Planning Scheme. 

It is recommended that Council issue a Notice of Decision to Refuse to Grant a 
Permit.
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 RECOMMENDATION - 8.1

That Council having caused notice of Planning Application No. PP2023/152 to 
be given under Section 52 of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 and 
having considered all the matters required under Section 60 of the Planning 
and Environment Act 1987, decides to issue a Notice of Decision to Refuse to 
Grant a Permit under the provisions of the Corangamite Planning Scheme in 
respect of the land known and described as Lot 1 PS 7438220P, 65 Doaks 
Track, Scotts Creek, for a two lot subdivision (excision of dwelling), based on 
the following grounds:

1. The subdivision does not provide an acceptable response to the 
Municipal Planning Strategy Clause 02.03-4 which seeks to avoid 
subdivision of land for dwellings where it has the ability to impact on the 
‘right to farm’ of existing rural properties and create land use conflict. 

2. The subdivision does not provide an acceptable response to the 
Planning Policy Framework Clause 14.01-1S Protection of agricultural 
land. 

3. The subdivision does not provide an acceptable response to the 
Planning Policy Framework Clause 14.01-1L Protection of agricultural 
land. 

4. The subdivision does not provide an acceptable response to the 
purpose and decision guidelines of the Farming Zone. 

5. The subdivision has the potential to lead to land use conflict between 
the rural-residential land use and the ongoing agricultural use of the 
balance farmland. 

6. The subdivision will not result in the proper and orderly planning of the 
area.
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8.2 Planning Permit Application PP2023/175 - Two Lot Subdivision (Excision of Dwelling) - 230 Guys Road, Cooriemungle

8.2 Planning Permit Application PP2023/175 - Two Lot 
Subdivision (Excision of Dwelling) - 230 Guys Road, 
Cooriemungle

Directorate: Sustainable Development

Author: Melanie Oborne, Planning Coordinator

Previous Council Reference: Nil

Attachments: 1. Under Separate Cover - Planning Permit Application 
PP2023/175 [8.2.1 - 20 pages]

2. Under Separate Cover - S55 CFA Referral Response 
PP2023/175 [8.2.2 - 1 page]

3. Under Separate Cover - Copy of Objection PP2023/175 
[8.2.3 - 1 page]

 

Declaration
Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – Melanie Oborne

In providing this advice to Council as the Planning Coordinator, I have no interests to 
disclose in this report.

Summary
Council must consider a planning permit application seeking approval for a two (2) 
lot subdivision (excision of dwelling) at 230 Guys Road, Cooriemungle.

The application has been assessed against the Corangamite Planning Scheme and 
it is considered that the proposed subdivision, which creates an isolated rural-
residential lot within the Farming Zone, does not provide an acceptable response to 
the relevant strategic direction, planning policy and controls of the planning scheme.

It is recommended that Council issue a Notice of Decision to Refuse to Grant a 
Permit.
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Introduction
Planning Permit Application PP2023/175 was received on 15 December 2023 for a 
two (2) lot subdivision to excise a dwelling from the balance farmland. The owner of 
the property wishes to retain the land for timber production (blue gum plantation) and 
sell the dwelling as they have no use for it.

Council has given public notice of the application and one (1) objection to the 
application was received as follows:

• Does not provide an appropriate response to housing deficiencies.
• Restrict continued farming practices
• Land use conflict
• On-site wastewater management of dwelling lot
• Doesn’t benefit the wider community
• Sets a precedent for future dwelling excisions, leading to land use change
• Contradicts Corangamite Planning Scheme
• Financial advantage

This report provides a planning assessment of the application.

History
There is no recent planning permit history for the site.  

Subject Land
The subject site has a total area of 67.97ha and consists of: 
• Single dwelling.
• Several sheds and a disused dairy.
• Multiple dams and waterways, including numerous shelter belts.

Surrounding Area
The main land use characteristics within the surrounding area include:
• The subject site is irregular in shape and has a 921.6m of road frontage to Guys 

Road.
• The site is part of a larger property consisting of two lots which have been 

converted to a timber plantation. Council received a Plantation Development 
Notice in December 2023 for a 71ha blue gum plantation. 

• Surrounding land uses are predominantly associated with agriculture – grazing 
animal production, including dairy, beef and sheep and timber production.

• An existing timber plantation is located directly south of the site.
• The Cooriemungle Creek Flora Reserve is located to the south-west.
• The topography of the site is undulating where it slopes downwards to the 

northwest.
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Figures 1 and 2 include a planning zone map and aerial images of the site and 
surrounds.

Figure 1: Planning Zone Map

Figure 2: Aerial showing subject site and surrounds and area affected by BMO 
(shaded red)



AGENDA - Council Meeting 25 June 2024

  Page 24 | 239

Proposal
The application seeks approval for a two (2) lot subdivision comprising of:

• Lot 1 – 1.956ha consisting of existing dwelling and multiple outbuildings/farm 
buildings, including a former dairy. 

• Lot 2 – 66.01ha of balance farmland.

A copy of the planning permit application is provided under separate cover. 

Policy and Legislative Context
Zoning
The subject land is in the Farming Zone – Schedule 1 (FZ1). 

A permit is required to subdivide land in the Farming Zone. Each lot must be at least 
40 hectares. However, a permit may be granted to create smaller lot if the following 
applies: 

• The subdivision is to create a lot for an existing dwelling. The subdivision 
must be a two lot subdivision.

The proposal complies with this provision. The purpose and decision guidelines of 
the Farming Zone need to be considered in the assessment of this application.

Overlays
The subject site is partly affected by Bushfire Management Overlay (BMO). The 
BMO area is shaded red in Figure 2. 

A permit is required to subdivide land under the BMO. 

Only a small area of the land is impacted by the BMO along the western and 
southern boundary of the site and it does not affect the existing dwelling to the 
southwest. Therefore, an assessment is not required to be provided against the 
purpose and decision guidelines of the overlay. 

Municipal Planning Strategy and the Planning Policy Framework
The following clauses are considered relevant to this permit application:

Clause 02 Municipal Planning Strategy
Clause 02.01 Context; The Shire is a renowned farming region, producing dairy, 
wool, beef, prime lamb, crops and grain. Agricultural production and processing, 
along with their ancillary services, are the largest economic drivers for the 
municipality.

Clause 02.02 Vision
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Clause 02.03-3 Environmental risks and amenity (Bushfire, flooding, erosion and 
land slip)

Clause 02.03-4 Natural resource management (Agriculture); seeks to limit further 
fragmentation of rural land and avoid subdivision of land for dwellings where it has 
the ability to impact on the ‘right to farm’ of existing rural properties or removes land 
from agricultural production; and avoid land use conflicts between agriculture and 
sensitive uses (i.e. dwellings).

Clause 02.03-6 Housing (Rural Living); supports rural-residential use and 
development adjacent to existing townships to sustain population levels and 
communities and seeks to avoid rural-residential development in farming areas 
which can lead to the inefficient use of land. 

Clause 13 Environmental Risks and Amenity
Clause 13.02-1S Bushfire - Bushfire planning, seeks to strengthen the resilience of 
settlements and communities to bushfire through risk-based planning that prioritises 
the protection of human life.

Clause 13.07-1S Land Use Compatibility; seeks to protect amenity and ensure that 
use and development is compatible with adjoining uses and avoid locating uses in 
areas that may be affected to off-site impacts.

Clause 14 Natural Resource Management
Clause 14.01-1S Agriculture – Protection of agricultural land; seeks to avoid the 
permanent removal of productive agricultural land from the State’s agricultural base 
without consideration of the economic importance of the land for the agricultural 
production and processing sectors; and prevent inappropriately dispersed urban 
activities in rural areas. Key strategies require consideration of the impacts on the 
continuation of agriculture and land use compatibility.

Clause 14.01-1L Agriculture – Protection of agricultural land; seeks to minimise 
conflict between agricultural and non-agricultural land uses in rural areas and avoid 
rural-residential subdivision of productive agricultural land, unless it can be 
demonstrated that it is required to maintain the productive agricultural use of the 
land.

Clause 14.01-1L Agriculture – Subdivision in the Farming Zone; 
• discourages subdivision unless the subdivision will enhance farm 

consolidation and trading of lots between farms and will not adversely impact 
on the ability to use the land for agriculture. 

• discourages subdivision that increases the potential for future dwellings.
• discourages excisions of lots unless all of the following apply:

o It can be demonstrated that farming can be continued on the balance 
of the lot unhindered.

o The dwelling is not required for the farming use of the property.
o The dwelling is in a habitable condition.
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o The dwelling is at the front of the property.
o The dwelling is serviced by a road.
o The lot is designed in a manner that does not prejudice surrounding 

rural production activities.
• discourages excisions that create long narrow lots or battle axe lots.
• ensure that the excision of a dwelling and creation of a lot smaller than what is 

specified in the Schedule to the Farming Zone (i.e. 40ha) is consistent with 
the purposes of the zone.

Clause 14.0-3S Agriculture – Forestry and timber production; seeks to facilitate the 
establishment, management and harvesting of plantations by identifying areas that 
may be suitably used for plantation timber production and promotes the 
establishment of softwood and hardwood plantations on predominantly cleared land.

Clause 14.01-3L Agriculture – Forestry and timber production; encourages the 
expansion of timber production on cropping and grazing land, where road 
infrastructure requirements allow. 

Clause 16 Housing
Clause 16.01-3S Residential Development – Rural residential development; seeks to 
manage development in rural areas to protect agriculture and avoid inappropriate 
rural residential development and discourages the development of small lots in rural 
zones for residential use.

Particular Provisions
Clause 53.02 Bushfire
This clause sets out objectives that must be achieved to ensure that development of 
land prioritises the protection of human life and ensures that the location and design 
of development (including subdivision) respond appropriately to the bushfire hazard 
identified through the BMO. 

As only a small area of the land is impacted by the BMO, the applicant was not 
required to provide an assessment. 

Clause 65 Decision Guidelines 
Council must decide whether the proposal will provide an acceptable outcome in 
terms of the purpose and decision guidelines of the zone, and the direction outlined 
in the Municipal Planning Strategy and Planning Policy Framework which contains 
strong policy that seeks to protect agricultural land. 

Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006
Under section 46 of the Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006, a mandatory cultural heritage 
management plan is required for a proposed activity if the regulations require the 
preparation of the plan for that activity.
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If required, an approved cultural heritage management plan (CHMP) must be 
submitted to Council before deciding on a planning permit application.

The Aboriginal Heritage Regulations 2018 stipulate that unless an activity is 
specified as being an exempt activity, a cultural heritage management plan is 
required if:

a) all or part of the activity area for the activity is an area of cultural heritage 
sensitivity; and

b) all or part of the activity is a high impact activity.

The subject land (activity area) is not in an area of cultural heritage sensitivity and 
the subdivision of land into two lots is not specified as a high impact activity in the 
regulations. Therefore, a mandatory CHMP is not required for the proposed 
subdivision.

Internal / External Consultation
Referrals
The following referrals were undertaken for this application: 
Section 55 Referral Response
Country Fire Authority 
(CFA) – Recommending 
referral authority 

Does not object to the grant of a permit with no permit 
conditions.

Internal Department Response
Assets Planning A new access is required to proposed Lot 2, including 

modification to the existing access, where a vehicle 
crossing permit will be required from Council.

Environmental Health Standard comments for a rural subdivision in relation 
to wastewater management for an existing dwelling 
on a small lot. 

Advertising
Notice of the application was given in accordance with Section 52 of the Planning 
and Environment Act 1987, including:

• Sending notices to the owners and occupiers of adjoining land.
• Notice of Council’s website.

One (1) objection was received to the application as follows:
• Provides financial advantage not afforded to other landowners in the area.
• No housing benefit achieved by the subdivision.
• Precedent of planning outcome.
• Compromise and discriminate against traditional farming practices.
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• No guarantee that the farming use will be continued, would devalue the 
farmland itself, as well as other nearby properties and any excision of the 
dwelling would restrict other farming practices in the future.

• The subdivision establishes a rural-residential use and leads to land use 
conflict.

• Environmental impacts of existing wastewater system. 

Consultation
Consultation for the application was undertaken and included: 

• 2 May 2024: The applicant was informed that Planning Officers maintained 
their concerns with the application and advised of a planning site inspection 
meeting to be held. 

• 4 June 2024: A planning site inspection was held and attended by Councillors, 
Council officers and the plantation manager on behalf of the applicant, to 
discuss the details of the application, key issues and planning considerations. 

Assessment
The assessment of the permit application will consider how the proposal responds to 
the purpose and decision guidelines of the Farming Zone and the strategic and 
policy direction outlined within Municipal Planning Strategy and the Planning Policy 
Framework. 

The Corangamite Planning Scheme discourages the creation of small rural-
residential lots in productive agricultural areas which have the potential to impact on 
the continuation of agriculture and cause land use conflict. The southern part of 
Corangamite Shire includes areas of high agricultural value and productivity, which 
need to be protected from land use change to ensure the long-term viability of 
agriculture as the primary industry in the local economy given its State and regional 
importance. Whilst the proposed subdivision may enable the existing dwelling to be 
sold and continue to provide housing disconnected directly from agriculture, a 
greater level of weight needs to be given to the protection of valuable agricultural 
land over short-term housing needs.

The application raises key issues for Council to consider, including the need to 
protect and avoid fragmentation of agricultural land, which may impact on the ‘right 
to farm’ due to land use conflict and impede the long-term viability of agriculture 
within Corangamite Shire.



AGENDA - Council Meeting 25 June 2024

  Page 29 | 239

Municipal Planning Strategy and Planning Policy Framework 
The objectives and strategies of the Planning Policy Framework (PPF) recognise the 
importance of agriculture and the need to protect productive land from inappropriate 
subdivision which fragments agricultural land and creates isolated small rural-
residential lots which can be incompatible with adjoining farming operations and 
growth and lead to land use conflict. 

These objectives are further supported through the Municipal Planning Strategy 
(MPS) and local planning policy. The agricultural sector is the largest and most 
important industry in the Corangamite Shire, employing approximately one third of 
the Shire’s workforce. A key issue for the Council, is the need to manage the 
subdivision of land to reduce potential impacts on productive agricultural land and 
uses.

The proposed subdivision seeks to subdivide a dwelling onto a small lot, separating 
it from the balance farmland and thus creating a rural-residential lot of 1.95ha in a 
productive agricultural area of significance. The small rural-residential lot is to be 
sold separately, with the balance land retained by a timber plantation company and 
used for timber production (blue gum plantation) currently being established to be 
planted. 

The proposed subdivision is sought to sell the dwelling, which creates a rural-
residential allotment. The proposal fails to provide an appropriate response to local 
planning policy for the following reasons:

• The subdivision will lead to land use change with a dwelling on a rural-
residential-lot disconnected from agriculture, where there is greater value in 
maintaining the property as a whole entity and protecting the agricultural value 
of the land.

• The short-term benefits of the rural-residential subdivision do not outweigh the 
impacts through land use change, conflict and restriction on the continuation 
and growth of agricultural uses.

• The subdivision creates a balance lot greater than 40ha where the use of land 
for a dwelling will be as of right, increasing the potential for future dwellings 
and further eroding its agricultural value and viability into the future. 

• The proposal doesn’t minimise conflict between agricultural and non-
agricultural land uses in rural areas and does not address the long-term 
impacts of the subdivision.

• The current and future agricultural use of the land for timber production does 
not warrant or justify the need for subdivision and there is greater planning 
benefit in retaining the dwelling on the land for long-term connection with 
agriculture.

• There is no guarantee that the introduction of new residents on the excised lot 
will not adversely impact or restrict the ability to use the land for agriculture.
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• The subdivision will create an isolated rural-residential use within a productive 
agricultural area which State and local policy seeks to carefully manage and 
protect.

Overall, the application does not provide an appropriate response to the strategic 
direction and policy objectives of the Planning Scheme which seek to prioritise the 
protection of productive agricultural land from incompatible land uses and prevent 
inappropriate urban activities in rural areas which may prejudice the ongoing 
operation of agriculture. 

Local strategic direction in the Municipal Planning Statement (MPS), more 
specifically, discourages subdivision where it has the ability to impact on the ‘right to 
farm’ and create land use conflict.

Council is at a critical stage in considering the future of agriculture in the Shire and 
the protection of productive agricultural land. Progressive decisions to fragment 
farmland can lead to long-term negative cumulative outcomes, restricting the 
continuation and growth of this key industry of local, regional and State significance.

Farming Zone 
The Farming Zone provides land for agricultural uses, retains productive agricultural 
land and ensures that non-agricultural uses such as dwellings do not adversely 
affect farming activities. 
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The application must be considered against the purpose and decision guidelines of 
the zone. The following comments are made with regard to the decision guidelines:

• The application does not adequately justify how the proposed subdivision will 
enhance the agricultural productivity of the subject land by creating an 
isolated rural-residential lot with a high risk of land use conflict and 
incompatibility between land uses.

• The proposal will result in a permanent change of land use, removing the 
dwelling from any association with the farm and ongoing agricultural 
production.

• Future residents are likely to be adversely affected by agricultural activities on 
adjacent and nearby land, by way of noise, smell and the impact of ongoing 
farming operations. Conversely, the residents of the dwelling have the 
potential to restrict future agricultural use of the balance land through reverse-
amenity expectations.

• Rural-residential lots must be located in areas which do not have the potential 
to restrict the continuation of agriculture and are compatible with the current 
and future use of surrounding land. Residential growth and development 
should be directed to existing settlements which have the services and 
facilities to support this use.

• The proposed subdivision creates a balance lot of 66.01ha, where the use of 
the land for a dwelling would be as-of-right and has the potential to increase 
the number of dwellings in the area, further restricting the viability of 
agricultural production. 

• The existing use and possible future development of the land has been 
considered. The land is highly productive and valuable farming land, and 
orderly planning directs that isolated rural-residential lots and potential land 
use conflict should be avoided to preserve the Shire’s agricultural base.



AGENDA - Council Meeting 25 June 2024

  Page 32 | 239

Response to Objections
The key issues raised in the objection and an officer response are provided below:

Objection Officer Response
Does not provide an 
appropriate response to 
housing deficiencies.

Objection supported (in part)
The provision of key worker housing, including for 
rural/farm workers, is of critical importance within 
Corangamite Shire to support the long-term operation 
and growth of the industry.

The subdivision of land will establish an isolated, 
rural-residential dwelling, which is disconnected from 
agriculture, but provides no ongoing certainty that the 
dwelling will provide accommodation for workers in 
agriculture or another relevant sector.

Restrict continued farming 
practices

Objection supported
The creation of a rural-residential lot in a productive 
agricultural area has the potential to prejudice and 
limit the operations and expansion of adjoining and 
nearby agricultural uses. The proposed subdivision is 
not necessary to facilitate the change in the 
agricultural use of the land and will lead to a 
permanent land use change, with the creation of a 
separately disposable rural-residential property. 

Land use conflict Objection supported
Should the subdivision be approved, the dwelling will 
be sold which has the potential to attract residents 
not familiar or aware of agricultural activities. Any 
future residents may consider noise, smell and 
intensive farming operations, including those of 
neighbouring farms, to be unreasonable which 
increases the risk of land use conflict and restriction 
of ongoing agricultural production.

On-site Wastewater 
Management

Objection not supported
Council cannot speculate on potential future 
compliance issues. Should a permit be granted, it 
would be standard to include a permit condition 
requiring evidence that the onsite wastewater 
management system is compliant and if not, the 
system is upgraded before the issue of Statement of 
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Objection Officer Response
Compliance and the registration of the proposed plan 
of subdivision.

Sets a precedent for future 
dwelling excisions, leading 
to land use change.

Objection not supported
Whilst commonly raised, precedence is not a relevant 
planning consideration and each individual 
application must be assessed on its merits. 

However, as mentioned, Council is at a critical stage 
in considering the future of agriculture in the Shire 
and the protection of productive land, where 
progressive decisions to fragment farmland may have 
the potential to lead to long-term, negative cumulative 
outcomes that may impact the viability of the 
agricultural industry.

Contradicts Corangamite 
Planning Scheme

Objection not supported
The proposal complies with the application 
requirements under the Farming zone, in that a 
permit may be granted for the proposed two-lot 
subdivision which seeks to create a small lot for an 
existing dwelling. While a permit may be granted, this 
does not imply that a permit is appropriate and should 
be granted. Council’s decision on the application 
must consider the policy direction and objectives of 
the planning scheme, as outlined in this assessment.

Financial advantage Objection not supported
There is no financial advantage for the applicant over 
other landowners. The requirements of the 
Corangamite Planning Scheme apply to all land and 
landowners and financial considerations are not 
relevant in deciding upon a planning application in 
accordance with the Planning and Environment Act 
1987. A planning decision must be made having 
regard to the policy objectives, relevant planning 
provisions and decision guidelines of the 
Corangamite Planning Scheme.
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Options
Council has the following options: 

1. Issue a Notice of Decision to Refuse to Grant a Permit based on the grounds 
set out within the recommendation. (Recommended option) 

2. Issue a Notice of Decision to Grant a Permit subject to conditions.

Conclusion
The application for a two (2) lot subdivision (excision of dwelling) at 230 Guys Road, 
Cooriemungle, is not supported. The application for the subdivision of land which 
creates a rural-residential lot is inconsistent with local and state planning policy. 

The current and future agricultural use of the land for timber production does not 
warrant or justify the need for subdivision and there is greater planning benefit in 
retaining the dwelling on the land for long-term connection with agriculture or 
maintaining the property as a whole entity. A strategic view must be taken with 
respect to the State significance of the land and agricultural industry within 
Corangamite Shire.

The proposal will result in the fragmentation of agricultural land and creates a rural 
lifestyle property in an established and highly productive farming area which is in 
direct conflict with the purpose of the Farming Zone and the strategic directions and 
policy objectives of the Corangamite Planning Scheme. 

It is recommended that Council issue a Notice of Decision to Refuse to Grant a 
Permit. 
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 RECOMMENDATION - 8.2

That Council having caused notice of Planning Application No. PP2023/175 to 
be given under Section 52 of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 and 
having considered all the matters required under Section 60 of the Planning 
and Environment Act 1987, decides to issue a Notice of Decision to Refuse to 
Grant a Permit under the provisions of the Corangamite Planning Scheme in 
respect of the land known and described as Crown Allotment 134 Parish of 
Cooriejong, 230 Guys Road, Cooriemungle, for a two (2) lot subdivision 
(excision of dwelling), based on the following grounds:

1. The subdivision does not provide an acceptable response to the 
Municipal Planning Strategy Clause 02.03-4 which seeks to avoid 
subdivision of land for dwellings where it has the ability to impact on the 
‘right to farm’ of existing rural properties and create land use conflict. 

2. The subdivision does not provide an acceptable response to the 
Planning Policy Framework Clause 14.01-1S Protection of agricultural 
land. 

3. The subdivision does not provide an acceptable response to the 
Planning Policy Framework Clause 14.01-1L Protection of agricultural 
land. 

4. The subdivision does not provide an acceptable response to the 
purpose and decision guidelines of the Farming Zone. 

5. The subdivision has the potential to lead to land use conflict between 
the rural-residential land use and the ongoing agricultural use of the 
balance farmland. 

6. The subdivision will not result in the proper and orderly planning of the 
area.
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9 Officer's Reports
9.1 Budget 2024-2025

9.1 Budget 2024-2025

Directorate: Corporate and Community Services
Author: Jacqui Thomas, Manager Financial Services
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments:
1. Corangamite Shire Council Budget 2024-2025 [9.1.1 - 66 pages]
2. Under Separate Cover - Public Feedback following the Draft Budget 11 June 

2024 [9.1.2 - 9 pages]
  

Declaration
Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – Jacqui Thomas

In providing this advice to Council as the Manager Financial Services, I have no 
interests to disclose in this report.

Summary
This report is to consider and adopt the 2024-2025 Budget, incorporating the 2024-
2025 Fees and Charges Schedule in accordance with the Local Government Act 
2020 (the Act). The 2024-2025 Budget is attached to this report. The budget aims to 
maintain Council’s stable financial position in a challenging environment and 
includes significant capital works.

Introduction
The budget allocates resources annually to support the Council Plan delivery, 
particularly the strategic initiatives and annual action plan. It aims to meet these 
objectives in the most financially sustainable manner possible whilst continuing to 
provide quality services to all sections of our community.

The 2024-2025 budget for the financial year commencing 1 July 2024, has been 
developed in consultation with the community, Councillors and officers and with 
reference to the long-term financial plan, asset management plans and community 
plans. The budget is a short-term plan which specifies the resources required to fund 
the Council’s services and initiatives over the next 12 months and subsequent three 
financial years.
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Council is operating in a difficult economic climate marked by inflation, rising costs, 
decreasing government grants, and limited contractor and material availability. This 
combination of adverse factors is creating significant pressure on Council's financial 
resources and operational capacity.

In a rate-capped environment, where the Council cannot easily increase rates to 
raise additional revenue, these financial challenges become even more pronounced. 
Rate capping limits Council’s ability to adjust its primary source of income to meet 
rising costs.

Balancing the budget into the future is an increasingly difficult task. It requires 
meticulous financial planning, prudent fiscal management, and strategic decision-
making to ensure essential services are maintained, and statutory obligations are 
met.

• The budget document has been prepared based on the legislative 
requirements contained in the ‘model budget’ as developed by the Local 
Government industry taskforce and issued to all municipalities across Victoria.

In accordance with the Act, the budget includes linkages to the Council Plan 2021-
2025 and details:

• Activities and initiatives to be funded.
• How the activities and initiatives will contribute to achieving the strategic 

objectives.
• The service performance indicators.

Public Exhibition and Submissions
Council resolved at an Ordinary Meeting on May 28, 2024, to release the draft 
budget for public exhibition and public submissions. It was advertised through the 
newspapers, our website and social media with an exhibition period from the 29 May 
2024 to the 10 June 2024.

Community members were invited to complete the public submissions online through 
the Council’s website or via mail. In total seven public submissions were received.
None of the submitters chose to exercise the opportunity to present their submission 
in person or speak to Council on the 11th of June 2024.

Changes to the 2024-2025 Draft Budget 
There have been amendments to the budget following the consideration of the public 
submissions. As indicated at the May Council meeting, Council considered an 
additional project to develop the Camperdown and Terang Structure Plan for 
inclusion in the 2024-2025 Budget.
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Following budget public consultation and feedback, this project has been 
incorporated into Council’s non-recurrent operating budget. It is funded through a 
higher-than-expected increase in Financial Assistance Grants ($210k) and the 
removal of the Unlocking Housing Program ($40k) and an additional allocation to 
Business Assistance Grants ($50k), resulting in a net-zero change to the overall 
budget. 

Details on the consideration of public submissions can be found in the 
Internal/External Consultation section below.

Budget Overview
An operating surplus of $3.87 million has been budgeted with a capital works 
program of $28.57 million which includes the completion of the Port Campbell Town 
Centre Revitalisation project. Key performance indicators include delivery of a year-
end unrestricted working capital ratio of 179.63%. Council’s underlying increase in 
Rates and Charges is 2.75% which is within the State Government set Rate Cap.

The Budget is an essential planning and resource tool produced annually and is vital 
to the ongoing operational and financial viability of Council. It sets out the expected 
income and expenditure of both operational and capital activities for the coming year 
and incorporates Council's rating and borrowing strategies. The Budget also ensures 
the accountability of Council's operations and forms part of the public accountability 
process.

The Budget has been prepared to ensure that Council continues to maintain its 
services and meet the objectives of Council's asset management framework and 
long-term financial plan. The principles of sound financial management require 
Council to deliver recurrent operating surpluses, continue to invest in asset renewal 
and maintain adequate liquidity; the Budget presented delivers these outcomes.
The Budget document details the processes to be undertaken in accordance with the 
Act and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020 (the 
Regulations). As required by the Regulations, the Budget also includes the 
prescribed performance indicators.

2024-2025 Budget Outcomes
Key financial outcomes for the 2024-2025 Budget on a cash basis are as follows:

Project $
Camperdown and Terang Structure plans $300,000
Financial Assistance grants ($210,000)
Corangamite Unlocking Housing Program ($40,000)
Business assistance Grants - additional allocation ($50,000)
Net movement $0
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2023-2024 
Adopted 
Budget

2024-2025  
Budget

2025-2026 
Budget

2026-2027 
Budget

2027-2028  
Budget

Operating expenditure 37,040,135 39,782,973 41,107,396 41,488,457 42,378,748
Capital expenditure 16,994,240 28,573,661 16,414,712 21,315,469 16,823,051
Transfers to reserves 242,500 532,696 343,564 344,453 345,364
Total budget 
commitments

54,276,875 68,889,330 57,865,671 63,148,378 59,547,163

 
Rates and charges income 23,946,837 25,938,412 26,648,372 27,570,832 28,321,602
Rate Cap Increase 3.50% 2.75% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

 
Net operating result 3,790,542 3,868,090 1,981,632 6,859,036 1,891,675
Underlying net operating 
result

0.73% 2.95% (0.17%) 2.28% 2.41%

 
Projected unrestricted 
cash/investment balance

10,527,140 16,000,718 15,159,972 15,121,573 14,981,126

Unrestricted working 
capital ratio

324.07% 179.63% 185.93% 182.03% 177.42%

 
Capital expenditure 16,994,240 28,573,661 16,414,712 21,315,469 16,823,051
Asset renewal/upgrade 
ratio

103.30% 151.50% 94.42% 100.63% 100.65%

Rate Income
Rates and Charges will account for 46% of total Council revenue in 2024-2025. An 
increase in rate income is required to meet Council’s aspirations and community 
expectations for new and existing infrastructure. The budget includes rate increases 
equal to an estimate of CPI over the next four years.

The proposed underlying increase in rates and charges subject to the rate cap for 
2024-2025 is 2.75% year-on-year, with the impact of supplementary rates this 
becomes a 2.89% increase on the 2023-2024 forecast (see table below). The waste 
management charge per eligible household will increase by 5.35% from $411.00 in 
2023-2024 to a proposed $433.00 in 2024-2025. This will increase waste 
management income by 5.76% with the impact of supplementary rates. The increase 
reflects the impact of inflation on the costs associated with the service and includes 
the introduction of a new kerbside glass collection service.

The overall increase in rates and charges including the waste management charge 
and rating agreements will be 3.21% over the 2023-2024 forecast.
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 This is detailed below:

 Type of 
Charge

2023-2024 
Forecast

2024-2025  
Budget Increase Comments

General 
Rates

20,560,095 21,163,015 2.93% Increase in rates in line with 2.75% rate cap 
along with supplementary rates.

Municipal 
Charge

1,878,734 1,924,884 2.46% Increase in rates in line with 2.75% rate cap 
along with supplementary rates.

 22,438,829 23,087,899 2.89%  
Waste 
Management 
Charge

2,317,089 2,450,513 5.76% Direct result of increased charges in relation 
to kerbside waste contracts including the 
introduction of kerbside collection for glass 
and increased state government levy.

Rating 
Agreements

376,000 400,000 6.38% Increase in indexation and a new solar farm 
agreement to begin in 2024-2025.

TOTAL 25,131,918 25,938,412 3.21%  

Council is responsible for collecting the Victorian State Government Fire Services 
Property Levy. The levy appears on rate notices as a separate charge. Council does 
not derive any benefit and is required to remit amounts collected to the State 
Revenue Office quarterly. Council is also responsible for collecting the Landfill Levy 
on behalf of the State Government.

Differential Rates
Section 4.1 of the Budget includes details on the differential rates contained within 
the Revenue and Rating Plan. The differential rates include a reduction in the Farm 
Rate from 87.50% to 87% and increase in vacant industrial land from 142.50% to 
150% in accordance with the adopted Revenue and Rating Plan.

User Fees and Charges
User fees and charges are projected to increase by 10.71% or $0.78 million to $8.09 
million. This is mainly due to an increase in volumes at the Landfill ($0.48 million), 
Mobile Childcare occupancy ($0.24 million) and general CPI increases which are 
partly offset by the change in treatment for free kindergartens ($0.49 million) which 
has moved to operating grants.

All user fees have been set with a view to minimise Council subsidy where possible 
and to provide equity across user group

Operating Expenditure
The council's total expenditure forecast on an accounting basis for 2024-2025 is 
$53.13 million. After excluding $13.33 million in non-cash transactions, such as 
depreciation and amortisation, the budgeted operating expenditure for 2024-2025 
will be $39.80 million on a cash basis.
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This represents an increase of $2.53 million, or 6.84% over the 2023-2024 adopted 
budget.

The recurrent expenditure is anticipated to increase by $1.29 million which relates to 
additional landfill costs due to higher volumes ($0.54 million), election year costs 
($0.25 million), the management contract for swimming pools ($0.28 million) and 
general CPI increases.

The non-recurrent expenditure is budgeted to increase by $1.26 million and largely 
relates to a number of one-off operating initiatives and community projects to be 
applied for and funded by respective grant programs which will result in a council 
contribution if successful.

Major Operating Budget Initiatives
Some major budget initiatives included in the 2024-2025 budget include:

Project Amount
Council Grants Programs          $415,000
Camperdown and Terang Structure Plans           $300,000
Grow and Prosper Events delivery           $200,000
Lower Curdies Flood Study            $200,000
Digitisation of Building and Planning Permits           $100,000
Climate Change Strategy Implementation            $40,000

Capital Expenditure
The total capital works program will be $28.57 million, of which $23.79 million will 
come from Council operations, $4.55 million from external grants and the balance 
from contributions and proceeds of sale on plant and equipment. Details are 
provided in Section 4.2.2 of the attached Budget document. Council will continue to 
heavily invest in its road network through capital renewal, which is also 
supplemented by programmed maintenance.

The 2024-2025 Capital works program includes: 
• Completion of the multi-year Port Campbell Town Centre Revitalisation 

Project ($11 million) 
• Roads ($8.30 million) – including rehabilitation, strategic local road upgrades, 

resheeting and resealing. Excluding Port Campbell Town Centre 
Revitalisation Project listed separately.

• Waste Management ($2.99 million) – including investment in the Naroghid 
landfill site to accommodate for the increased volumes, renewal of buildings at 
the Skipton and Port Campbell transfer stations and a Composting system 
trial.
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• Buildings ($1.09 million) including floor replacement at Terang Hall and 
Timboon stadium, library façade and furniture refresh and solar battery power 
project at Council’s landfill.

• Plant and Equipment ($3.66 million) including significant investments of a 
compactor at landfill, a replacement jet patcher for road maintenance, street 
sweeper and ongoing cyclical replacement of the plant vehicle fleet.

A substantial proportion of the capital works program is based on existing asset 
management plans. Other projects have been included to take advantage of external 
funding opportunities and to deliver community planning outcomes. 

The Council's asset renewal ratio for 2024-2025 is projected to be 151.5% against a 
long-term target of 100%. The Council's four-year budget forecasts an average 
annual renewal ratio of over 100% with the 2025-2026 budget lower than target due 
to a large purchase of plant and equipment being bought forward into the year 2024-
2025.

The 2024-2025 budget is also anticipating the completion of a major project, the Port 
Campbell Town Centre Revitalisation Project which was scheduled to be completed 
over multiple years.

Borrowings
The Budget provides for no new borrowings in the 2024-2025 financial year.

Reserve Transfers
Defined Benefit Fund 
It is anticipated there will be future calls on Council for the Defined Benefit Fund. The 
Council decided in the 2014-2015 Budget to allocate $400,000 to a “cash backed” 
reserve each year until sufficient provision has been made for a future call. The 
projected reserve balance as of 30 June 2025 will be $1.74 million. No additional 
reserve transfers are proposed in the budget, the reserve will be increased by a 
nominal interest amount to preserve the balance. 

Landfill Restoration 
The Naroghid landfill previously had an estimated remaining life of greater than 50 
years, however, due to an increase in the annual volumes the estimated remaining 
life is expected to be reduced to less than 30 years. The current net present value 
estimate for restoration and monitoring is $3 million. The draft budget includes an 
increased amount of $240,000 (previously $120,000) transfer to the landfill 
restoration reserve to take account of the reduced remaining life. This additional 
allocation will create a reserve of $1.37 million as at 30 June 2025.
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Future Large-Scale Projects 
A new reserve was created in 2018-2019 to hold funds required for future large-scale 
projects which have been identified by the Council. The project reserve balance is 
expected to be $1.165 million as at 30 June 2025.

Statutory Disclosures
The 2023-2024 Budget includes the disclosure requirements of the Local 
Government Act 2020 and the Local Government (Finance and Reporting) 
Regulations 2020. The required statutory information pertaining to Rates and 
Charges is detailed within Section 4.1.1.

Integrated Strategic Planning
The budget has been prepared in accordance with the: 

• Council Plan
• Revenue and Rating Plan
• Asset Plan
• Financial Plan

Changes to these documents may require amendments to the budget.

Policy and Legislative Context
Council is required under the Act to adopt the Budget by 30 June 2024. Council is 
required to undertake community engagement as part of the process. The Budget is 
Council’s annual financial strategic document and is in keeping with the 
commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025: 

Theme Five - Community Leadership
Having strong governance practices
Ensuring that we maintain our strong financial position
We listen to and engage with our community
Council promotes best value and value for money for its ratepayers

Internal / External Consultation
Council is required to undertake community engagement in accordance with the 
Corangamite Shire Community Engagement Policy (2021) as instructed under the 
Act. 
The 2024-2025 Budget has sought and proposes additional community input as 

follows: 

• Pre budget submission were requested via the website in December 2023.
• The submissions were collated into themes and presented to Council during a 

briefing session to help inform the 2024-2025 budget process.
• Submissions and business cases were collated and evaluated by a panel of 

senior officers to provide Councillors with a ranked list of new initiatives for 
consideration.
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• Councillors participated in budget workshops with officers to review budget 
documentation including submissions and provide direction. 

• Draft Budget was prepared by officers. 
• Draft Budget will be made available on Council's website following the May 

Council meeting for a period of 14 days calling for public feedback. 
• Community engagement through local news outlets and social media. 
• Following community engagement, Council's Budget will be updated with any 

changes in consultation with Councillors. 
• Draft Budget (with any revisions) presented to June Council meeting for 

adoption.

Below is a summary of the submissions received for the draft budget that were 
considered by the Councillors and officers. Council received 7 responses in total, 
which was an increase from 5 in the previous year. Below is a summary of themes 
that the responses touched on:
(note 1 submission may have had multiple themes)

Theme 
Number of Budget Submissions 
mentioning this theme

Camperdown Theatre 1
Council Management 2
Footpaths / Walking 
trails 1
Port Campbell 2
Roads 4
Total Submissions 10

Financial and Resource Implications
The Budget has been prepared in accordance with the direction provided by Council 
and in accordance with Council's Long-Term Financial Plan. The Budget has been 
prepared within the following parameters: 

• A 2.93% increase in rates and charges which results from a 2.75% increase 
to capped rates (including municipal charge) and 5.35% increase in the waste 
management charge. 

• An operating surplus of $3.87 million. 
• A capital works program of $28.57 million. 
• An unrestricted working capital ratio of 180% to maintain a solid liquidity buffer 

for Council to meet short-term obligations. 
• Capital budgets have been prepared in accordance with good asset 

management principles. 
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Contained within the 2024-2025 Budget document is: 
• Detailed information on project initiatives, staffing and resources.
• Detailed capital works program including proposed future capital expenditure 

(Section 4.2).2024-2025 Fees and Charge Schedule

Options
Council may choose to either: 

1. Adopt the 2024-2025 Budget, incorporating the 2024-2025 Fees and Charges 
Schedule, as attached without amendment, or 

2. Adopt the 2024-2025 Budget, incorporating the 2023-2024 Fees and Charges 
Schedule, as attached with amendments. If amendments are proposed that 
result in additional cost, Council should consider alternate savings.

Conclusions
The 2024-2025 budget maintains Council’s stable financial position with a  
commitment to maintaining services, complemented by a significant capital works 
program. 

The 2024-2025 budget presented to Council is balanced and has regard to the key 
indicators that reflect Council’s financial sustainability. The attached Budget has 
been prepared in accordance with the best practice “model budget”.
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 RECOMMENDATION - 9.1

That Council:
1. Adopts the Budget as presented.
2. Adopts the following determinations on the rates and charges and other 

matters for the 2024-2025 financial year:
a. That an amount of $ 25,938,412 be declared as the amount which 

Council intends to be raised by rates and charges for 2024-2025, 
calculated as follows:
Residential
(100% of general rate)  $ 6,146,865
Commercial 
(100% of general rate)  $ 537,641
Industrial 
(100% of general rate)  $ 1,536,002
Farm 
(87% of general rate) $ 12,910,048
Vacant Industrial Land 
(150% of general rate)  $ 27,129
Recreation and Cultural 
(50% of general rate)  $5,330
Municipal Charge $ 1,924,884
Waste Management Charge $ 2,450,513
Rating Agreements  $ 400,000
Total Amounts to be Raised $ 25,938,412

     
GENERAL RATES

b. General rates be declared for the period commencing on 1 July 
2023 and concluding 30 June 2024.

i. It be further declared that general rate income be raised by 
the application of a general rate being 0.229229 cents in the 
dollar.

ii. It be confirmed that the general rate for all rateable land 
within the Corangamite Shire be determined by multiplying 
the Capital Improved Value of rateable land by the rate in 
the dollar.
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DIFFERENTIAL RATES
c. That differential cents in the dollar of CIV be declared for different 

classes of property.

Residential 0.229229 
Commercial 0.229229
Industrial 0.229229
Farm 0.199429
Vacant Industrial Land 0.343844
Recreation and Cultural Land 0.114615 

MUNICIPAL CHARGE
d. A Municipal Charge be declared for the period commencing on 1 

July 2024 and concluding on 30 June 2025.
i. The Municipal Charge be declared for the purpose of 

covering some of the administrative costs of Council.
ii. The Municipal Charge be fixed at $222.35 for each rateable 

land (or part) in respect of which a Municipal Charge may 
be levied.

ANNUAL SERVICE CHARGE
e. Annual service charge be declared for the period commencing on 

1 July 2024 and concluding on 30 June 2025.
i. That this charge be referred to as the Waste Management 

Charge.
ii. Waste Management Charge covers kerbside waste 

collection and disposal where available, public education 
programs and costs associated with contract 
administration and dealing with customer service inquires. 
“Kerbside waste” includes general waste, green waste 
(including organics), recyclables and glass.

iii. That the Annual Service Charge be based on $433.00 per 
eligible assessment.

iv.
CONSEQUENTIAL

f. The Rate Revenue Coordinator be authorised to levy and recover 
the general rates, the municipal charges and annual service 
charges described in this resolution.
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INTEREST RATE
g. In accordance with Section 172 of the Local Government Act 1989 

requires any person to pay interest on any amounts of rates and 
charges which:

i. That person is liable to pay.
ii. Have not been paid by the date specified for their payment.
iii. The interest rate is to be calculated at or below the rate 

fixed by the Minister under Section 172A(1).
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Disclaimer

 

 

The model budget, including financial statements, has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 

Local Government Act 2020  and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020 . While every 

effort has been made to ensure that the information contained in this document has been accurate and complies 

with relevant Victorian legislation, each Council remains responsible to ensure that the budget they prepare is 

compliant with all statutory requirements. 

The information contained in this document is for general guidance only. It is not professional advice and should 

not be used, relied upon or treated as a substitute for specific professional advice. Given the changing nature of 

laws, rules and regulations, and the inherent hazards of electronic communication, there may be delays, 

omissions or inaccuracies in information contained in this document.
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Mayor and CEO's Introduction

Corangamite Shire Council is pleased to release the Council Budget 2024-2025. The budget builds on our Council Plan 2021-

2025 which focuses on the following five strategic themes:

       •   Connected Community

       •   Thriving Community

       •    Healthy, Active and Resilient Community   

       •    Improving Our Environment 

       •    Community Leadership

The Council Plan 2021-2025 sets out our strategy to deliver our vision over the full term of the Council and assists to support 

the Corangamite Vision 2040. 

The budget details the resources required over the next year to fund the large range of services we provide to the 

community. It also includes details of capital expenditure allocations to improve and renew our Shire’s physical infrastructure, 

buildings and operational assets and funding proposals for a range of operating projects.

The budget includes a rate increase of 2.75% in line with the State Government’s rate capping framework. The waste 

management charge per eligible household will increase by 5.35% reflecting increases in State Government levies, CPI 

forecasts and the introduction of a new kerbside glass collection service.

Notwithstanding the rate increase, Council’s ability to fund the required capital expenditure program and existing service 

levels is constrained by upward pressure on costs. Despite this, the budget includes a range of new initiatives that will be of 

benefit to the community whilst ensuring Council’s financial position remains stable. . 

In this budget Council has continued its steady investment in capital projects. We have allocated funding of $28.57 million for 

renewals, asset upgrades and new assets. The capital program includes:

      • Roads (15.22 million) – including rehabilitation, strategic local road upgrades, resheeting, resealing and upgrades via 

the Port Campbell Town Centre Revitalisation project.

      • Plant and Equipment ($3.548 million) including ongoing cyclical replacement of the plant vehicle fleet and purchase of 

new compactor for Landfill. 

      • Waste Management ($2.989 million) – including investment in the Naroghid landfill site to accommodate for the 

     •  Buildings ($0.930 million) including ongoing maintenance of Council owned buildings, public toilets, swimming pools, 

depots, libraries and universal access to council buildings. 

We have also allocated funding to continue existing community grants programs including:

      • Ready Now Grants $25,000

      • Community Grants Funding $50,000

      • Enabling Grants program $20,000

      • Small Business Assistance Program $90,000

      • Business Façade Improvement Program $50,000

      • Facility Grants $50,000

      • Facility Design Grants $30,000

      • Environment Support Grants $50,000

      • Events & Festivals Funding $50,000

The budget was developed through a rigorous process of consultation and review and Council endorses it as financially 

responsible. You are encouraged to read the remainder of this document, in conjunction with our Council Plan 2021-2025 

and the Corangamite Community Vision 2040. 
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This section describes how the Budget links to the achievement of the Community Vision and

Council Plan within an overall integrated strategic planning and reporting framework. This framework

guides the Council in identifying community needs and aspirations over the long term (Community

Vision and Financial Plan), medium term (Council Plan, Workforce Plan, and Revenue and Rating

Plan) and short term ( Budget) and then holding itself accountable (Annual Report).

The Budget is a rolling four-year plan that outlines the financial and non-financial resources that

Council requires to achieve the strategic objectives described in the Council Plan. The diagram

below depicts the integrated strategic planning and reporting framework that applies to local

government in Victoria. At each stage of the integrated strategic planning and reporting framework

there are opportunities for community and stakeholder input. This is important to ensure

transparency and accountability to both residents and ratepayers. 

The timing of each component of the integrated strategic planning and reporting framework is critical 

to the successful achievement of the planned outcomes.

Source: Department of Jobs, Precincts and Regions

1.1  Legislative planning and accountability framework
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Service level planning

Strategic 

Objective
Description

1. Connected 

Community

Connections are vital to rural communities such as Corangamite. We need to

make sure that residents have good digital and mobile phone coverage, and that

roads and transport options that allow them to get around and do business.

2. Thriving 

Community

Corangamite has great communities, and we want to make sure they are

economically and socially vibrant.   

3. Healthy, Active 

and Resilient 

Community

Council needs to support communities and individuals to be healthy, active and

resilient.

4. Improving Our 

Environment

Corangamite has amazing natural environments that underpin our tourism and

agriculture sectors. We need to work with our community to improve the

environment.

5. Community 

Leadership

Council plays an important leadership role. To be successful we need to ensure

that Council is ethical, has a strong financial position and great staff.  

1.3  Strategic objectives

Council delivers activities and initiatives under various service categories. Each contributes to the

achievement of one of the five Strategic Themes as set out in the Council Plan. The following table

lists the five Strategic Themes as described in the Council Plan.

Corangamite Shire will display the following behaviours in the way we conduct business

•	Teamwork

•	Integrity

We strive for a connected and thriving community.

We will foster opportunities, celebrate our identity and lifestyle, provide high quality and responsive 

Our Mission

Our Values

Our Vision

1.2 Our purpose

1.1.2  Key planning considerations

Although councils have a legal obligation to provide some services— such as animal management, 

local roads, food safety and statutory planning—most  council services are not legally mandated, 

including some services closely  associated with councils, such as libraries, building permits and 

sporting facilities.  Further, over time, the needs and expectations of communities can change. 

Therefore councils need to have robust  processes for service planning and review to ensure all 

services continue to provide value for money and are in line with community expectations. In doing 

so, councils should engage with communities to determine how to prioritise resources and balance 

service provision against other responsibilities such as asset maintenance and capital works.  

Community consultation needs to be in line with a councils adopted Community Engagement Policy 

and Public Transparency Policy.
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This section provides a description of the services and initiatives to be funded in the Budget for the 2024-2025

year and how these will contribute to achieving the strategic objectives outlined in the Council Plan. It also

describes several initiatives and service performance outcome indicators for key areas of Council’s

operations. Council is required by legislation to identify major initiatives, initiatives and service performance

outcome indicators in the Budget and report against them in their Annual Report to support transparency and

accountability. The relationship between these accountability requirements in the Council Plan, the Budget

and the Annual Report is shown below.

Source: Department of Jobs, Precincts and Regions

1.3  Strategic objectives
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Services

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Income                        -                    -                   -   

Expense                 (3,978)           (4,085)          (4,218)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                 (3,978)           (4,085)          (4,218)

Income                  2,767            3,821                 -   

Expense                 (3,421)           (1,448)          (1,788)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                    (654)            2,373          (1,788)

Income                     191               113              199 

Expense                 (2,454)           (2,000)          (1,868)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                 (2,263)           (1,886)          (1,669)

2.1  Strategic Objective 1: Connected Community

Roads

This area undertakes regular maintenance 

on Council roads and drainage and will 

oversee and deliver the capital program for 

roads and drainage.

Asset Management 

This service undertakes design, supervision 

and planning for Council's road 

infrastructure assets. It also provides 

support and advice on engineering related 

activities for Council services and private 

development services.

Works

Works includes operational maintenance 

activities to maintain Council's extensive 

road network activities. It includes street 

tree maintenance as well as depot 

operations.

Connections are vital to rural communities such as Corangamite. We need to make sure that residents have good digital and mobile

phone coverage, and that roads and transport options that allow them to get around and do business.

Service area
Description of 

services provided
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2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Income                        -                    -                   -   

Expense                    (228)              (433)             (244)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                    (228)              (433)             (244)

Income                     173                 51                40 

Expense                    (138)                (38)              (39)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                       35                 14                  0 

Income                     205               287              481 

Expense                  1,233            1,105           1,361 

Net (Cost)/Surplus                  1,438            1,392           1,842 

Income                     206               191              184 

Expense                    (631)              (643)             (661)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                    (424)              (451)             (477)

Net Cost (6,075) (3,077) (6,554)

Works & Services 

Management

This service provides the management, 

administration and supervisory support for 

Council roads, parks and gardens and fleet 

operations. It also manages our internal 

works unit in implementation of major capital 

and operational works.

Service area
Description of 

services provided

Private Works

This service is to provide the management 

and operational support for private works 

carried out by Council under contract or 

quote.

Plant

This service purchases and maintains 

Council's light and heavy plant fleet to meet 

functional requirements and safety needs.

Libraries

This service provides through our public 

libraries a welcoming space that develops 

strong and connected communities, 

supports a culture of reading and improves 

quality of life.
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Major Initiatives

Other Initiatives

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Actual Forecast Budget

Roads Condition Sealed local roads 

below the intervention 

level (percentage of 

sealed local roads that 

are below the renewal 

intervention level set 

by Council and not 

requiring renewal)

[Number of 

kilometres of 

sealed local roads 

below the renewal 

intervention level 

set by Council / 

Kilometres of 

sealed local roads] 

x100

99.02% 99.02% 99.02%

Libraries Participation Library membership  

(Percentage of the 

population that are 

registered library 

members)

[Number of 

registered library 

members / 

Population] x100
N/A 10.00% 12.00%

3)        Upgrade the facades and furniture at Council Libraries

4)        Upgrade sporting facilities through the Sport and Recreation Victoria (SRV) grant program

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Service Indicator

* refer to table at end of section 2.2 for information on the calculation of Service Performance Outcome Indicators

1)        Build new footpath on Park Lane from Bowen St to Caravan Park

2)        Construct new pathways within Tandarook Park as part of masterplan implementation
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Services

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Income                     195                 20                10 
Expense                 (1,035)           (1,274)             (916)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                    (840)           (1,254)             (956)

Income                       99                 84              100 

Expense                    (472)              (530)             (484)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                    (373)              (446)             (384)

Income                  4,015            4,108           4,429 

Expense                 (4,391)           (4,764)          (4,868)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                    (375)              (656)             (439)

Income                       62                 75                75 

Expense                    (140)              (256)             (171)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                      (78)              (181)              (96)

Service area
Description of 

services provided

Tourism

Provision of tourist information services at 

Port Campbell and management of 

information centres and  includes 

contributions to the Regional Tourism 

Board.

Children's Services

Provides for management and operation of 

Council's maternal and child health, family 

day care, mobile childcare, Kindergartens 

and preschools.

Youth Services

Youth services provides management and 

operation of Council's youth services, 

including Youth Council and Freeza funding.

Economy and 

Prosperity

Economic Development develops and 

manages projects to support the business 

and growth sector.

2.2  Strategic Objective 2: Thriving Community

Corangamite has great communities and we want to make sure they are economically and socially vibrant.
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2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Income                  1,301               752              652 

Expense                 (1,973)           (4,734)          (1,408)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                    (672)           (3,981)             (756)

Income                        -                    -                   -   

Expense                    (234)              (229)             (243)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                    (234)              (229)             (243)

Building and Planning

Statutory Building and Planning provides 

management and administration of Council's 

planning scheme and building services, 

including processing of permits, 

enforcement and representation at appeals. 

Strategic Planning provides management 

and support services for strategic town 

planning initiatives and heritage functions. It 

includes the undertaking of strategic studies 

and research in the review and update of 

the Corangamite Planning Scheme.

Sustainable 

Development 

Management

Sustainable Development Management 

provides executive support and strategy 

development services for Council's 

development units and includes the Director 

of Sustainable Development.

Service area
Description of 

services provided
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2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Income                     178               749              264 

Expense                 (1,656)           (2,871)          (1,786)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                 (1,478)           (2,122)          (1,522)

Net Cost (4,050) (8,870) (4,396)

Major Initiatives

Other Initiatives

Community Relations

Community Relations provides the initial 

contact with our citizens and supports 

internal customers through the provision of 

customer service. It also provides media, 

marketing and communications services 

internally and externally in addition to 

overseeing community planning and 

engagement commitments. This area also 

provides funding for Council's cultural 

programs and activities and develops plans 

and strategies to facilitate cultural practices.

Service area
Description of 

services provided

3)        Implement Population Growth and Retention Action plan as part of Grow and Prosper Framework

4)        Implement the Creative Industries action plan

1)        Complete the Port Campbell Town Centre Revitalisation Project 
2)        Complete development of the Family & Children’s Services Early Years 2024-2034 Plan and commence implementation
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2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Actual Forecast Budget

Statutory planning Service standard Planning applications 

decided within 

required timeframes 

(percentage of regular 

and VicSmart planning 

application decisions 

made within legislated 

timeframes)

[Number of 

planning 

application 

decisions made 

within 60 days for 

regular permits and 

10 days for 

VicSmart permits / 

Number of 

planning 

application 

decisions made] 

x100

63.05% 65.00% 65.00%

Maternal and Child 

Health

Participation Participation in the 

MCH service.  

(Percentage of 

children enrolled who 

participate in the MCH 

service)

[Number of 

children who attend 

the MCH service at 

least once (in the 

financial year) / 

Number of children 

enrolled in the 

MCH service] x100

85.83% 88.00% 88.00%

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Service Indicator
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2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Actual Forecast Budget

Participation in the 

MCH service by 

Aboriginal children.  

(Percentage of 

Aboriginal children 

enrolled who 

participate in the MCH 

service)

[Number of 

Aboriginal children 

who attend the 

MCH service at 

least once (in the 

financial year) / 

Number of 

Aboriginal children 

enrolled in the 

93.33% 100.00% 100.00%

Services

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Income                  2,060                   3                  3 

Expense                 (2,528)              (306)             (247)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                    (468)              (303)             (244)

Income                         2                 50              213 

Expense                    (403)              (499)             (649)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                    (401)              (449)             (437)

* refer to table at end of section 2.2 for information on the calculation of Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Council needs to support communities and individuals to be healthy, active and resilient.

Service area Description of services provided

2.3  Strategic Objective 3: Healthy, Active and Resilient Community

Service Indicator

Access and Inclusion

The Positive Ageing & Inclusion Program 

assists seniors and vulnerable people 

access services including the My Aged Care 

system, linking in with agencies, social 

services and community participation 

opportunities. Assistance is also provided 

with food relief, carer support and delivery of 

Council’s Disability Access & Inclusion Plan 

2021-2025

Community Services 

Management

Community Services Management provides 

the management and administration of 

Council's community services.  It also 

includes various strategic projects.
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2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Income                     303               788           1,889 

Expense                 (2,588)           (3,673)          (4,540)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                 (2,285)           (2,885)          (2,651)

Income                       54                 28                45 

Expense                      (57)                (55)              (68)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                        (2)                (27)              (24)

Income                       69               280              116 

Expense                 (3,133)           (3,614)          (2,910)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                 (3,064)           (3,334)          (2,794)

Net Cost (6,220) (6,998) (6,149)

Major Initiatives

Other Initiatives

Immunisation

Councils Immunisation Program

Service area Description of services provided

Recreation and Facility 

management and 

administration

This service provides the management 

support and co-ordination resources for 

recreation and facility management 

including libraries and swimming pools.

Recreation Programs provides varied 

ongoing programs to support recreation 

pursuits in the Shire.  It includes support 

provided to community groups for recreation 

programs and projects.

Building and Facilities

Building and facilities maintenance provides 

the long term maintenance management 

programs and operation of Council's 

property assets.  It also provides specific 

programs and projects to support 

community managed facilities.

1)        Implement all access parking improvements program in townships through streetscape upgrades

2)        Complete multi year data collection for Shire-wide flood study.

3)        Continue to promote 72 hour resilience programs and work with three towns to develop improved emergency planning

4)        Purchase new equipment for Young Active Kids (YAK) program
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2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Actual Forecast Budget

Aquatic Facilities Utilisation Utilisation of aquatic 

facilities.  (Number of 

visits to aquatic 

facilities per head of 

Number of visits to 

aquatic facilities / 

Population
2.05 2.00 2.00

Services

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Income                     201               396              122 

Expense                    (980)           (1,415)             (895)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                    (779)           (1,019)             (773)

Income                     149               148              131 

Expense                    (234)              (369)             (261)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                      (84)              (221)             (130)

Service Indicator
Performance 

Measure
Computation

* refer to table in section 2.6 for information on the calculation of Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Environmental Health

Provides management and operations of 

environmental health services, including 

septic tank permits, and registration of 

premises.

2.4  Strategic Objective 4: Improving our Environment

Corangamite has amazing natural environments that underpin our tourism and agriculture sectors.  We need to work with our community to improve the environment. 

Service area Description of services provided

Environment

This service provides the management and 

support for Council's environmental 

initiatives, including management and 

funding of projects and Camperdown's 

Elms.
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2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Income                     281               293              444 

Expense                 (1,355)           (1,871)          (1,756)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                 (1,074)           (1,578)          (1,312)

Income                  4,831            4,774           5,202 

Expense                 (4,468)           (4,498)          (4,761)

Net Cost                     363               276              441 

Net Cost (1,575) (2,541) (1,774)

Major Initiatives

Other Initiatives

Emergency 

Management and 

Local Laws

Provides operation and administration of 

emergency management, fire protection and 

animal regulation and local laws.  It also 

includes staff for school crossing 

supervision.

Waste Management 

The waste management area provides the 

management and operations for Council's 

kerbside collection services, transfer 

stations and the Corangamite Regional 

Landfill.  It also provides funding for waste 

Service area Description of services provided

1)        Implement stage 1 actions of the Environment and Sustainability Strategy

2)        Install behind the meter solar and battery systems for Council's highest energy use sites

3)        Complete the Council Climate Change Strategy and Emissions Reduction Plan

4)        Implement energy and water saving improvements at Council facilities
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2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Actual Forecast Budget

Waste management Waste diversion Kerbside collection 

waste diverted from 

landfill.  (Percentage 

of recyclables and 

green organics 

collected from 

kerbside bins that is 

diverted from landfill)

[Weight of 

recyclables and 

green organics 

collected from 

kerbside bins / 

Weight of garbage, 

recyclables and 

green organics 

collected from 

kerbside bins] x100

61.07% 60.00% 60.00%

Animal Management Health and safety Animal management 

prosecutions.  

(Percentage of animal 

management 

prosecutions which are 

successful)

Number of 

successful animal 

management 

prosecutions / 

Total number of 

animal 

management 

prosecutions

100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Service Indicator
Performance 

Measure
Computation
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2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Actual Forecast Budget

Food safety Health and safety Critical and major non-

compliance outcome 

notifications.  

(Percentage of critical 

and major non-

compliance outcome 

notifications that are 

followed up by 

Council)

[Number of critical 

non-compliance 

outcome 

notifications and 

major non-

compliance 

outcome 

notifications about 

a food premises 

followed up / 

Number of critical 

non-compliance 

outcome 

notifications and 

major non-

compliance 

outcome 

notifications about 

food premises] 

x100

100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Service Indicator
Performance 

Measure
Computation

* refer to table in section 2.6 for information on the calculation of Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Corangamite Shire Budget 2024-2025 Page 18 of 65Attachment: 9.1.1 Corangamite Shire Council Budget 2024-2025
Page 67 |

239



Services

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Income                       79                  -                   -   

Expense                 (1,112)           (1,146)          (1,492)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                 (1,034)           (1,146)          (1,492)

Income                  3,193            1,006           1,529 

Expense                    (547)              (110)             (201)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                  2,647               896           1,328 

Income                     164                  -                  51 

Expense                    (905)           (1,089)             (393)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                    (741)           (1,089)             (342)Corporate and 

Community Services 

Management

Community Services Management provides 

the management and administration of 

Council's community services.  It also 

includes various strategic projects.

2.5  Strategic Objective 5: Community Leadership

Council plays an important leadership role. To be successful we need to ensure that Council is ethical, has a strong financial position 

Service area Description of services provided

Governance

The area of governance provides direct 

administrative support to councillors and 

includes the Chief Executive Officer and 

support staff.  It includes organisational 

marketing and publications, such as the 

Council Plan.  This service also provides for 

support to the Great South Coast 

Municipalities Group.

Corporate Services

Finance provides all the financial support for 

Council including rating, investment 

management, payroll, creditors and 

procurement. 
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2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Income                     125                 11                 -   

Expense                 (1,583)           (1,804)          (1,947)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                 (1,458)           (1,793)          (1,947)

Income                       38                 96                99 

Expense                 (1,393)           (2,293)          (2,242)

Net (Cost)/Surplus                 (1,355)           (2,197)          (2,143)

Net Cost (1,940) (5,330) (4,597)

Major Initiatives

Other Initiatives

Service area Description of services provided

1)        Complete the Coastal Connect shared service project.
2)        Review and update the 2040 Corangamite Community Vision.

3)        Continue implementing the Aboriginal Participation and Engagement Action Plan
4)        Complete all requirements of Local Government Act following Council election in 2024

Human Resources & 

Risk

Human Resources provides all the support 

services in relation to recruitment, training 

and enterprise bargaining.  It also includes 

Risk Management services which manages 

workplace compliance, OH&S and supports 

the organisation in protection from loss and 

damage.

Information Systems

Information Services provides all IT support 

and licensing for Council's operation.  It also 

includes operation of and support for 

Council's telephone, mobile and internet 

communication.
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2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Actual Forecast Budget

Governance Consultation and 

engagement

Satisfaction with 

community 

consultation and 

engagement.  

(Community 

satisfaction rating out 

of 100 with the 

consultation and 

engagement efforts of 

Council)

Community 

satisfaction rating 

out of 100 with how 

Council has 

performed on 

community 

consultation and 

engagement

62.00% 62.00% 62.00%

* refer to table in section 2.6 for information on the calculation of Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Service Indicator
Performance 

Measure
Computation
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Service Indicator

Governance Consultation and 

engagement

Statutory planning Service standard

Roads Condition

Libraries Participation [Number of registered library members / 

Population] x100

Computation

Sealed local roads below the intervention 

level (percentage of sealed local roads that 

are below the renewal intervention level set 

by Council and not requiring renewal)

Library membership  (Percentage of the 

population that are registered library 

members)

Performance Measure

Satisfaction with community consultation 

and engagement.  (Community satisfaction 

rating out of 100 with the consultation and 

engagement efforts of Council)

Planning applications decided within 

required timeframes (percentage of regular 

and VicSmart planning application 

decisions made within legislated 

timeframes)

2.6 Service Performance Outcome Indicators

The service performance indicators detailed in the preceding pages will be reported on in the Performance Statement which is prepared 

at the end of the year as required by Section 132 of the Act and included in the 2024-2025 Annual Report. The Performance Statement 

will also include reporting on prescribed indicators of financial performance (outlined in Section 5) and sustainable capacity, which are 

not included in this budget report.  The prescribed performance indicators contained in the Performance Statement are audited each 

year by the Victorian Auditor General who issues an audit opinion on the Performance Statement.  The major initiatives detailed in the 

preceding pages will be reported in the Annual Report in the form of a statement of progress in the Report of Operations.  

Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with 

how Council has performed on community 

consultation and engagement

[Number of planning application decisions 

made within 60 days for regular permits and 

10 days for VicSmart permits / Number of 

planning application decisions made] x100

[Number of kilometres of sealed local roads 

below the renewal intervention level set by 

Council / Kilometres of sealed local roads] 

x100
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Service Indicator

Waste management Waste diversion

Aquatic Facilities Utilisation

Animal Management Health and safety

Food safety Health and safety

Maternal and Child 

Health

Participation

Performance Measure Computation

[Weight of recyclables and green organics 

collected from kerbside bins / Weight of 

garbage, recyclables and green organics 

collected from kerbside bins] x100

Number of visits to aquatic facilities / 

Population

Number of successful animal management 

prosecutions / Total number of animal 

management prosecutions

[Number of critical non-compliance outcome 

notifications and major non-compliance 

outcome notifications about a food premises 

followed up / Number of critical non-

compliance outcome notifications and major 

non-compliance outcome notifications about 

food premises] x100

[Number of children who attend the MCH 

service at least once (in the financial year) / 

Number of children enrolled in the MCH 

service] x100

[Number of Aboriginal children who attend the 

MCH service at least once (in the financial 

year) / Number of Aboriginal children enrolled 

in the MCH service] x100

Participation in the MCH service.  

(Percentage of children enrolled who 

participate in the MCH service)

Participation in the MCH service by 

Aboriginal children.  (Percentage of 

Aboriginal children enrolled who participate 

in the MCH service)

Utilisation of aquatic facilities.  (Number of 

visits to aquatic facilities per head of 

population)

Animal management prosecutions.  

(Percentage of animal management 

prosecutions which are successful)

Critical and major non-compliance outcome 

notifications.  (Percentage of critical and 

major non-compliance outcome 

notifications that are followed up by 

Council)

Kerbside collection waste diverted from 

landfill.  (Percentage of recyclables and 

green organics collected from kerbside 

bins that is diverted from landfill)
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$’000 $’000 $’000

(6,554) (7,457) 903

(4,346) (9,875) 5,529

(6,149) (8,414) 2,265

(1,774) (7,673) 5,899

(4,597) (6,276) 1,679

(23,420) (39,696) 16,276

(13,256)

(87)

(87)

Total expenses added in (13,430)

(36,850)

25,938

Capital grants 4,546

Capital contributions 240

Financial Assistance grants 9,994

Total funding sources 40,718

Operating surplus/(deficit) for the year 3,868

Surplus/(Deficit) before funding sources

Funding sources added in:

Rates and charges revenue

Total

Expenses added in:

Depreciation and Amortisation

Finance costs

Strategic Objective 5: Community Leadership

Fair value adjustments

Strategic Objective 4: Improving our Environment

2.7  Reconciliation with budgeted operating result

Surplus/ 

(Deficit)
Expenditure

Income / 

Revenue

Strategic Objective 1: Connected Community

Strategic Objective 2: Thriving Community

Strategic Objective 3: Healthy, Active and Resilient Community
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Statement of Human Resources

3.0  Financial Statements

This section presents information in regard to the Financial Statements and Statement of Human Resources. The budget

information for the year 2024/25 has been supplemented with projections to 2027/28

This section includes the following financial statements prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act 2020 and the

Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020 .

Comprehensive Income Statement

Balance Sheet

Statement of Changes in Equity

Statement of Cash Flows

Statement of Capital Works
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Comprehensive Income Statement
For the four years ending 30 June 2028

Forecast
Actual

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

NOTE

S
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Income / Revenue

Rates and charges 4.1.1 25,132 25,938 26,648 27,571 28,322 

Statutory fees and fines 432 425 436 447 458 

User fees 7,310 8,093 8,403 8,723 9,055 

Grants - operating 4.1.2 7,246 15,099 15,514 15,902 16,300 

Grants - capital 4.1.2 17,189 4,546 4,418 7,967 2,954 

Contributions - monetary 922 714 166 418 56 

Net gain (or loss) on disposal of property, 

infrastructure, plant and equipment
7 323 0 0 0 

Other income 2,287 1,854 1,360 1,299 1,346 

Total income / revenue 60,525 56,994 56,946 62,328 58,490 

Expenses

Employee costs 19,804 19,939 20,552 21,118 21,646 

Materials and services 22,917 16,629 17,261 16,872 17,150 

Depreciation 11,912 12,692 13,147 13,399 13,644 

Amortisation - intangible assets 300 300 350 350 350 

Amortisation - right of use assets 271 264 271 264 258 

Fair value adjustments 89 87 89 92 94 

Bad and doubtful debts - allowance for impairment 

losses
1 1 1 1 1 

Borrowing costs 4.1.3 0 0 0 0 0 

Finance costs - leases 87 86 87 86 86 

Other expenses 3,110 3,129 3,207 3,287 3,369 

Total expenses 58,491 53,126 54,964 55,469 56,598 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 2,034 3,868 1,982 6,859 1,892 

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to surplus or 

deficit in future periods

Net asset revaluation gain /(loss) 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 

Total other comprehensive income 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 

Total comprehensive result 12,034 13,868 11,982 16,859 11,892 

Budget Projections
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Balance Sheet

For the four years ending 30 June 2028

Forecast

Actual

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

NOTE

S
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 15,174 4,877 3,635 4,084 3,866 

Trade and other receivables 1,402 1,437 1,473 1,510 1,548 

Other financial assets 23,350 19,000 17,475 16,912 17,335 

Inventories
83 85 87 89 92 

Other assets 690 707 725 743 762 

Total current assets 40,699 26,106 23,395 23,338 23,601 

Non-current assets

Trade and other receivables 113 187 310 547 465 

Property, infrastructure, plant & equipment 562,875 586,576 599,460 616,694 628,946 

Right-of-use assets 4,946 4,682 4,411 4,147 3,889 

Intangible assets
163 163 163 163 163 

Total non-current assets 568,097 591,608 604,344 621,551 633,463 

Total assets 608,796 617,714 627,739 644,889 657,065 

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 3,580 3,670 3,761 3,855 3,952 

Trust funds and deposits 726 744 763 782 801 

Unearned income/revenue 8,660 3,410 1,140 1,140 1,140 

Provisions 3,978 4,069 4,181 4,296 4,404 

Interest-bearing liabilities 4.1.3 0 0 0 0 0 

Lease liabilities 154 154 150 147 143 

Total current liabilities 17,098 12,047 9,996 10,220 10,440 

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 5,991 6,092 6,199 6,309 6,420 

Interest-bearing liabilities 4.1.3 0 0 0 0 0 

Lease liabilities 5,462 5,462 5,450 5,406 5,359 

Total non-current liabilities 11,453 11,554 11,649 11,715 11,779 

Total liabilities 28,551 23,601 21,644 21,935 22,219 

Net assets 580,245 594,113 606,095 622,954 634,845 

Equity

Accumulated surplus 192,786 207,165 208,803 215,738 217,284 

Reserves 387,459 386,948 397,292 407,216 417,561 

Total equity 580,245 594,113 606,095 622,954 634,845 

ProjectionsBudget
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Statement of Changes in Equity

For the four years ending 30 June 2028

Total
Accumulated 

Surplus

Revaluation 

Reserve

Other 

Reserves

NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2024 Forecast Actual

Balance at beginning of the financial year 568,211 201,600 362,482 4,129 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 2,034 2,034 0 0 

Net asset revaluation gain/(loss) 10,000 - 10,000 -

Transfers to other reserves - (11,276) - 11,276 

Transfers from other reserves - 428 - (428)

Balance at end of the financial year 580,245 192,786 372,482 14,977 

2025 Budget

Balance at beginning of the financial year 580,245 192,786 372,482 14,977 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 3,868 3,868 - -

Net asset revaluation gain/(loss) 10,000 - 10,000 -

Transfers to other reserves - (533) - 533 

Transfers from other reserves - 11,044 - (11,044)

Balance at end of the financial year 594,113 207,165 382,482 4,466 

2026 Budget

Balance at beginning of the financial year 594,113 207,165 382,482 4,466 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 1,982 1,982 - -

Net asset revaluation gain/(loss) 10,000 - 10,000 -

Transfers to other reserves - (344) 0 344 

Transfers from other reserves - 0 - 0 

606,095 208,803 392,482 4,810 

2027 Budget

Balance at beginning of the financial year 606,095 208,803 392,482 4,810 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 6,859 6,859 - -

Net asset revaluation gain/(loss) 10,000 - 10,000 -

Transfers to other reserves 0 (344) 0 344 

Transfers from other reserves - 420 - (420)

622,954 215,738 402,482 4,734 

2028 Budget

Balance at beginning of the financial year 622,954 215,738 402,482 4,734 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 1,892 1,892 0 0 

Net asset revaluation gain/(loss) 10,000 - 10,000 -

Transfers to other reserves 0 (345) 0 345 

Transfers from other reserves - 0 0 0 

634,845 217,284 412,482 5,079 

Balance at end of the financial year

Balance at end of the financial year

Balance at end of the financial year
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Statement of Cash Flows

For the four years ending 30 June 2028

Forecast

Actual
2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows

(Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows)

Rates and charges 25,786 25,903 26,612 27,534 28,284 

Statutory fees and fines 432 425 436 447 458 

User fees 7,309 8,093 8,403 8,723 9,054 

Grants - operating 7,246 15,099 15,514 15,902 16,300 

Grants - capital 12,900 (704) 2,148 7,967 2,954 

Contributions - monetary 922 714 166 418 56 

Other receipts 2,261 1,780 1,237 1,062 1,428 

Employee costs (18,677) (19,832) (20,422) (20,984) (21,520)

Materials and services (25,909) (19,670) (20,378) (20,068) (20,426)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating 

activities 
12,270 11,809 13,716 21,002 16,588 

(36,313) (28,574) (16,765) (21,665) (17,173)

527 2,204 384 682 926 

Net (payments)/proceeds for investments 35,117 4,350 1,525 563 (423)

Net cash provided by/ (used in) investing 

activities 
(669) (22,020) (14,855) (20,420) (16,670)

Interest paid - lease liability (87) (86) (87) (86) (86)

Repayment of lease liabilities (167) 0 (16) (47) (51)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing 

activities 
(254) (86) (103) (133) (136)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash & cash 

equivalents 
11,347 (10,297) (1,242) 449 (218)

3,827 15,174 4,877 3,635 4,084 

15,174 4,877 3,635 4,084 3,866 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 

financial year 

Projections

Cash flows from financing activities 

Budget

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 

year 

Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and 

Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and 

equipment 
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Statement of Capital Works

For the four years ending 30 June 2028

Forecast
Actual

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

NOTE

S
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Property

Land 424 0 0 0 0 

Total Land 424 0 0 0 0 

Buildings 1,300 930 1,222 2,196 748 

Heritage buildings 30 11 169 196 46 

Leasehold improvements 0 153 0 0 0 

Total buildings 1,330 1,094 1,391 2,392 794 

Total property 1,754 1,094 1,391 2,392 794 

Plant and equipment

Artworks 50 0 31 32 32 

2,702 3,548 1,569 2,632 2,757 

Library Stock 65 70 72 74 75 

Fixtures, fittings and furniture 75 25 0 0 0 

Computers and telecommunications 185 0 138 0 43 

Total plant and equipment 3,077 3,643 1,810 2,737 2,908 

Infrastructure

Roads 11,253 15,215 8,463 7,538 7,903 

Kerb and channel 287 185 294 420 242 

Bridges 2,244 150 359 42 1,217 

Footpaths and cycleways 921 3,813 317 317 238 

Drainage 292 415 205 210 323 

Recreational, leisure and community facilities 6,999 20 26 4,791 65 

Waste management 4,059 2,989 3,161 2,837 2,778 

5,178 1,050 390 32 355 

Total infrastructure 31,233 23,837 13,214 16,186 13,121 

Total capital works expenditure 4.2 36,064 28,574 16,415 21,315 16,823 

Represented by:

New asset expenditure 17,004 9,346 4,002 7,831 3,090 

Asset renewal expenditure 13,722 16,615 10,455 11,463 10,951 

Asset expansion expenditure 75 0 0 0 0 

Asset upgrade expenditure 5,263 2,612 1,958 2,021 2,782 

Total capital works expenditure 4.2 36,064 28,574 16,415 21,315 16,823 

Grants 17,189 4,546 4,418 7,967 2,954 

Contributions 733 240 166 418 56 

Council cash 18,142 23,788 11,830 12,930 13,814 

Total capital works expenditure 4.2 36,064 28,574 16,415 21,315 16,823 

Projections

Plant, machinery and equipment

Parks, open space and streetscapes

Funding sources represented by:

Budget
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Statement of Human Resources

For the four years ending 30 June 2028

Forecast

Actual

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Staff expenditure

Employee costs - operating 19,804 19,939 20,552 21,118 21,646

Employee costs - capital 1,387 1,430 1,473 1,517 1,563

Total staff expenditure 21,191 21,369 22,025 22,635 23,208

FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE

Full time equivalent staff numbers

Full time equivalent employees 217.6 217.6 217.6 217.6 217.6

Total staff full time equivalent staff numbers 217.6 217.6 217.6 217.6 217.6

Budget

2024/25 Full Time Part time

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Corporate & Community Services 6,165 2,381 3,619 165 -

Executive Services 1,503 962 542 - -

Sustainable Development 4,959 3,719 1,240 - -

Works & Services 7,312 6,340 552 420 -

Total staff expenditure 19,939 13,402 5,952 585 -

Capitalised labour expenditure 1,430

Total expenditure 21,369

Budget

2024/25 Full Time Part time

Corporate & Community Services 72.9 27.0 42.9 3.0 0.0

Executive Services 10.9 7.0 3.9 0.0 0.0

Sustainable Development 45.3 34.0 11.3 0.0 0.0

Works & Services 66.4 56.0 6.4 4.0 -

Total staff 195.6 124.0 64.5 7.0 0.0

Capitalised labour full time equivalent staff 22.0

Total full time equivalent staff 217.6

A summary of human resources expenditure categorised according to the organisational structure of Council is included below:

A summary of the number of full time equivalent (FTE) Council staff in relation to the above expenditure is included below:

Permanent

Comprises

Department

Comprises

Permanent

Casual Temporary

Casual Temporary

Department

ProjectionsBudget
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For the four years ending 30 June 2028

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2,381 2,455 2,522 2,585

Women 1,323 1,364 1,401 1,436

Men 1,058 1,091 1,121 1,149

Persons of self-described gender 0 0 0 0

3,784 3,900 4,007 4,108

Women 3,577 3,687 3,788 3,883

Men 207 214 220 225

Persons of self-described gender 0 0 0 0

6,165 6,355 6,529 6,693

962 991 1,018 1,044

Women 577 598 617 636

Men 385 393 401 408

Persons of self-described gender 0 0 0 0

542 558 574 588

Women 449 463 475 487

Men 92 95 98 101

Persons of self-described gender 0 0 0 0

1,503 1,549 1,592 1,632

3,719 3,834 3,939 4,038

Women 1,750 1,804 1,854 1,900

Men 1,969 2,030 2,086 2,138

Persons of self-described gender 0 0 0 0

1,240 1,278 1,313 1,346

Women 956 986 1,013 1,038

Men 283 292 300 308

Persons of self-described gender 0 0 0 0

4,959 5,112 5,252 5,383

6,340 6,422 6,597 6,759

Women 693 714 734 752

Men 5,647 5,707 5,863 6,007

Persons of self-described gender 0 0 0 0

552 569 585 599

Women 404 416 428 438

Men 148 153 157 161

Persons of self-described gender 0 0 0 0

6,892 6,991 7,182 7,358

Casuals, temporary and other expenditure 420 546 562 579

Capitalised labour costs 1,430 1,473 1,517 1,563

21,369 22,025 22,635 23,208

Corporate and Community Services

Permanent - Full time

Permanent - Part time

Total Corporate & Community Services

Executive Office

Permanent - Full time

Permanent - Part time

Total Executive Services

Works and Services

Permanent - Full time

Permanent - Part time

Total Works and Services

Sustainability Development

Permanent - Full time

Permanent - Part time

Total Sustainability Development

Total staff expenditure
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2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

FTE FTE FTE FTE

27.0 27.0 27.0 27.0

Women 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0

Men 12.0 12.0 12.0 12.0

Persons of self-described gender 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

42.9 42.9 42.9 42.9

Women 40.6 40.6 40.6 40.6

Men 2.4 2.4 2.4 2.4

Persons of self-described gender 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

69.9 69.9 69.9 69.9

7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0

Women 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0

Men 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0

Persons of self-described gender 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

3.9 3.9 3.9 3.9

Women 3.2 3.2 3.2 3.2

Men 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8

Persons of self-described gender 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

10.9 10.9 10.9 10.9

34.0 34.0 34.0 34.0

Women 16.0 16.0 16.0 16.0

Men 18.0 18.0 18.0 18.0

Persons of self-described gender 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

11.3 11.3 11.3 11.3

Women 8.7 8.7 8.7 8.7

Men 2.6 2.6 2.6 2.6

Persons of self-described gender 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

45.3 45.3 45.3 45.3

56.0 56.0 56.0 56.0

Women 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0

Men 48.0 48.0 48.0 48.0

Persons of self-described gender 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

6.4 6.4 6.4 6.4

Women 4.7 4.7 4.7 4.7

Men 1.7 1.7 1.7 1.7

Persons of self-described gender 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

62.4 62.4 62.4 62.4

Casuals and temporary staff 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0

Capitalised labour 22.0 22.0 22.0 22.0

217.6 217.6 217.6 217.6

Permanent - Part time

Permanent - Full time

Corporate and Community Services

Permanent - Full time

Permanent - Part time

Total Corporate & Community Services

Executive Office

Total staff numbers

Total Sustainability Development

Works and Services

Permanent - Full time

Permanent - Part time

Total Works and Services

Permanent - Part time

Total Executive Services

Sustainability Development

Permanent - Full time
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4. Notes to the financial statements 

4.1.1 Rates and charges

2023/24 2024/25
Forecast 

Actual
Budget

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

General rates*              20,555              21,158                   603 2.93%

Municipal charge*                1,879                1,925                     46 2.46%

Waste management charge                2,317                2,451                   133 5.76%

Cultural & Recreational Land rates                       5                       5                       0 2.90%

Interest on rates and charges                     75                     30                  (45) (60.0%)

Revenue in lieu of rates                   376                   400                     24 6.25%

Total rates and charges              25,207              25,968                   761 3.02%

2023/24 2024/25 Change

cents/$CIV* cents/$CIV*
0.217656 0.229229 5.32%

0.217656 0.229229 5.32%

0.217656 0.229229 5.32%

0.190449 0.199429 4.72%

0.310160 0.343844 10.86%

0.108828 0.114615 5.32%

The Ad Valorum 2024-2025 rate above is based on the current valuation as supplied by the Valuer General-Victoria which is 

subject to confirmation.

Rates and charges are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s budget.

As per the Local Government Act 2020 , Council is required to have a Revenue and Rating Plan which is a four year plan for how 

Council will generate income to deliver the Council Plan, program and services and capital works commitments over a four-year 

period.  

In developing the Budget, rates and charges were identified as an important source of revenue. Planning for future rate increases 

has therefore been an important component of the financial planning process. The Fair Go Rates System (FGRS) sets out the 

maximum amount councils may increase rates in a year. For 2024-2025 the FGRS cap has been set at 2.75%. The cap applies to 

both general rates and municipal charges and is calculated on the basis of council’s average rates and charges.  

The level of required rates and charges has been considered in this context, with reference to Council's other sources of income 

and the planned expenditure on services and works to be undertaken for the community.

To achieve these objectives while maintaining service levels and a strong capital expenditure program, the average general rate 

and the municipal charge will increase by 2.75% in line with the rate cap. 

  This will raise total rates and charges for 2024-2025 to $25,968,412

4.1.1(a) The reconciliation of the total rates and charges to the Comprehensive Income Statement is as follows:

Rates and charges

*These items are subject to the rate cap established under the FGRS

4.1.1(b)  The rate in the dollar to be levied as general rates under section 158 of the Act for each type or class of 

land compared with the previous financial year

Type or class of land

Change

General rate for rateable residential properties

General rate for rateable commercial properties

General rate for rateable industrial properties

General rate for rateable farm properties

General rate for rateable vacant industrial properties

General rate for cultural and recreational land properties
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2023/24 2024/25

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Residential                5,836                6,147                   311 5.33%

Commercial                   509                   538                     29 5.61%

Industrial                1,464                1,536                     72 4.91%

Farm              12,722              12,910                   188 1.48%

Vacant Industrial Land                     24                     27                       3 12.14%

Cultural & Recreational Land                       5                       5                       0 2.90%

Total amount to be raised by general rates              20,560              21,163                   603 2.93%

2023/24 2024/25

Number Number Number %

Residential                6,341                6,342                       1 0.02%

Commercial                   478                   478                     -   0.00%

Industrial                   128                   128                     -   0.00%

Farm                2,760                2,760                     -   0.00%

Vacant Industrial Land                     23                     23                     -   0.00%

Cultural & Recreational Land                       3                       3                     -   0.00%

Total number of assessments                9,733                9,734                       1 0.01%

4.1.1(e) The basis of valuation to be used is the Capital Improved Value (CIV)

2023/24 2024/25

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Residential         2,688,492         2,681,539             (6,953) (0.26%)

Commercial            235,175            234,543                (632) (0.27%)

Industrial            673,356            670,073             (3,283) (0.49%)

Farm         6,684,320         6,473,506         (210,814) (3.15%)

Vacant Industrial Land                7,800                7,890                     90 1.15%

Cultural & Recreational Land                4,760                4,650                (110) (2.31%)

Total value of land       10,293,903       10,072,201         (221,702) (2.15%)

Per Rateable 

Property

Per Rateable 

Property

2023/24 2024/25

$ $ $ %

Municipal charge* 216.40 222.35 5.95 2.75%

2023/24 2024/25

$ $ $ %

Municipal charge*                1,879                1,925                     46 2.46%

4.1.1(h) The estimated total amount to be raised by municipal charges compared with the previous financial year

 Type of Charge
Change

4.1.1(f) The estimated total value of each type or class of land, and the estimated total value of land, compared with the previous 

financial year

Type or class of land
Change

4.1.1(g) The municipal charge under Section 159 of the Act compared with the previous financial year

 Type of Charge
Change

4.1.1(c) The estimated total amount to be raised by general rates in relation to each type or class of land, and the estimated total 

amount to be raised by general rates, compared with the previous financial year

Type or class of land
Change

4.1.1(d) The number of assessments in relation to each type or class of land, and the total number of assessments, compared 

with the previous financial year

Type or class of land
Change
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Per Rateable 

Property

Per Rateable 

Property

2023/24 2024/25

 $  $  $ %

Waste Management Charges 411.00 433.00 22.00 5.35%

Kerbside Collection Organics (Schools and 

Businesses)
125.85 130.00 4.15 3.30%

Kerbside Collection Waste 120l (Schools and 

Businesses)
170.00 181.00 11.00 6.47%

Kerbside Collection Waste 240l (Schools and 

Businesses)
274.55 285.00 10.45 3.81%

Kerbside Collection Recycling-(Schools and 

Businesses)
122.70 127.00 4.30 3.50%

Kerbside Collection Organics (Community 

Groups)
89.45 92.00 2.55 2.85%

Kerbside Collection Waste 120l (Community 

Groups)
98.80 102.00 3.20 3.24%

Kerbside Collection Waste 240l (Community 

Groups)
145.60 150.00 4.40 3.02%

Kerbside Collection Recycling-(Community 

Groups)
82.15 84.00 1.85 2.25%

2023/24 2024/25

$ $ $ %

Waste Management Charges         2,292,029         2,423,501            131,472 5.74%

Kerbside Collection Organics (Schools and 

Businesses)
                  503                   520                     17 3.30%

Kerbside Collection Waste 120l (Schools and 

Businesses)
               1,530                1,991                   461 30.13%

Kerbside Collection Waste 240l (Schools and 

Businesses)
             16,473              16,530                     57 0.35%

Kerbside Collection Recycling-(Schools and 

Businesses)
               4,391                5,461                1,070 24.37%

Kerbside Collection Organics (Community 

Groups)
                    -                       92                     92 -

Kerbside Collection Waste 120l (Community 

Groups)
                    -                     204                   204 -

Kerbside Collection Waste 240l (Community 

Groups)
                  437                   450                     13 3.02%

Kerbside Collection Recycling-(Community 

Groups)
               1,725                1,764                     39 2.25%

Total         2,317,089         2,450,513            133,424 5.76%

4.1.1(j)  The estimated total amount to be raised by each type of service rate or charge, and the estimated total amount to be 

raised by service rates and charges, compared with the previous financial year

 Type of Charge
Change

4.1.1(i) The rate or unit amount to be levied for each type of service rate or charge under Section 162 of the Act compared with 

the previous financial year

 Type of Charge

Change

Corangamite Shire Budget 2024-2025 Page 36 of 65Attachment: 9.1.1 Corangamite Shire Council Budget 2024-2025
Page 85 |

239



2023/24 2024/25

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

General Rates              20,560              21,163                   603 2.93%

Municipal Charges                1,879                1,925                     46 2.46%

Waste Management Charges                2,317                2,451                   133 5.76%

Revenue in lieu of rates                   376                   400                     24 6.25%

Total Rates and charges              25,132              25,938                   806 3.21%

4.1.1(l) Fair Go Rates System Compliance

2023/24 2024/25

 $   22,378,625  $   23,082,286 

               9,737                9,731 

          2,220.59           2,308.52 

3.50% 2.75%

          2,298.31           2,371.99 

 $   22,378,651  $   23,081,974 

 $   22,378,625  $   23,081,842 

Budgeted Supplementary Rates  $          62,000  $          60,000 

 $   22,440,625  $   23,141,842 

•      The variation of returned levels of value (e.g. valuation appeals)

•      Changes of use of land such that rateable land becomes non-rateable land and vice versa

•      Changes of use of land such that residential land becomes business land and vice versa.

The rate and amount of rates payable in relation to land in each category of differential are set out in table 4.1.1(b).

Each differential rate will be determined by multiplying the Capital Improved Value of rateable land (categorised by the 

characteristics described below) by the relevant percentages indicated above.

Council believes each differential rate will contribute to the equitable and efficient carrying out of council functions. Details of the 

objectives of each differential rate, the types of classes of land which are subject to each differential rate and the uses of each 

differential rate are set out below.

There are no known significant changes which may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and charges. However, the 

total amount to be raised by rates and charges may be affected by:

•      The making of supplementary valuations (2024-2025: estimated $60,000 and 2023-2024: $62,000)

4.1.1(n) Differential rates 

4.1.1(m) Any significant changes that may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and charges

Corangamite Shire Council is required to comply with the State Government’s Fair Go Rates System (FGRS).  The table below 

details the budget assumptions consistent with the requirements of the Fair Go Rates System.

Total Rates

Number of rateable properties

Base Average Rate

Maximum Rate Increase (set by the State Government)

Capped Average Rate

Maximum General Rates and Municipal Charges Revenue

Budgeted General Rates and Municipal Charges Revenue

Budgeted Total Rates and Municipal Charges Revenue

4.1.1(k) The estimated total amount to be raised by all rates and charges compared with the previous financial year

Rates and charges
Change
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General Rate

Classification

Level of Rate

100% of general rate.

Farm rate

Classification

c)     That is used by a business –

Reasons for the differential and level of rate

Commercial Rate

Classification

Commercial land is any land, which is:

Level of Rate

100% of general rate.

Industrial land rate

Classification

Industrial land is any land which is:

Level of Rate

100% of general rate.

Vacant industrial land rate

Classification

The vacant industrial land is any land, which

is:

Reasons for the differential and level of rate

a)    vacant; and

b)    located within an industrial zone under the Planning Scheme; and

c)     not used as farmland as described in the Valuation Land Act 1960

The differential rate seeks to incentivize the development of vacant industrial land. This is consistent with Council’s strategic 

planning objectives. The vacant industrial land rate will be set at 150% of the general rate for 2024-2025. 

The general rate will apply to all rateable properties which do not fall withing other differential classifications (listed below).

Any land which is “farm land” within the meaning of Section 2(1) of the Valuation of Land Act 1960.

a)    farm land means any rateable land that is 2 or more hectares in area;

b)    used primarily for primary producing purposes from its activities on the land; used primarily for grazing (including agistment), 

dairying, pig-farming, poultry farming, fish farming, tree farming, bee keeping, viticulture, horticulture, fruit growing or the growing 

of crops of any kind or for any combination of those activities; and

                     ii.        that seeks to make a profit on a continuous or repetitive basis from its activities on the land; and

                      i.        That has a significant and substantial commercial purpose of character;

a)    designated for use by businesses that interact with the public like offices, retail shops, shopping centres, restaurants, banks, 

bars etc. These businesses are generally not noisy or messy and can coexist with residential land.

a)    developed for the principal purpose of carrying out the manufacturing or production of goods or trade in goods or services

                    iii.        that is making a profit from its activities on the land, or that has a reasonable prospect of making a profit from 

its activities on the land if it continues to operate in the way that it is operating.

The differential rate recognises that ratepayers of farmland continue to bear a higher rating burden that those of other 

differentials. The farm rate will be set at 87% of the general rates for 2024-2025. 
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Cultural and recreational land rate

Classification

Cultural and Recreational land means

a)    lands which are –

Reasons for the differential and level of rate

4.1.1(p) Waste Management Charge

 

4.1.1 (o) Municipal Charge

In addition to differential rates, Council levies a municipal charge to cover some of the administrative costs of Council. The total 

revenue from a municipal charge must not exceed 20% of the sum total of the general rates and municipal charge combined in a 

financial year. The application of a municipal charge represents a fixed component of rates for all properties, rather than sole use 

of the CIV valuation method. 

The Waste Management Charge covers kerbside waste collection and disposal where available, kerbside education programs 

and costs associated with contract administration and dealing with kerbside customer service inquires. “Kerbside waste” includes 

general waste, glass waste, green waste (including kitchen organics) and recyclables.

b)    lands that are primarily used as agricultural showgrounds.

All cultural and recreational lands shall be exempt from the payment of municipal rates, except where:

a)    the land is subject to a grazing lease, in which case it will attract the general rate (or farm rate if applicable); or

b)    the land is used for housing gaming machines, in which case the portion of the premises used for housing gaming machines 

shall attract the commercial rate, and the balance of the property shall be exempt from the payment of municipal rates; or
c)     the land is used as a horse racing venue, in which case the property shall attract the cultural and recreational lands rate.

The rate reflects the level of service provided and ensures that reasonable rate relativity is maintained between recreational land 

and other classes of land. The cultural and recreational land rate will be set at 50% of the general rate for 2024-2025. 

i)      vested in or occupied by any body corporate or incorporated which exists for the purpose of providing or promoting cultural 

or sporting recreational or similar facilities or objectives and which applies its profits in promoting its objectives and prohibits the 

payment of any dividend or amount to its members; and
ii)     used for outdoor sporting recreational or cultural purposes or similar outdoor activities; or
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4.1.2 Grants

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2023/24 2024/25

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

 Grants were received in respect of the 

following: 

Summary of grants

Commonwealth funded grants 18,164 13,683 (4,481) (25%)

State funded grants 6,271 5,962 (309) (5%)

Total grants received 24,435 19,645 (4,790) (20%)

(a)    Operating Grants

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government 679 5,826 5,146 758%

Recurrent - State Government 2,157 2,746 589 27%

Total recurrent grants 2,836 8,571 5,735 202%

Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government 2,695 4,620 1,926 71%

Non-recurrent - State Government 1,716 1,908 192 11%

Total non-recurrent grants 4,410 6,528 2,118 48%

Total operating grants 7,246 15,099 7,853 108%

(b)    Capital Grants

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government 3,594 3,237 (356) (10%)

Recurrent - State Government 1,631 824 (807) (49%)

Total recurrent grants 5,224 4,061 (1,163) (22%)

Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government 11,197 0 (11,197) (100%)

Non-recurrent - State Government 768 485 (283) (37%)

Total non-recurrent grants 11,964 485 (11,480) (96%)

Total capital grants 17,189 4,546 (12,643) (74%)

Total Grants 24,435 19,645 (4,790) (20%)

Operating grants include all monies received from State and Federal sources for the purposes of  funding the delivery of 

Council’s services to ratepayers. Overall, the level of operating grants is projected to increase by 105% or $7.64 million 

compared to 2023-2024. this is largely due to Financial Assistance Grants being paid early in the 2022-2023 year rather than 

in 2023-2024. 

Capital grants include all monies received from State, Federal sources for the purposes of funding the capital works 

program. Overall, the level of capital grants are projected to decrease by 74% or $12.64 million compared to 2023-2024.  

The large balances in 2023-2024 Non Recurrent Capital Commonwealth grants relate to major project funding including the 

Port Campbell Streetscape and Local Roads and Community Infrastructure program. 

A list of grants by type and source, classified into recurrent and non-recurrent, is included below.  

Change
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4.1.3 Borrowings

Forecast

Actual

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

Amount borrowed as at 30 June of the prior year                     -                       -                       -                       -              -   

Amount proposed to be borrowed                     -                       -                       -                       -              -   

Amount projected to be redeemed                     -                       -                       -                       -              -   

Amount of borrowings as at 30 June                     -                       -                       -                       -              -   

Budget Projections

The Budget provides for no new borrowings in 2024-2025 financial year or in the four year budget at the time of adoption.
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4.2 Capital works program

4.2.1 Summary

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2023/24 2024/25

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Property            1,754            1,094            (661) (37.66%)

Plant and equipment            3,077            3,663               586 19.04%

Infrastructure          31,233          23,817         (7,416) (23.74%)

Total          36,064          28,574         (7,490) (20.77%)

New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contributions
Council 

cash
Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Property            1,094               140               754               200                  -                   95                    60               939                  -   

Plant and equipment            3,663                 25            3,638                  -                    -                    -                       -              3,663                  -   

Infrastructure          23,817            9,181          12,224            2,412                  -              4,451                  180          19,186                  -   

Total          28,574            9,346          16,615            2,612                  -              4,546                  240          23,788                  -   

This section presents a listing of the capital works projects that will be undertaken for the 2024-2025 year, classified by expenditure type and funding source.

Project Cost

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources

Change
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4.2 Capital works program 2024-2025

Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib.
Council 

cash
Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

PROPERTY

Buildings

Civic Centre Internal Repaint               90                     -                       90                     -    -                     -               -                90  - 

Cobden Depot Toilet Upgrade               75                     -                       75                     -    -                     -               -                75  - 

Energy and Water Savings             100                     -                       -                     100  -                     -               -              100  - 

Height safety rectification - Stage 2               75                     -                       -                       75  -                     -               -                75  - 

Renewal of Swimming Pools             100                     -                     100                     -    -                     -               -              100  - 

Replacement Skipton Jubilee Park Toilets - Design               25                     -                       -                       25  -                     -               -                25  - 

Terang Hall - Floor replacement             100                     -                     100                     -    -                     -               50              50  - 

Timboon Depot Toilet Upgrade               75                     -                       75                     -    -                     -               -                75  - 

Timboon Hall - Modification to mens toilet               20                     -                       20                     -    -                     -               10              10  - 

Timboon Stadium Floor Renewal             150                     -                     150                     -    -                     -               -              150  - 

Universal Access to Council buildings               20                     -                       20                     -    -                     -               -                20  - 

Corangamite Libraries - façade refresh and furniture replacement             100                     -                     100                     -    -                     25             -                75  - 

Heritage buildings

Camperdown Civic Centre - Heritage Works               11                     -                       11                     -    -                     -               -                11 

Leasehold improvements

Buckle My Shoe (8 The Promenade, Terang) - Fence replacement               13                     -                       13                     -    -                     -               -                13 

Stage 1 Small Scale BHTM Solar Project Landfill to offset Council emissions             140                   140                     -                       -    -                     70             -                70 

PROPERTY TOTAL 1,094        140                 754                 200                 95                   60           939           -                     

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Fixtures, fittings and furniture

Old Chambers IT Upgrade               25                     25                     -                       -    -                     -               -                25 

Equipment for YAK Program                    20                            -                             20                            -    -                     -               -                20 

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources
Project 

Cost
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Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib.
Council 

cash
Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources
Project 

Cost

Plant, machinery and equipment

Heavy Plant Replacement Program          3,020                     -                  3,020                     -    -                     -               -           3,020                        -   

Light Fleet Replacement Program             408                     -                     408                     -    -                     -               -              408                        -   

Minor Plant and Equipment Purchases               35                     -                       35                     -    -                     -               -                35                        -   

GPS system replacement               85                     -                       85                     -    -                     -               -                85                        -   

Library stock renewal               70                     -                       70                     -    -                     -               -                70                        -   

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT TOTAL 3,663        25                   3,638              -                  -                  -          3,663        -                     

INFRASTRUCTURE

Bridges

Latrobe Road Major Culvert Replacements             150                     -                     150                     -    -                     -               -              150  - 

Drainage

Drainage Enhancement Program             200                     -                     200                     -    -                     -               -              200  - 

Park Lane Skipton - Culvert Replacement             215                     -                       -                     215  -                   215             -                 -    - 

 - 

Footpaths and cycleways  - 

(SCS) Morris Street from Hotel to Old Great Ocean Road, Port Campbell               90                     90                     -                       -    -                     -               23              68  - 

(SCS) Park Lane - Bowen Street to Caravan Park             420                   420                     -                       -    -                     -             158            263  - 

Camperdown Botanic Gardens - Upgrade to path network             100                     -                     100                     -    -                     50             -                50  - 

Laing Street McKinnon St to Strong St, Terang               28                     28                     -                       -    -                     -               -                28  - 

Port Campbell Town Centre Revitalisation          3,000                1,500                1,200                   300                     -                       -               -           3,000 

Tandarook Park Masterplan Implementation - New Footpath             125                     -                     125                     -    -                     -               -              125  - 

Timboon Embankment Wooden Steps Replacement               50                     -                       50                     -    -                     -               -                50  - 

 - 

Kerb and channel  - 

High St Median, Wilson St to Dow St, Terang             125                     -                     125                     -    -                     -               -              125  - 

McNicol St from Manifold St to Scott St Kerb & Channel Renewal               60                     -                       60                     -    -                     -               -                60  - 
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Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib.
Council 

cash
Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources
Project 

Cost

Parks, open space and streetscapes

Skipton Streetscape - Design               50                     50                     -                       -    -                     -               -                50  - 

Port Campbell Town Centre Revitalisation          1,000                   500                   400                   100                     -                       -               -           1,000                        -   

Roads             -   

Bailey Street, Timboon Retaining Wall Replacement               50                     -                       50                     -    -                     -               -                50  - 

Batemans Road Ch. 3.35km to 4.01km Rehab             159                     -                     159                     -    -                     -               -              159  - 

Blind Creek Rd & Sandys Lane Intersection - Asphalt, culvert replacement,guardrail            315                     -                       -                     315  -                   315             -                 -    - 

Castle Carey Road Ch. 8km to 9km Final Seal               33                     -                       33                     -    -                     -               -                33  - 

Chocolyn Settlement Road Ch. 1.69km to 2.37km Final Seal               14                     -                       14                     -    -                     -               -                14  - 

Church Street, Morgan St to Rand St, Timboon Final Seal               10                     -                       10                     -    -                     -               -                10  - 

Cooriemungle Road Ch. 14.78km to 15.66km Rehab             350                     -                     350                     -    -                     -               -              350  - 

Crawfords Road Ch. 4.43km to 5.44km Rehab             243                     -                     243                     -    -                     -               -              243  - 

Danedite Road (Ch. 2.41km to 3.49km) Rehab             389                     -                     389                     -    -                     -               -              389  - 

Dow Street & Ewing Street Intersection Traffic Calming Raised Platform               75                     -                       -                       75  -                     75             -                 -    - 

Dow Street South, Terang Sealing of Gravel Road             200                     -                       -                     200  -                   200             -                 -    - 

Glenfyne Brucknell Road Ch. 0km to 0.99km Final Seal               33                     -                       33                     -    -                     -               -                33  - 

Gravel Resheeting Program          1,236                     -                  1,236                     -    -                1,236             -                 -    - 

Guardrail Installation at Multiple Sites             224                   224                     -                       -    -                   224             -                 -    - 

Hinkleys Road Ch. 0km to 1.68km Rehab             403                     -                     403                     -    -                     -               -              403  - 

Hospital Rd, Baileys Rd to Leahys Lane, Timboon Rehab             233                     -                     233                     -    -                     -               -              233  - 

Jubilee Park Carpark, Skipton - Asphalting (LRCI)             115                     -                       -                     115  -                     90             -                25  - 

Latrobe Road Stabilisation of Batter Slip               75                     -                       75                     -    -                     -               -                75  - 

Melrose Road Ch. 1.53km to 2.19km Final Seal               22                     -                       22                     -    -                     -               -                22  - 

Morris Street Kerb Replacement and Asphalt Surfacing               90                     -                       90                     -    -                     90             -                 -    - 

Naroghid Road Widening on Batemans Road Bend, Naroghid             193                     -                       -                     193  -                     -               -              193  - 

Old Geelong Road Ch. 2.71km to 3.37km Final Seal               23                     -                       23                     -    -                     -               -                23  - 

Patching Prior to Reseal             260                     -                     260                     -    -                     -               -              260  - 

Port Campbell Town Centre Revitalisation          7,000                3,500                2,800                   700                     -               -           7,000                        -   

Rands Road from Morgan St to Church  St, Timboon  Widening & Rehab             200                     -                       -                     200  -                   200             -                 -    - 
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Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib.
Council 

cash
Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources
Project 

Cost

Reseal Program          1,905                     -                  1,905                     -    -                1,507             -              398  - 

Sisters Noorat Road Ch. 4km to 5.63km Final Seal               54                     -                       54                     -    -                     -               -                54  - 

Street light improvements               10                     -                       10                     -    -                     -               -                10  - 

Timboon Terang Road (10.67km to 11.4km) Rehab             289                     -                     289                     -    -                     -               -              289  - 

Vite Vite Road (0km to 1km) Final Seal               33                     -                       33                     -    -                     -               -                33  - 

Vite Vite Road Ch.2.01km to 2.71km Rehab             328                     -                     328                     -    -                     -               -              328  - 

Williams Road  Ch. 0km to 0.63km Final Seal               21                     -                       21                     -    -                     -               -                21  - 

Wiridgil Road (Ch. 1.67km to 3.17km) Final Seal               30                     -                       30                     -    -                     -               -                30  - 

Wiridgil Road (Ch. 3.17km to 5.0km) Widening and Rehab             601                     -                     601                     -    -                     -               -              601  - 

Waste management

Composting System Biochar Trial             500                   500                     -                       -    -                   250             -              250  - 

Landfill - Cell 14a and b Capping Installation              369                   369                     -                       -    -                     -               -              369  - 

Landfill - Cell 16A lining           2,000                2,000                     -                       -    -                     -               -           2,000  - 

Port Campbell and Skipton Transfer Station Site Huts             120                     -                     120                     -    -                     -               -              120  - 

Waste management Total

Infrastructure Total 23,817       9,181              12,224            2,412              4,451              180         19,186      -                     

 TOTAL CAPITAL WORKS 28,574       9,346              16,615            2,612              4,546              240         23,788      -                     
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Summary of Planned Capital Works Expenditure

Total New Renewal Upgrade Total Grants Contributions Council Cash Borrowings

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Property

1,222            461               190               571               1,222             -                 -                 1,222             -              

169               -                169               -                169                -                 -                 169                -              

1,391            461               359               571               1,391             -                 -                 1,391             -              

1,391            461               359               571               1,391             -                 -                 1,391             -              

Plant and Equipment

31                 31                 -                -                31                  -                 -                 31                  -              

1,569            -                1,569            -                1,569             -                 384                1,184             -              

-                -                -                -                -                 -                 -                 -                 -              

72                 -                72                 -                72                  -                 -                 72                  -              

138               -                138               -                138                -                 -                 138                -              

1,810            31                 1,779            -                1,810             -                 384                1,425             -              

Infrastructure

8,463            -                7,179            1,285            8,463             4,162             -                 4,301             -              

359               -                359               -                359                -                 -                 359                -              

317               223               42                 51                 317                -                 -                 317                -              

205               -                205               -                205                -                 -                 205                -              

26                 26                 -                -                26                  -                 -                 26                  -              

3,161            3,110            -                51                 3,161             256                -                 2,905             -              

390               -                390               -                390                -                 -                 390                -              

294               151               144               -                294                -                 -                 294                -              

13,214          3,510            8,317            1,387            13,214           4,418             -                 8,796             -              

16,415          4,002            10,455          1,958            16,415           4,418             384                11,612           -              

2025/26

Asset Expenditure Types Funding Sources

Computers and telecommunications

Total Plant and Equipment

Roads

Total Property

Artworks

Plant, machinery and equipment

Fixtures, fittings and furniture

Buildings

Heritage Buildings

Total Buildings

Total Infrastructure

Total Capital Works Expenditure

Bridges

Footpaths and cycleways

Drainage

Recreational, leisure and community facilities

Waste management

Parks, open space and streetscapes

Kerb and Channel

For the years ending 30 June 2026, 2027 & 2028

Library Stock
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Total New Renewal Upgrade Total Grants Contributions Council Cash Borrowings

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Property

2,196            -                1,385            811               2,196             604                105                1,487             -              

196               -                196               -                196                -                 -                 196                -              

2,392            -                1,581            811               2,392             604                105                1,683             -              

2,392            -                1,581            811               2,392             604                105                1,683             -              

Plant and Equipment

32                 32                 -                -                32                  -                 -                 32                  -              

2,632            -                2,632            -                2,632             -                 682                1,950             -              

-                -                -                -                -                 -                 -                 -                 -              

74                 -                74                 -                74                  -                 -                 74                  -              

-                -                -                -                -                 -                 -                 -                 -              

2,737            32                 2,706            -                2,737             -                 682                2,055             -              

Infrastructure

7,538            210               6,369            959               7,538             3,055             -                 4,482             -              

42                 42                 -                -                42                  -                 -                 42                  -              

317               193               71                 53                 317                -                 -                 317                -              

210               -                210               -                210                -                 -                 210                -              

4,791            4,728            63                 -                4,791             4,308             -                 483                -              

2,837            2,627            210               -                2,837             -                 -                 2,837             -              

32                 -                32                 -                32                  -                 -                 32                  -              

420               -                221               199               420                -                 -                 420                -              

16,186          7,800            7,176            1,210            16,186           7,363             -                 8,823             -              

21,315          7,831            11,463          2,021            21,315           7,967             787                12,561           -              

Kerb and Channel

Funding Sources

Computers and telecommunications

Total Plant and Equipment

Roads

Total Property

Artworks

Plant, machinery and equipment

Fixtures, fittings and furniture

Buildings

Heritage Buildings

Total Buildings

Total Infrastructure

Total Capital Works Expenditure

Library Stock

Bridges

Footpaths and cycleways

Drainage

Recreational, leisure and community facilities

Waste management

Parks, open space and streetscapes

2026/27

Asset Expenditure Types
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Total New Renewal Upgrade Total Grants Contributions Council Cash Borrowings

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Property

748               -                102               646               748                -                 -                 748                -              

46                 46                 -                -                46                  -                 -                 46                  -              

794               46                 102               646               794                -                 -                 794                -              

794               46                 102               646               794                -                 -                 794                -              

Plant and Equipment

32                 32                 -                -                32                  -                 -                 32                  -              

2,757            -                2,757            -                2,757             -                 926                1,831             -              

-                -                -                -                -                 -                 -                 -                 -              

75                 -                75                 -                75                  -                 -                 75                  -              

43                 -                43                 -                43                  -                 -                 43                  -              

2,908            32                 2,875            -                2,908             -                 926                1,981             -              

Infrastructure

7,903            -                6,661            1,242            7,903             2,954             -                 4,949             -              

1,217            -                431               786               1,217             -                 -                 1,217             -              

238               195               43                 -                238                -                 -                 238                -              

323               -                215               108               323                -                 -                 323                -              

65                 -                65                 -                65                  -                 -                 65                  -              

2,778            2,778            -                -                2,778             -                 -                 2,778             -              

355               -                355               -                355                -                 -                 355                -              

242               39                 204               -                242                -                 -                 242                -              

13,121          3,012            7,974            2,135            13,121           2,954             -                 10,168           -              

16,823          3,090            10,951          2,782            16,823           2,954             926                12,943           -              

Asset Expenditure Types Funding Sources

Total Plant and Equipment

Roads

Total Property

Artworks

Plant, machinery and equipment

Fixtures, fittings and furniture

Buildings

Heritage Buildings

Kerb and Channel

Total Infrastructure

Total Capital Works Expenditure

Bridges

Footpaths and cycleways

Drainage

Recreational, leisure and community facilities

Waste management

Parks, open space and streetscapes

2027/28

Library Stock

Computers and telecommunications

Total Buildings
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5a. Targeted performance indicators

Actual Forecast Target Trend

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 +/o/-

Governance 

Consultation and engagement

(Council decisions made and implemented 

with community input)

Satisfaction with community consultation and 

engagement 

Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with the 

consultation and engagement efforts of Council

1 62 62 62 63 64 65 +

Roads

Condition

(sealed local roads are maintained at the 

adopted condition standard)

Sealed local roads below the intervention level

Number of kms of sealed local roads below the 

renewal intervention level set by Council / Kms of 

sealed local roads

2 99.0% 99.0% 99.0% 99.0% 99.0% 99.0% o

Statutory planning

Service standard

(planning application processing and 

decisions are in accordance with 

legislative requirements)

Planning applications decided within the 

relevant required time

Number of planning application decisions made 

within the relevant required time / Number of 

planning application decisions made

3 63.1% 65.0% 65.0% 65.0% 65.0% 65.0% o

Waste management

Waste diversion

(amount of waste diverted from landfill is 

maximised) 

Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill

Weight of recyclables and green organics collected 

from kerbside bins / Weight of garbage, recyclables 

and green organics collected from kerbside bins

4 61.1% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% o

The following tables highlight Council’s current and projected performance across a selection of targeted service and financial performance indicators. These indicators provide a useful 

analysis of Council’s intentions and performance and should be interpreted in the context of the organisation’s objectives.

The targeted performance indicators below are the prescribed performance indicators contained in Schedule 4 of the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020. 

Results against these indicators and targets will be reported in Council’s Performance Statement included in the Annual Report.

Targeted performance indicators - Service

 Indicator Measure

N
o

te
s Target Projections
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Actual Forecast Target Trend

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 +/o/-

Liquidity

Working Capital

(sufficient working capital is available to 

pay bills as and when they fall due)

Current assets compared to current liabilities

Current assets / current liabilities
5 311.7% 238.0% 150.0% 150.0% 150.0% 150.0% o

Obligations

Asset renewal

(assets are renewed as planned)

Asset renewal compared to depreciation

Asset renewal and upgrade expense / Asset 

depreciation

6 107.8% 159.4% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% o

Stability

Rates concentration

(revenue is generated from a range of 

sources)

Rates compared to adjusted underlying revenue

Rate revenue / adjusted underlying revenue
7 43.4% 58.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% o

Efficiency
Expenditure level

(resources are used efficiently in the 

delivery of services)

Expenses per property assessment

Total expenses / no. of property assessments
8 $5,552 $6,010 $5,458 $5,645 $5,696 $5,811 +

Targeted performance indicators - Financial

 Indicator Measure

N
o

te
s Target Projections
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5b. Financial performance indicators

Actual Forecast Target Trend
2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 +/o/-

Operating position

Adjusted underlying result

(an adjusted underlying surplus is 

generated in the ordinary course of 

business)

Adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)

Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit) / Adjusted 

underlying revenue

9 0.1% (0.1%) 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% o

Liquidity

Unrestricted cash

(sufficient cash that is free of restrictions is 

available to pay bills as and when they fall 

due)

Unrestricted cash compared to current 

liabilities

Unrestricted cash / current liabilities

10 (107.5%) 170.4% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% o

Obligations

Loans and borrowings

(level of interest bearing loans and 

borrowings is appropriate to the size and 

nature of Council's activities)

Loans and borrowings compared to rates

Interest bearing loans and borrowings / rate 

revenue

11 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% o

Loans and borrowings

(level of interest bearing loans and 

borrowings is appropriate to the size and 

nature of Council's activities)

Loans and borrowings repayments compared 

to rates

Interest and principal repayments on interest 

bearing loans and borrowings / rate revenue

0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% o

Indebtedness

(level of long term liabilities is appropriate 

to the size and nature of a Council's 

activities)

Non-current liabilities compared to own-source 

revenue

Non-current liabilities / own source revenue

32.3% 32.6% 40.0% 40.0% 40.0% 40.0% o

Stability

Rates effort

(rating level is set based on the 

community's capacity to pay)

Rates compared to property values

Rate revenue / CIV of rateable properties in the 

municipal district

12 0.29% 0.24% 0.26% 0.25% 0.25% 0.25% o

Efficiency

Revenue level

(resources are used efficiently in the 

delivery of services)

Average rate per property assessment

General rates and municipal charges / no. of 

property assessments

13 $2,161 $2,590 $2,668 $2,741 $2,810 $2,880 +

The following table highlights Council’s current and projected performance across a range of key financial performance indicators. These indicators provide a useful analysis of 

Council’s financial position and performance and should be interpreted in the context of the organisation’s objectives.

The financial performance indicators below are the prescribed financial performance indicators contained in Part 3 of Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 

Regulations 2020 . Results against these indicators will be reported in Council’s Performance Statement included in the Annual Report.

 Indicator Measure

N
o

te
s

Target Projections
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Key to Forecast Trend:

Notes to indicators 

Reflects the average rates per property assessments. This is predicted to rise by the CPI forecast from the Department of Treasury and Finance which have historically been a good 

indicator for the Rate Cap.

Corangamite Shire's ongoing road renewal and maintenance program aims to ensure a very low level of roads that are outside intervention levels. 

+ Forecasts improvement in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator

o Forecasts that Council's financial performance/financial position indicator will be steady

 - Forecasts deterioration in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator

5a

1.      Satisfaction with community consultation and engagement 

Corangamite Shire is above the average for Rural Council sector and aims to continue to improve over the 4 year period. 

2.      Sealed local roads below the intervention level 

10.      Unrestricted Cash

The cash not associated to a particular use within Council or a legislative requirement. Council is aiming to maintain a consistent ratio over the 4-year budget.

11.      Debt compared to rates

There are anticipated to be minimal increases in the number of assessments due to the population growth trends, however, CPI will continue to increase expenditure into the future.

3.      Planning applications decided within the relevant required time

The service standard has decreased due to challenges with resources and the complexity of applications. It is anticipated that this will improve into the future as resources come back 

to normal levels along with a change in the delegation policy to improve efficiency.

4.      Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill 

Council has implemented the four bin system as per the State Government policy and will be looking to maintain the current diversion rates with glass not counting towards our diversion .

5.      Working Capital
It is anticipated that Council will remain above the target of 150% over the 4-year budget.

6.      Asset renewal
Council's renewal program is in line with its asset management plans which aims to keep its renewal ratio as close to 100% as possible over the projection period. 

7.      Rates concentration

Reflects extent of reliance on rate revenues to fund all of Council's on-going services. Trend indicates Councils reliance on rate revenue is to slightly increase over time.

8.      Expenditure level

There are currently no borrowings anticipated in the 4-year budget.

12.      Rates effort
Reflects the average rate in the dollar. It is anticipated that this ratio will remain stable over the projection period, however, it is influenced by the movements in property valuations which could have significant fluctuations.

13.     Revenue level

5b

9.      Adjusted underlying result

Council aims to continue to provide core services and meet its objectives from the Council Plan. It is targeted to achieve a breakeven position in this measure over the 4-year budget.
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6. Schedule of Fees and Charges

Description
Unit of measure

GST 

Applied

Statutory / 

Discretionary

Fee 

Units
2023-2024 Fees 2024-2025 Fees % Change

Road Permits

Works on Road Reserve permit application per application No Discretionary $123.75 $128.00 3.43%

Urban vehicle crossing permit application per application No Discretionary $123.75 $128.00 3.43%

Rural vehicle crossing permit application per application No Discretionary $123.75 $128.00 3.43%

Fee for Superload Route on Local Roads Assessment per hour No Discretionary $54.50 $56.15 3.03%

Application permit fee plus all inspection and reinstatement costs where applicable per application No Discretionary 100% 100% 0.00%

Building Fees 

Fees set by Building Regulations 2018

Application for Report and Consent (Section 29A Demolition) - Regulation 36(1) per application No Statutory 5.75 $91.00 $93.90 3.19%

Application for Report and Consent - Regulation 36(2) per application No Statutory 19.61 $310.40 $320.20 3.16%

Request for report on Legal Point of Discharge under regulation 133(2) - Regulation 36(4) per application No Statutory 9.77 $154.70 $159.50 3.10%

Report and Consent for building over an easement under regulation 130 NO FEE UNIT 

SPECIFIED IN REGS.

per application No Statutory 4.6 $72.80 $75.10 3.16%

Fee for lodgement of building permit documents - Regulation 45 per application No Statutory 8.23 $130.30 $134.40 3.15%

Fees for requests for information under regulation 51(1), 51(2) or 51(3) - Reg 52 (Building 

Information Certificate)

per application No Statutory 3.19 $50.70 $52.10 2.76%

State Government Levy - Section 205G Building Act 1993

(the levy paid under this section is paid into the Building account of the Victorian Building Authority 

Fund)

Building Permit Levy payable for every dollar of the cost of building work for which a permit is 

sought when cost of building work is over $10,000

per application No Statutory 0.128% of the cost of building work 0.128% of the cost of building work

Building Permit Applications for Domestic Works (Class 1 and 10) Fees for 

Construction/Alteration/Demolition Permits based on value of work

The fee includes: 

(a) the statutory inspections (footings, frame and final) until permit expires 

(b) the processing of the application in accordance with Part 3 of the Building Act 1993
0-$5,000 Yes Discretionary $257.70 $265.45 3.01%

5,001-10,000 Yes Discretionary $653.10 $672.70 3.00%

10,001-25,000 Yes Discretionary $820.80 $845.40 3.00%

25,001-50,000 Yes Discretionary $988.50 $1,018.15 3.00%

50,001-150,000 Yes Discretionary Min. fee $998.40 or value divided 

by 100, whichever is greater

Min. fee $1028.35 or value divided 

by 100, whichever is greater

150,001-250,000 Yes Discretionary value divided by 100 or by quote value divided by 100 or by quote

250,001-500,000 Yes Discretionary value divided by 100 or by quote value divided by 100 or by quote

500,001+ Yes Discretionary by quotation by quotation

This appendix presents the fees and charges of a statutory/non-statutory nature which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2024/25.

Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in Council's policy or legislation.

CORANGAMITE SHIRE COUNCIL
Budgeted Fees and Charges Schedule for the Financial Year 2024-2025

All Charges include GST where applicable
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Description
Unit of measure

GST 

Applied

Statutory / 

Discretionary

Fee 

Units
2023-2024 Fees 2024-2025 Fees % Change

Building Permit Applications for Commercial Works (Class 2 to 9) Fees for 

Construction/Alteration/Demolition Permits based on value of work

The fee includes: 

(a) the statutory inspections (footings, frame and final) until permit expires 

(b) the processing of the application in accordance with Part 3 of the Building Act 1993
0-$5,000 Yes Discretionary $257.70 $265.45 3.01%

5,001-10,000 Yes Discretionary $779.40 $802.80 3.00%

10,001-25,000 Yes Discretionary $988.50 $1,018.15 3.00%

25,001-50,000 Yes Discretionary $1,468.70 $1,512.75 3.00%

50,001-150,000 Yes Discretionary Min. fee $1487.20 or value divided 

by 100, whichever is greater

Min. fee $1531.80 or value divided 

by 100, whichever is greater

150,001-250,000 Yes Discretionary value divided by 100 or by quote value divided by 100 or by quote

250,001-500,000 Yes Discretionary value divided by 100 or by quote value divided by 100 or by quote

500,001+ Yes Discretionary by quotation by quotation

Other Building Fees

Historical Building Permit Search (3-7 days) per permit Yes Discretionary $135.60 $139.65 2.99%

Historical Building Permit URGENT Search (1-2 days) per permit Yes Discretionary $405.70 $417.85 2.99%

For each inspection additional to statutory inspections included in building permit application fee per inspection Yes Discretionary $280.50 $288.90 2.99%

Administration fee for assessing and processing lapsed building permits per inspection Yes Discretionary $280.50 $288.90 2.99%

Erection of a fence (if value of work is less than $5,000 otherwise use fee schedule for building 

permit applications)

per application Yes Discretionary $212.20 $218.55 2.99%

Essential Services Inspections per request Yes Discretionary 300 max or by quote 300 max or by quote

Inspection fees for Private Building Surveyors per inspection plus travel Yes Discretionary 300 max or by quote 300 max or by quote

Extension of Time Request per request Yes Discretionary $146.00 $150.40 3.01%

Application to Amend Plans per application Yes Discretionary $146.00 $150.40 3.01%

Title Search per application Yes Discretionary $64.60 $66.55 3.02%

POPE permits per application Yes Discretionary $700.70 $721.70 3.00%

Temporary Structures Permit per application Yes Discretionary $569.30 $586.40 3.00%

Resolution of works without a building permit - based on the cost of works and multiplying fee that 

would have been charged under building application fees by 2

Yes Discretionary Multiply fee that would have been 

charged 

under building application fees by 2

Multiply fee that would have been 

charged 

under building application fees by 2

Swimming Pool/Spa Registrations per request Yes Statutory $30.00 $34.19 13.97%

Community Relations

Colour Printing

A4 A4 Single sided Yes Discretionary $1.40 $1.45 3.57%

A4 Double Sided A4 Double sided Yes Discretionary $1.85 $1.90 2.70%

A3 A3 Single  sided Yes Discretionary $1.85 $1.90 2.70%

A3 Double Sided A3 Double sided Yes Discretionary $2.50 $2.60 4.00%

Laminating

A4 Per page Yes Discretionary $0.85 $0.90 5.88%

A3 Per page Yes Discretionary $1.10 $1.15 4.55%

Photocopying

Black & White A4 Single sided Yes Discretionary $0.85 $0.90 5.88%

Black & White A3 Single  sided Discretionary $1.10 $1.15 4.55%

Black & White A4 Double sided Yes Discretionary $1.10 $1.15 4.55%

Black & White A3 Double sided Yes Discretionary $1.40 $1.45 3.57%
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Description
Unit of measure

GST 

Applied

Statutory / 

Discretionary

Fee 

Units
2023-2024 Fees 2024-2025 Fees % Change

Theatre Royal movie ticket prices

Adult per person Yes Discretionary $0.00 $0.00

Child (under 15 years of age) per person Yes Discretionary $0.00 $0.00

YAK

1 child per session Yes Discretionary $6.50 $6.70 3.08%

2 children per session Yes Discretionary $11.50 $12.00 4.35%

3 children per session Yes Discretionary $15.50 $16.00 3.23%

IMMUNISATIONS

Influenza per encounter yes Discretionary N/A $18.00 New

Boostrix per encounter yes Discretionary N/A $40.00 New

Chickenpox per encounter yes Discretionary N/A $60.00 New

Meningococcal ACWY per encounter yes Discretionary N/A $70.00 New

Meningococcal B (Bexsero) per encounter yes Discretionary N/A $125.50 New

REGISTRATIONS

Other - Other Health 

Transfer of Registration per application No Discretionary 50% 50% 0.00%

Registered Premises (eg: Hairdressers, Skin Penetration, etc.) per application No Discretionary $167.00 $173.00 3.59%

Hairdressers (only providing hairdressing or non skin penetration cosmetics services) Single Fee Ongoing No Discretionary $249.00 $257.00 3.21%

Solicitors or Purchasers (Requests or Purchase) 10 Business Days per application No Discretionary $260.00 $268.00 3.08%

Solicitors or Purchasers (Requests or Purchase) 5 Business Days or less per application Discretionary $364.00 $375.00 3.02%

New Premises Fitout Inspections prior to registration (includes 2 inspections prior to registration) per application No Discretionary 50% 50% 0.00%

Other - Other Health Registered Premises

Class 1 - High per application No Discretionary $349.00 $360.00 3.15%

Class 2 - Medium per application No Discretionary $312.00 $322.00 3.21%

Class 2 - Medium Community Groups (not for profit) per application No Discretionary $238.00 $246.00 3.36%

Class 3a- Home based condiments and B&Bs per application No Discretionary $238.00 $246.00 3.36%

Class 3 - Low per application No Discretionary $167.00 $173.00 3.59%

Class 4 - No Fee (except water transport) per application No Discretionary nil nil

Community Group Fund Raising BBQ's and Sausage Sizzles  per application No Discretionary nil nil

Class 2-3 Community Groups Fund Raising (3 or less times per year) per application No Discretionary nil nil

Water Transport Vehicles per application No Discretionary $167.00 $173.00 3.59%

Late registration fee (all categories and registrations) per late registration No Discretionary $66.00 $68.00 3.03%

Follow-up Inspection fees (all categories and registrations) per inspection No Discretionary $120.00 $124.00 3.33%

(Note: Fees will be adjusted by 25% on a quarterly basis for new registrations ) Quarterly pro-rata Quarterly pro-rata

Prescribed premises - Prescribed Accommodation 

Caravan Parks - 0-25 sites per inspection No Statutory 17 $269.10 $277.60 3.16%

Caravan Parks - 26-50 sites per inspection No Statutory 34 $538.20 $555.20 3.16%

Caravan Parks - 51-100 sites per inspection No Statutory 68 $1,076.40 $1,110.40 3.16%

Caravan Parks - 101-150 sites per inspection No Statutory 103 $1,630.50 $1,682.00 3.16%

Caravan Parks - 151-200 sites per inspection No Statutory 137 $2,168.30 $2,237.20 3.18%

Caravan Parks - 201-250 sites per inspection No Statutory 171 $2,706.90 $2,792.40 3.16%

Caravan Parks - 251-300 sites per inspection No Statutory 205 $3,245.20 $3,347.70 3.16%

B & B’s, Self Contained, Camps, Hotels & Motels per application No Discretionary $259.00 $267.00 3.09%

Labour Hire Accommodation per application No Discretionary $0.00 $267.00 New

Water Sampling Fee (Collection and Sample) per sample Discretionary $238.00 $246.00 3.36%
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Description
Unit of measure

GST 

Applied

Statutory / 

Discretionary

Fee 

Units
2023-2024 Fees 2024-2025 Fees % Change

Septic Tank

Minor alteration to OWMS per application No Statutory 37.25 $589.70 $608.30 3.15%

Construct, install or alter OWMS per application No Statutory 48.88 $773.80 $798.20 3.15%

Renewal of permit per application No Statutory 8.31 $30.68 $32.00 4.32%

Transfer a permit per application No Statutory 9.93 $0.00 $0.00

Amend a permit (plumber details only) per application No Statutory 10.38 $0.00 $0.00

Amend a permit per application No Statutory 10.38 $164.30 $169.50 3.16%

Additional Septic Tank Inspections per hour No Statutory 6.12 $96.90 $99.90 3.10%

Assessed - Family Day Care (In Venue)

Fee per hour for 'core hours' (8:00am-6:00pm Monday - Friday excluding public holidays) per hour No Discretionary $12.15 $12.50 2.88%

Fee per hour for 'non-core hours' (outside core hours, weekends and public holidays) per hour No Discretionary $16.75 $17.25 2.99%

Meals 

Breakfast per meal per child No Discretionary Min $0.00 Max $3.54 Min $0.00 Max $3.54

Snack per meal per child No Discretionary Min $0.00 Max $2.39 Min $0.00 Max $2.39

Lunch per meal per child No Discretionary Min $0.00 Max $5.82 Min $0.00 Max $5.82

Dinner per meal per child No Discretionary Min $0.00 Max $8.22 Min $0.00 Max $8.22

Transport (>4cyl vehicle) per km family No Discretionary $1.35 $1.40 3.70%

Transport (<4cyl vehicle) per km family No Discretionary $1.15 $1.20 4.35%

Bad Debts

Any account listed with Council’s debt collectors per debt listed Yes Discretionary $18.10 $18.65 3.04%

Debts listed for collection via Credit Clear per debt listed Discretionary $8.00 $8.25 3.13%

Debt recovery costs - Non magistrates Court per debt listed Discretionary At cost At cost

Transaction fees

Declined Direct Debit fee per declined transaction Yes Discretionary $6.05 $6.25 3.31%

Dishonoured Cheque per dishonoured cheque Yes Discretionary $16.65 $17.15 3.00%

Printing

Plan Printing A3 sheet Yes Discretionary $3.95 $4.05 2.53%

Plan Printing A1 & A2 sheet Yes Discretionary $7.90 $8.15 3.16%

Plan Printing A0 Yes Discretionary $10.40 $10.70 2.88%

Killara Centre

Commercial Hire (private functions, corporate or profit making entities) per day Yes Discretionary $572.00 $590.00 3.15%

Commercial Hire (private functions, corporate or profit making entities) per hour Yes Discretionary $117.00 $120.00 2.56%

Community Hire (members of the community, community groups not undertaking a commercial 

hirer use)

per day Yes Discretionary $304.20 $310.00 1.91%

Community Hire (members of the community, community groups not undertaking a commercial 

hirer use)

per hour Yes Discretionary $67.60 $69.65 3.03%

McCabe Room/Playhouse

Commercial Hire (private functions, corporate or profit making entities) per day Yes Discretionary $392.60 $404.40 3.01%

Commercial Hire (private functions, corporate or profit making entities) per hour Yes Discretionary $83.20 $85.70 3.00%

Community Hire (members of the community, community groups not undertaking a commercial 

hirer use)

per day Yes Discretionary $197.60 $203.55 3.01%

Community Hire (members of the community, community groups not undertaking a commercial 

hirer use)

per hour Yes Discretionary $46.80 $48.20 2.99%
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Description
Unit of measure

GST 

Applied

Statutory / 

Discretionary

Fee 

Units
2023-2024 Fees 2024-2025 Fees % Change

THEATRE KITCHEN

Community hire rate per hour Yes Discretionary $59.80 $61.60 3.01%

Commercial hire rate full day Yes Discretionary $223.60 $230.30 3.00%

THEATRE

Managed by Council - Fees Camperdown Community Centre - Theatre Royal

Commercial Hire (private functions, corporate or profit making entities) - includes use of kitchen, 

tables and chairs

full day Yes Discretionary $826.80 $851.60 3.00%

Community Hire (members of the community, community groups not undertaking a commercial 

hirer use)

full day Yes Discretionary $452.40 $465.95 3.00%

Commercial Hire (private functions, corporate or profit making entities) - includes use of kitchen, 

tables and chairs

per hour Yes Discretionary $156.00 $160.70 3.01%

Community Hire (members of the community, community groups not undertaking a commercial 

hirer use)

per hour Yes Discretionary $83.20 $85.70 3.00%

Set Up Theatre (optional) per booking Yes Discretionary $104.00 $107.10 2.98%

Managed by Council - Fees Camperdown Community Centre - Old Sports Stadium

General Hire - Community per hour Yes Discretionary $57.20 $58.90 2.97%

General Hire - Commercial full day Yes Discretionary $239.20 $246.40 3.01%

Pre-school - Fees 

Three and four year old programs, terms 3 and 4 per child No Discretionary $426.40 $439.20 3.00%

Three and four year old programs, terms 1 and 2 per child No Discretionary $436.80 $449.90 3.00%

Freedom of Information Requests

Freedom of Information request for access to document(s) per request No Statutory 2 $30.60 $32.70 6.86%

Charge for search time hourly rate Yes Statutory 1.5 $23.70 $24.50 3.38%

Charge for supervision per hour No Statutory 1.5 $23.70 $24.50 3.38%

Freedom of Information request report cost per A4 page No Statutory $0.40 $0.40 0.00%

Permits

Permits Local Laws No.1 and No. 2 

(New applications for annual permits are no fee for final quarter- from 1 Oct)

per application No Discretionary $124.00 $128.00 3.23%

Roadside Grazing permit per application No Discretionary $1.00 $1.00 0.00%

Disabled Parking Permit per permit No Discretionary $0.00 $0.00

Droving of Livestock

Application Fee - Non refundable per application No Discretionary $124.00 $128.00 3.23%

Bond per application No Discretionary $1,064.00 $1,096.00 3.01%

Daily Fee - cattle per head No Discretionary $0.244 $0.25 3.00%

Daily Fee - sheep per head No Discretionary $0.070 $0.07 3.00%

Daily Fee - other livestock per head No Discretionary $0.070 $0.07 3.00%

Road Leasing Agreement (Policy) per application No Discretionary $205.00 $212.00 3.41%

Pound fees - Fines Impounding Fees - All other animals, including Poultry and Birds (but 

not dogs or cats)
Sustenance per head per day Yes Discretionary $5.30 $5.50 3.77%

For every head per head No Discretionary $18.10 $18.70 3.31%

Pound Fees - Fines Impounding Fees - Cats

Daily Rate per animal No Discretionary $12.60 $13.00 3.17%

Release Fee per animal No Discretionary $72.30 $74.50 3.04%

Pound Fees - Fines Impounding Fees - Dogs

Daily Rate per animal No Discretionary $12.60 $13.00 3.17%

Release Fee per animal No Discretionary $107.10 $110.40 3.08%
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Description
Unit of measure

GST 

Applied

Statutory / 

Discretionary

Fee 

Units
2023-2024 Fees 2024-2025 Fees % Change

Pound Fees - Fines Impounding Fees - Cattle

Sustenance per head per day Yes Discretionary $18.10 $18.70 3.31%

First head per head No Discretionary $107.10 $110.40 3.08%

Additional head per head No Discretionary $18.10 $18.70 3.31%

Pound Fees - Fines Impounding Fees - Goats and Pigs

Sustenance per head per day Yes Discretionary $12.60 $13.00 3.17%

First head per head No Discretionary $57.40 $59.20 3.14%

Additional head per head No Discretionary $18.10 $18.70 3.31%

Pound Fees - Fines Impounding Fees - Horses

Sustenance per head per day Yes Discretionary $18.10 $18.70 3.31%

First head per head No Discretionary $107.10 $110.40 3.08%

Additional head per head No Discretionary $18.10 $18.70 3.31%

Pound Fees - Fines Impounding Fees - Sheep

Sustenance per head per day Yes Discretionary $7.30 $7.60 4.11%

First head per head No Discretionary $36.60 $37.70 3.01%

Additional head per head No Discretionary $7.30 $7.60 4.11%

Pound Fees - Transport costs Other Ranger Services

Transport – total transport costs incurred per circumstance Yes Discretionary 100% 100% 0.00%

Registrations - Dog Fees  (New Animals 50% from 1 August. No fee from 1 November)

Full Registration  Includes Govt. levy plus adjustments per animal No Discretionary $112.00 $116.00 3.57%

Concession (not applicable to Menacing, Dangerous and Restricted breed) per animal No Discretionary 50% 50% 0.00%

Reduced fee Includes  Govt. levy per animal No Discretionary $37.00 $38.00 2.70%

Menacing, Dangerous and Restricted Breeds  Includes Govt. levy per animal No Discretionary $209.00 $216.00 3.35%

Reduced fee- registered foster carer per animal No Discretionary $8.00 $8.00 0.00%

Assistance and guide dogs per animal No Discretionary $0.00

Registrations - Cat Fees (New Animals 50% from 1 August. No fee from 1 November)

Full Registration  Includes Govt. levy per animal No Discretionary $68.00 $71.00 4.41%

Concession per animal No Discretionary 50% 50%%

Reduced fee Includes Govt. levy per animal No Discretionary $22.00 $23.00 4.55%

Reduced fee- registered foster carer per animal No Discretionary $8.00 $8.00 0.00%

Registrations - Registration Fees Registration

Animal business - Includes Govt. levy (2021 $20) per site No Discretionary $260.00 $268.00 3.08%

Equipment Hire

Animal Trap hire per week No Discretionary $0.00 $0.00

Microchipping

Microchipping per animal No Discretionary N/A $84.00 New

Local Laws

Charged at hourly rate applicable for Ranger, Vehicle, Transport per hour Yes Discretionary 100% 100% 0.00%

Inspections per 1/4 hour Yes Discretionary 100% 100% 0.00%

Infringement Notices Offences and Codes - Control of Livestock Violations Other Ranger 

Services

Permits - Inspections Local Law

Inspections and Reinstatements per opening Yes Discretionary 100% 100% 0.00%

Permits - Inspections Other Ranger Services

Vehicle Charge – charged at rate as costed out against the unit per hour Yes Discretionary 100% 100% 0.00%

Assessed - Mobile Child Care 

Session per hour Per hour per child No Discretionary $13.40 $13.80 2.99%

Heritage - Clock Tower Visit

Adult per person Yes Discretionary $2.70 $2.80 3.70%

Concession and Students per person Yes Discretionary $1.55 $1.60 3.23%

Child per person Yes Discretionary $1.05 $1.10 4.76%
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Description
Unit of measure

GST 

Applied

Statutory / 

Discretionary

Fee 

Units
2023-2024 Fees 2024-2025 Fees % Change

Planning Fees

Fees for amendment to Planning Scheme (Regulation 6)

Stage 1: a) Considering a request to amend a planning scheme; and b) taking action required by 

Division 1 of Part 3 of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 (the Act); and c) considering any 

submissions which do not seek a change to the amendment; and d) if applicable, abandoning the 

amendment.

per application No Statutory 206 $3,261.00 $3,364.00 3.16%

Stage 2: a) Considering submissions which seek a change to an amendment, and where 

necessary referring the submissions to a panel:

i. up to 10 submissions No Statutory 1021 $16,162.40 $16,672.90 3.16%

ii. 11 to (and including) 20 submissions No Statutory 2040 $32,293.20 $33,313.20 3.16%

iii. submissions that exceed 20 submissions

b) providing assistance to a panel in accordance with Section 158 of the Act; and c) making a 

submission to a panel appointed under Part 8 of the Act at a hearing referred to in section 24(b) of 

the Act; and d) considering the panel’s report in accordance with Section 27 of the Act; and e) 

after considering submission and the panel's report, abandoning the amendment.

Paid to the Planning Authority

No

Statutory 2727

$43,168.40 $44,531.90 3.16%

Stage 3: a) Adopting an amendment or a part of an amendment in accordance with Section 29 of 

the Act; and b) submitting the amendment for approval by the Minister in accordance with Section 

31 of the Act; and c) giving the notice of approval of the amendment required by section 36(2) of 

the Act.

Paid to the Planning Authority

per application No Statutory 32.5 $514.50 $530.70 3.15%

Stage 4: a) Consideration by the Minister of a request to approve the amendment in accordance 

with section 35 of the Act; and b) giving notice of approval of the amendment in accordance with 

section 36(1) of the Act.

Paid to the Minister for Planning (DELWP)

per application No Statutory 32.5 $514.50 $530.70 3.15%

Fees for applications for Planning Permits under section 47 of the Planning and 

Environment Act 1987 (Regulation 9)
Use Only per application No Statutory 89 $1,408.90 $1,453.40 3.16%

To develop land or to use and develop land for a single dwelling per lot or to undertake 

development ancillary to the use of the land for a single dwelling per lot if the estimated cost of the 

development included in the application is:

$0 - $10,000 per application No Statutory 13.5 $213.70 $220.50 3.18%

$10,001 - $100,000 per application No Statutory 42.5 $672.80 $694.00 3.15%

$100,001 - $500,000 per application No Statutory 87 $1,377.20 $1,420.70 3.16%

$500,001 - $1,000,000 per application No Statutory 94 $1,488.00 $1,535.00 3.16%

$1,000,001 - $2,000,000 per application No Statutory 101 $1,598.80 $1,649.30 3.16%

If cost for a single dwelling is greater than $2,000,000 the fee will be calculated by adding fee from 

other development plus half of the use fee if applicable.Vic Smart application if the estimated cost of the development is:

$0 - $10,000 per application No Statutory 13.5 $213.70 $220.50 3.18%

$10,001 + per application No Statutory 29 $459.10 $473.60 3.16%

Vic Smart application to subdivide or consolidate land per application No Statutory 13.5 $213.70 $220.50 3.18%

Vic Smart application (other) per application No Statutory 13.5 $213.70 $220.50 3.18%
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To develop land (other than for a single dwelling or to subdivide) if the cost of the development is:

$0 - $100,000 per application No Statutory 77.5 $1,226.80 $1,265.60 3.16%

$100,001 - $1,000,000 per application No Statutory 104.5 $1,654.20 $1,706.50 3.16%

$1,000,001 - $5,000,000 per application No Statutory 230.5 $3,648.80 $3,764.10 3.16%

$5,000,001 - $15,000, 000 per application No Statutory 587.5 $9,300.10 $9,593.90 3.16%

$15,000,001 - $50,000,000 per application No Statutory 1732.5 $27,425.50 $28,291.70 3.16%

$50,000,001 + per application No Statutory 3894 $61,642.00 $63,589.00 3.16%

Subdivide existing building per application No Statutory 89 $1,408.90 $1,453.40 3.16%

Subdivide land into two lots per application No Statutory 89 $1,408.90 $1,453.40 3.16%

Realignment or consolidation per application No Statutory 89 $1,408.90 $1,453.40 3.16%

Subdivide land into three or more Lots per 100 lots created No Statutory 89 $1,408.90 $1,453.40 3.16%

A permit to: a) create, vary or remove a restriction within the meaning of the Subdivision Act 1988; 

or b) create or remove a right of way; or c) create, vary or remove an easement other than a right 

of way; or d) vary or remove a condition in the nature of an easement (other than right of way) in a 

Crown grant

per application No Statutory 89 $1,408.90 $1,453.40 3.16%

A permit not otherwise provided for in this regulation per application No Statutory 89 $1,408.90 $1,453.40 3.16%

Fees for applications to amend planning permits under section 72 of the Planning and 

Environment Act 1987 (Regulation 11)

No

To amend a permit to change the use of the land allowed by the permit or to allow a new use per application No Statutory 89 $1,408.90 $1,453.40 3.16%

To amend a permit (other than a permit to use and/or develop land for a single dwelling per lot) to 

change a statement of what the permit allows or change any or all conditions which apply to the 

permit

per application No Statutory 89 $1,408.90 $1,453.40 3.16%

To amend a permit to use and/or develop land for a single dwelling per lot or to undertake 

ancillary development if the estimated cost is:

No

$0 - $10,000 per application No Statutory 13.5 $213.70 $220.50 3.18%

$10,001 - $100,000 per application No Statutory 42.5 $672.80 $694.00 3.15%

$10,001 - $500,000 per application No Statutory 87 $1,377.20 $1,420.70 3.16%

$500,001 - $2,000,000 per application No Statutory 94 $1,488.00 $1,535.00 3.16%

Amendment to a Vic Smart permit if the estimated cost of development is: No

$0 - $100,000 per application No Statutory 13.5 $213.70 $220.50 3.18%

$10,001 + per application No Statutory 29 $459.10 $473.60 3.16%

Vic Smart permit to subdivide or consolidate land per application No Statutory 13.5 $213.70 $220.50 3.18%

Amendment to a Vic Smart permit (other) per application No Statutory 13.5 $213.70 $220.50 3.18%

To amend a permit to develop land (other than a permit to use and/or develop land for a single 

dwelling per lot) if the estimated cost is:

$0 - $100,000 per application No Statutory 77.5 $1,226.80 $1,265.60 3.16%

$100,001 - $1,000,000 per application No Statutory 104.5 $1,654.20 $1,706.50 3.16%

$1,000,001 + per application No Statutory 230.5 $3,648.80 $3,764.10 3.16%

Subdivide an existing building per application No Statutory 89 $1,408.90 $1,453.40 3.16%

Subdivide land into two lots per application No Statutory 89 $1,408.90 $1,453.40 3.16%

Realignment or consolidation per application No Statutory 89 $1,408.90 $1,453.40 3.16%

Subdivide land into three or more Lots per 100 lots created No Statutory 89 $1,408.90 $1,453.40 3.16%

To amend a permit to: a) create, vary or remove a restriction within the meaning of the 

Subdivision Act 1988; or b) create or remove a right of way; or c) create, vary or remove an 

easement other than a right of way; or d) vary or remove a condition in the nature of an easement 

(other than right of way) in a Crown grant.

per application No Statutory 89 $1,408.90 $1,453.40 3.16%

An amendment to a permit not otherwise provided for in this regulation per application No Statutory 89 $1,408.90 $1,453.40 3.16%
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Other Statutory Planning Fees

Requesting the Minister to prepare an amendment to a planning scheme exempted from the 

requirements referred to in section 20(4) of the Act

per application No Statutory 270 $4,274.10 $4,409.10 3.16%

Requesting the Minister to prepare an amendment to a planning scheme exempted from certain 

requirements prescribed under section 20A of the Act

per application No Statutory 65 $1,029.00 $1,061.50 3.16%

For combined applications per application No Statutory Sum of the highest of the fees 

which would have applied if 

separate applications were made 

and 50% of each of the other fees 

which would have applied if 

separate applications had been 

made.

Sum of the highest of the fees 

which would have applied if 

separate applications were made 

and 50% of each of the other fees 

which would have applied if 

separate applications had been 

made.

Amendment to an application under section 57A(3) of the Act after notice is given (Regulation 12): 

a) for an application for a permit

b) for an application to amend a permit

c) If an application to amend an application has the effect of changing the class of that permit to a 

new class, having a higher application fee set out in the tables to regulation 9 or 11, the applicant 

must pay an additional fee being the difference between the original class of permit and the 

amended class of permit.

per application No Statutory 40% of the application fee for that 

class of permit set out in the tables 

at regulations 9 or 11.

40% of the application fee for that 

class of permit set out in the tables 

at regulations 9 or 11.

For combined application to amend permit per application No Statutory Sum of the highest of the fees 

which would have applied if 

separate applications were made 

and 50% of each of the other fees 

which would have applied if 

separate applications had been 

made.

Sum of the highest of the fees 

which would have applied if 

separate applications were made 

and 50% of each of the other fees 

which would have applied if 

separate applications had been 

made.
For a certificate of compliance per application No Statutory 22 $348.30 $359.30 3.16%

Amend or end an agreement under section 173 of the Act per application No Statutory 44.5 $704.40 $726.70 3.17%

Application for planning certificate (S198 of the Act) - Regulation 14:

a) application not processed electronically per application No Statutory 1.5 $23.70 $24.50 3.38%

b) electronically processed per application No Statutory $0.00 $0.00

Where the Planning Scheme specifies that the matter must be done to the satisfaction of the 

responsible authority, Minister, public authority or municipal council - Regulation 18

per application No Statutory 22 $348.30 $359.30 3.16%

Subdivision (Fees) Regulations 2016

Application to certify plan and for statement of compliance per application No Statutory 11.8 $186.80 $192.70 3.16%

Fee for alteration of plan per application No Statutory 7.5 $118.70 $122.50 3.20%

Amendment to certified plan per application No Statutory 9.5 $150.40 $155.10 3.12%

Check engineering plans per application No Statutory N/A 0.75% of the estimated cost of 

constructing the works proposed 

on the engineering plan

New

Engineering plan prepared by Council per application No Statutory N/A 3.5% of the estimated cost of 

constructing the works proposed 

on the engineering plan

New

Supervision of works per application No Statutory N/A 2.5% of the estimated cost of 

constructing the works

New
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Fees for applications - Regulation 6

Discretionary Planning Fees

Historical planning permit search (3-7 days) per application Yes Discretionary $136.60 $140.70 3.00%

Historical planning permit URGENT search (1-2 days) per application Yes Discretionary $274.30 $282.55 3.01%

Extension of Time Request - First request Per application Yes Discretionary $350.90 $361.45 3.01%

Extension of Time Request - Second request Per application Yes Discretionary $700.70 $721.70 3.00%

Extension of Time Request - Any subsequent request Per application Yes Discretionary $1,402.50 $1,444.60 3.00%

Secondary consent application - VicSmart Per application Yes Discretionary N/A $150.40 New

Secondary consent application Per application Yes Discretionary $146.00 $250.00 71.23%

Written information requests per request Yes Discretionary $72.30 $74.45 2.97%

Notification signage per sign Yes Discretionary $133.50 $137.50 3.00%

Notification costs base charge Yes Discretionary $47.60 $49.05 3.05%

Notification costs for over 10 letters per letter >10 Yes Discretionary $4.70 $4.85 3.19%

Section 173 Agreement review by Solicitor (if required at Councils discretion) per application Yes Discretionary at cost at cost

Advertising - Warrnambool Standard per advertisement Discretionary $348.80 $359.25 3.00%

Advertising - WD News per advertisement Discretionary $200.80 $206.80 2.99%

Private Works

Direct cost and overhead recovery plus margin % of cost Yes Discretionary 20.00% 20.00% 0.00%

Additional Park Mowing Per request Yes Discretionary $196.55 $202.45 3.00%

Land Information Certificates

Land Information Certificates each No Statutory $27.80 $29.70 6.83%

Land Information Certificates - Urgent request each No Discretionary $95.70 N

Provision of sales data yearly Yes Discretionary $249.60 $257.10 3.00%

Recreation Equipment Hire Small Marquee / BBQ

Council Organised Events per day Yes Discretionary $0.00 $0.00

Commercial Hirers per day Yes Discretionary $125.00 $128.00 2.40%

Not for Profit Community Groups per day Yes Discretionary $0.00 $0.00

Senior Citizen Centre - Activity Community Activities – Dining Room

Commercial Hirers & Government Depts. - Full Day full day Yes Discretionary $171.60 $176.75 3.00%

Community Hirers & Government Depts. - Half Day half day Yes Discretionary $86.30 $88.90 3.01%

Single Bookings - Full Day full day Yes Discretionary $56.15 $57.85 3.03%

Single Bookings - Half Day half day Yes Discretionary $29.10 $29.95 2.92%

Regular Users   (per year) monthly users Yes Discretionary $0.00 $0.00

Regular Users   (per year) weekly users Yes Discretionary $0.00 $0.00

Senior Citizen Centre - Facility Whole Facility

Hourly rate per hour Yes Discretionary $75.00 $77.25 3.00%

Camperdown Community Sports Stadium

Stadium Court 1 (per hour) per court per hour Yes Discretionary $45.00 $46.35 3.00%

Stadium Court 2 (per hour) per court per hour Yes Discretionary $45.00 $46.35 3.00%

Single Session Programming (Fitkids, alternative sports run by Council eg. Pickleball, volleyball) per program Yes Discretionary $5.00 $5.15 3.00%

School Holiday Programming Session (Minimum 2 hours) per program (Min 2 hours) Yes Discretionary $10.00 $10.30 3.00%

Timboon Sporting Centre

Stadium Court 1 (per hour) per court per hour Yes Discretionary $45.00 $46.35 3.00%

Program Room (per hour) per room per hour Yes Discretionary $30.00 $30.90 3.00%

Squash Court 1 (per hour) per court per hour Yes Discretionary $15.00 $15.45 3.00%

Squash Court 2 (per hour) per court per hour Yes Discretionary $15.00 $15.45 3.00%

Gym Memberships (Monthly) per month Yes Discretionary $50.00 $51.50 3.00%

Gym Memberships (Casual) per visit Yes Discretionary $10.00 $10.30 3.00%

Single Session Programming (Fitkids, alternative sports run by Council eg. Pickleball, volleyball) per program Yes Discretionary $5.00 $5.15 3.00%

School Holiday Programming Session (Minimum 2 hours) per program (Min 2 hours) Yes Discretionary $10.00 $10.30 3.00%
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Swimming Pools - Managed by Contractor for Council

Child per child Yes Discretionary $4.20 $4.35 3.57%

Adult per person Yes Discretionary $5.20 $5.35 2.88%

Family (defined 2 adults and children < 18) per family Yes Discretionary $15.50 $15.95 2.90%

School Swim (Non Members) per person Yes Discretionary $2.90 $3.00 3.45%

Day Hire per day Yes Discretionary $225.00 $231.75 3.00%

Season Ticket - Child per season Yes Discretionary $85.00 $87.55 3.00%

Season Ticket - Adult per season Yes Discretionary $95.00 $97.85 3.00%

Season Ticket - Family (defined 2 adults and children < 18) per season Yes Discretionary $185.00 $190.55 3.00%

Landfill - General Industrial Category

Price per Tonnage per tonne Yes Discretionary $279.47 $294.52 5.39%

Large volume rate per tonne Yes Discretionary $252.21 $266.51 5.67%

Bricks and Concrete per tonne Yes Discretionary $17.41 $22.29 28.03%

Cover Material (Clean) per tonne Yes Discretionary $72.00 $73.98

Landfill - General Municipal Category

Price per Tonnage per tonne Yes Discretionary $224.22 $236.53 5.49%

Large volume rate per tonne Yes Discretionary $196.96 $208.53 5.87%

Contaminated Green Waste per tonne Yes Discretionary $224.22 $232.13 3.53%

Landfill - Green Waste and Kitchen Organics

Price per Tonnage per tonne Yes Discretionary $103.79 $106.64 2.75%

Large volume rate per tonne Yes Discretionary $75.82 $82.30 8.55%

Contaminated Green Waste per tonne Yes Discretionary $224.22 $232.13 3.53%

Transfer Stations - General Industrial Category

Price per Tonnage per tonne Yes Discretionary $324.92 $336.82 3.66%

Bag per unit Yes Discretionary $7.80 $8.10 3.85%

Car boot/wheelie bin per unit Yes Discretionary $12.20 $12.70 4.10%

Level Trailer/Ute per trailer Yes Discretionary $48.80 $50.60 3.69%

Heaped Trailer/Ute per trailer/Ute Yes Discretionary $73.20 $75.80 3.55%

Level Tandem Trailer per trailer Yes Discretionary $78.00 $80.90 3.72%

Heaped Tandem Trailer per trailer Yes Discretionary $126.80 $131.40 3.63%

Light Uncompacted (eg Uncompactable Foams) per cubic meter Yes Discretionary $279.47 $290.11 3.81%

Uncompacted per cubic meter Yes Discretionary $48.80 $50.60 3.69%

Compacted per cubic meter Yes Discretionary $97.50 $101.10 3.69%

Transfer Stations - General Municipal Category

Price per Tonnage per tonne Yes Discretionary $269.67 $278.83 3.40%

Bag per unit Yes Discretionary $6.50 $6.70 3.08%
Car boot/wheelie bin per unit Yes Discretionary $10.20 $10.50 2.94%
Level Trailer/Ute per trailer Yes Discretionary $40.50 $41.70 2.96%
Heaped Trailer/Ute per trailer/Ute Yes Discretionary $60.70 $62.80 3.46%
Level Tandem Trailer per trailer Yes Discretionary $64.80 $67.00 3.40%
Heaped Tandem Trailer per trailer Yes Discretionary $105.20 $108.80 3.42%
Uncompacted per cubic meter Yes Discretionary $40.50 $41.90 3.46%
Compacted per cubic meter Yes Discretionary $81.00 $83.70 3.33%

Transfer Stations - Green Waste and Kitchen Organics 

Price per Tonnage per tonne Yes Discretionary $129.08 $132.63 2.75%

Bag per unit Yes Discretionary $4.20 $4.40 4.76%

Car boot/wheelie bin per unit Yes Discretionary $6.50 $6.80 4.62%

Level Trailer/Ute per trailer Yes Discretionary $25.90 $26.70 3.09%

Heaped Trailer/Ute per trailer/Ute Yes Discretionary $38.80 $40.00 3.09%

Level Tandem Trailer per trailer Yes Discretionary $41.40 $42.70 3.14%

Heaped Tandem Trailer per trailer Yes Discretionary $67.20 $69.50 3.42%

Uncompacted per cubic meter Yes Discretionary $26.00 $26.90 3.46%

Compacted per cubic meter Yes Discretionary $51.80 $53.50 3.28%
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Landfill and Transfer Stations- Recycling

Price per Tonnage per tonne Yes Discretionary $220.00 $237.35 7.89%

Bag per unit Yes Discretionary $3.00 $3.80 26.67%

Car boot/wheelie bin per unit Yes Discretionary $4.60 $6.00 30.43%

Level Trailer/Ute per trailer Yes Discretionary $18.00 $23.80 32.22%

Heaped Trailer/Ute per trailer/Ute Yes Discretionary $27.00 $35.70 32.22%

Level Tandem Trailer per trailer Yes Discretionary $29.00 $38.00 31.03%

Heaped Tandem Trailer per trailer Yes Discretionary $47.00 $61.80 31.49%

Uncompacted per cubic meter Yes Discretionary $18.00 $23.80 32.22%

Compacted per cubic meter Yes Discretionary $36.50 $47.50 30.14%

Dead Animal Composting

Dogs/Cats/Sheep per animal Yes Discretionary $10.30 $10.70 3.88%

Yearling per animal Yes Discretionary $25.05 $25.90 3.39%

Heifer/Alpaca per animal Yes Discretionary $41.90 $43.20 3.10%

Cow/bulls and horses per animal Yes Discretionary $93.20 $96.00 3.00%

Steel and Waste Oil Municipal Category

Steel Yes Discretionary $0.00 $0.00

Gas Bottles each Yes Discretionary $15.00 $15.50 3.33%

Used motor oil Yes Discretionary $0.00 $0.00

Silage Wrap (Plasback bags)

Clean per bag Yes Discretionary N/A N/A

Contaminated per bag Yes Discretionary N/A N/A

Mattresses

Single Mattress per unit Yes Discretionary $28.00 $36.50 30.36%

Double Mattress per unit Yes Discretionary $45.00 $47.00 4.44%

E-Waste Recycling 

Small Items per unit Yes Discretionary $0.00 $0.00

Medium Items per unit Yes Discretionary $0.00 $0.00

Large per unit Yes Discretionary $0.00 $0.00

Waste Management Charges

Waste Management Charge (Residential) Annual per service No Discretionary $411.00 $433.00 5.35%

Kerbside Collection Waste 120l (Schools and Businesses) Annual per service No Discretionary $170.00 $181.00 6.47%

Kerbside Collection Waste 240l (Schools and Businesses) Annual per service No Discretionary $274.55 $285.00 3.81%

Kerbside Collection Organics (Schools and Businesses) Annual per service No Discretionary $125.85 $130.00 3.30%

Kerbside Collection Recycling (Schools and Businesses) Annual per service No Discretionary $122.70 $127.00 3.50%

Kerbside Collection Glass (Schools and Businesses) Annual per service No Discretionary N/A $86.00

Kerbside Collection Waste 120l (Community Groups) Annual per service No Discretionary $98.80 $102.00 3.24%

Kerbside Collection Waste 240l (Community Groups) Annual per service No Discretionary $145.60 $150.00 3.02%

Kerbside Collection Organics (Community Groups) Annual per service No Discretionary $89.45 $92.50 3.41%

Kerbside Collection Recycle (Community Groups) Annual per service No Discretionary $82.15 $85.00 3.47%

Kerbside Collection Glass (Community Groups) Annual per service No Discretionary N/A $47.00

Replacement Kitchen Organics Bags Per Roll Yes Discretionary $6.85 $7.00 2.19%

Replacement Kitchen Organics Bin Per Caddy  Yes Discretionary $17.05 $17.50 2.64%

Replacement Kerbside Waste Bin (120l) Per Bin Yes Discretionary $90.40 $77.00 -14.82%

Replacement Kerbside Recycling Waste Bin (240l) Per Bin Yes Discretionary $96.70 $82.00 -15.20%

Replacement Kerbside Green Waste Bin (240l) Per Bin Yes Discretionary $96.70 $82.00 -15.20%

Cobden - Airfield

Commercial Operators - unlimited use per year Yes Discretionary $315.00 $324.45 3.00%

Loading Pad per landing Yes Discretionary N/A $13.00 New
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9.2 Council Plan Review and Annual Action Plan 2024-2025

9.2 Council Plan Review and Annual Action Plan 2024-2025

Directorate: Civic Support
Author: David Rae, Chief Executive Officer
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments:
1. Annual Action Plan 2024-2025 [9.2.1 - 7 pages]
  

Declaration
Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Summary
It is good governance practice for Council to regularly review its four-year Council 
Plan. Council historically adopts an Annual Action Plan for each budget year. The 
Annual Action plan sets out the actions and activities that will be undertaken that 
year to support implementation of the Council Plan.

Introduction
The Council Plan 2021-2025 was adopted by Council in June 2021. The Council 
Plan sets the broad strategic direction for the Council over a four-year period. While 
the new Local Government Act 2020 no longer requires Council to have an annual 
plan it is considered good practice to do so.

The Annual Action Plan 2024-2025 is a key document that demonstrates what 
actions and activities will be undertaken in the financial year. The Annual Action Plan 
has been developed concurrently with the Budget. The Annual Action Plan 2024-
2025 provides an important means for tracking progress in delivering the Council 
Plan.
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Issues
The Council Plan 2021-2025 includes:

1. A vision:  A connected and thriving community. 
2. A mission statement:  We will foster opportunities, celebrate our identity 

and lifestyle, and provide high quality and responsive services. 
3. The values of Council:  Teamwork, Integrity and Respect. 
4. Five major themes containing a range of objectives and strategies that 

describe how the objectives will be achieved. The themes consist of:
i. A Connected Community
ii. A Thriving Community
iii. A Healthy, Active and Resilient Community
iv. Improving Our Environment
v. Community Leadership.

A review of the Council Plan has been undertaken with Councillors. The consensus 
was that the plan remains current and relevant. The Themes reflect the key priorities 
of the Council and there is a strong alignment between the themes and development 
of the annual action plan and budget, as well as strong alignment with the 
Corangamite Shire community vision.

The Annual Action Plan has been developed concurrently with the Council budget. 
The Annual Action Plan sets out approximately 61 actions that all relate to the 
themes and strategies contained in the Council Plan. The Annual Actions include a 
wide range of activities to be undertaken, including:

• Advocacy actions, for example advocacy for improvements to State 
Government managed roads, roadside weed control and improvements to 
telecommunications.

• Completion of Family & Children’s Services Early Years Plan and 
commencement of implementation.

• Action related to economic development including the implementation of 
the Grow and Prosper Corangamite Framework. 

• Delivery of key capital works projects including town Structure Plans and 
new footpaths. 

• Preparation for an incoming Council post October 2024 election including 
development of a new Council Plan and Community Vision refresh.

Regular reports to Council on progress in implementing the Annual Action Plan will 
occur and the Plan is an important means by which Council can demonstrate how it 
is progressing in implementing its Council Plan.
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Policy and Legislative Context
Council is required by section 90 of the Local Government Act 2020 to prepare and 
adopt a four-year Council Plan by 31 October in the year following a general 
election. In developing the Council Plan, Council is required to apply the strategic 
planning principles outlined in section 89 of the Act, including addressing the 
Community Vision which informed the Plan.

Internal / External Consultation
The Annual Action Plan was developed concurrently with the budget and a number 
of briefing sessions were held with Councillors in relation to the Annual Action Plan’s 
development.

Financial and Resource Implications
Projects identified within the Annual Action Plan have been included in the Draft 
Budget, as such there should be no additional resource implications.

Options
Council can choose to adopt the Annual Action Plan for 2024-2025 with or without 
changes.

Conclusions
The Council Plan is Council’s key strategic document. A review of the plan has 
shown that changes to the plan are not required and it remains reflective of the 
strategic direction of Council. The Annual Action Plan for 2024-2025 has been 
developed concurrently with the Budget 2024-2025 and it is important for 
demonstrating progress in delivering the Council Plan 2024-2025.

RECOMMENDATION - 9.2

That Council adopt the Annual Action Plan 2024-2025.
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Corangamite Shire
Annual Action Plan

2024 to 2025
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Council Plan Objectives Key Actions

Roads that are fit for purpose Seek funding for an upgrade to Noogee Road for 
heavy vehicle bypass of Terang
Advocate to the State Government for continued 
funding to support arterial road maintenance and 
upgrades

Footpaths that provide access to key 
destinations in our towns

Link to Terang College from the west via Laing 
Street

Tandarook Park Masterplan implementation 
(Footpath)

Improved mobile phone coverage Advocate for improved mobile connectivity for 
Port Campbell, Noorat and Skipton

Digital connectivity that meets the needs of our 
community

Complete implementation of Coastal Connect 
project to increase digital access to services

Investigate public Wi-Fi for Port Campbell public 
spaces

Infrastructure that enables industry and business 
growth

Pursue funding the Camperdown Production 
Precinct

Infrastructure and services that deliver 
population growth and new housing

Review of Council owned and managed 
properties to consider alternate use to encourage 
population attraction and key worker housing

Contemporary library services that are 
accessible to residents

Upgrade of library facades

A range of public and/or active transport options 
for Corangamite Shire residents

Advocate for introduction of electric busses 
including required infrastructure

Access to infrastructure that supports a healthy 
and active lifestyle for our community

Support Skipton Community for enhance 
recreation and community facilities

Implement outcomes of SRV applications

THEME ONE - A CONNECTED COMMUNITY

2
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Council Plan Objectives Key Actions

Facilitating and supporting economic 
development

Implement Grow and Prosper Action Plan

Helping business recover from COVID and 
capitalise on opportunities
More housing and subdivision to cater for 
population growth

Progress key worker housing action plan

Develop unlocking housing program
Arts and culture that is supported and accessible Implement the Creative Industries Action Plan

Advocate for funding of the Stage One of the 
Camperdown Theatre Transformation Project

Engaging with young people and encouraging 
opportunities that retain young people in our 
Shire

Provide traineeship opportunities in a range of 
occupations, which could serve as a ‘gap year’ 
or to upskill local young people for employment 
with Council or other local industries

SYNC strategy implementation

Our young people are encouraged and 
supported to engage in learning

Continue to grow our own early years educators 
through ongoing traineeship programs

Partner with stakeholders to improve vocational 
outcomes for young people

Recognising the vital role agriculture plays within 
the Shire

Implement the Grow Corangamite: Sustaining 
our Agricultural Future strategy

A local tourism industry that is valued and 
recognised for its significant role to the Shire

Complete the Port Campbell Town Centre 
Project
Promote Corangamite as a Cycle Tourism 
destination

Corangamite’s townships are attractive, 
accessible and appealing to visitors and are 
presented in a way in which our residents can be 
proud

Design for Skipton Streetscape improvements in 
line with Structure Plan
Implement first stage of Timboon Urban Design 
Precinct Plan
Implement first stage of township entrance and 
signage strategy

We retain and we grow our population Implement Population Growth and Retention 
Action plan as part of Grow and Prosper 
Framework

Complete development of the Family & 
Children’s Services Early Years 2024-2034 Plan 
and commence implementation

Complete development of the Regional ECEC 
Workforce Plan 2024-2029 and commence 
implementation

THEME TWO - A THRIVING COMMUNITY

3
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Council Plan Objectives Key Actions

Supporting our communities to move on from 
COVID
Improving the health and wellbeing of our 
residents

Continue to support Healthy Well Corangamite 
to improve health and wellbeing outcomes for 
community

Access and inclusion is improved Implement ‘all access’ parking improvements 
program in townships through streetscape 
upgrades

Continue to provide community education 
programs to encourage awareness of access 
and inclusion

Council continues to provide a key role in 
emergency planning and recovery

Seek further funding to undertake high priority 
flood studies and reduce data gaps, identified in 
Stage1 of the Shire Wide Flood Study

Community resilience is improved to allow 
individuals and towns to respond and recover 
from emergencies

Continue to promote 72 hour resilience programs 
and work with three towns to develop improved 
emergency planning

Corangamite residents have access to a range 
of sport and recreation opportunities

Research alternate affordable fee and 
membership options for a range of sports and 
activities

Our community groups and clubs are engaged 
and supported and facilities are fit for purpose

Develop a strategy for facility and club 
development for Soccer

THEME THREE - A HEALTHY, ACTIVE & RESILIENT COMMUNITY

4
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Council Plan Objectives Key Actions

Protecting and improving our built and natural 
environment

Develop an advocacy resource to promote the 
issue of invasive weeds on Regional Roads land

Providing high quality waste services, including 
sustainable management of the regional landfill 
at Naroghid

Investigate the use of sustainable construction 
materials including the use of Council collected 
kerbside glass in civil construction

Capitalising on opportunities created by new 
energy, and minimising impacts on key industry 
sectors, landscape values and natural assets

Advocate for low impact energy storage systems

Reducing the carbon footprint of Council 
operations

Investigate behind meter solar and battery 
systems for Councils highest energy use sites

Helping our community plan and respond to 
climate change

Complete the Council Climate Change Strategy 
and Emissions Reduction Plan

Implement stage 1 actions of the Environment 
and Sustainability Strategy

Piloting the implementation of the United Nations 
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) at the 
local level

Map the 2024-2025 Annual Action Plan against 
the Sustainable Development Goals and 
promote achievements in this area

Prepare a Corangamite Shire Case study for 
submission to the Australian UNSDG portal

THEME FOUR - IMPROVING OUR ENVIRONMENT

5
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Council Plan Objectives Key Actions

Having strong governance practices Complete induction of newly elected members

Complete all requirements of Local Government 
Act following Council election in 2024 including 
review of Community Vision and adoption of a 
new Council Plan

Review Councillor Code of Conduct

Ensuring that we maintain our strong financial 
position 

Update and adopt the Long-Term Financial Plan

Council advocates strongly and respectfully on 
issues that matter to our community

Update advocacy material following Council 
election in October 2024

We listen to and engage with our community Review the 2040 Corangamite Community Vision

We provide a great work environment Provide organisational training to increase 
capability of staff in the use of IT systems and 
software

Develop a health and wellbeing and reward and 
recognition program for staff

Develop and implement organisational 
leadership training plan

Mandatory training in equal opportunity, health 
and safety, conflict of interest, child safe 
standards, information privacy, human rights and 
bullying and harassment completed annually

Develop a workplace accommodation strategy

Working with First Nations people Cultural awareness training with Councillors 
following October 2024 election

Continue to encourage staff to participate in 
Cross Cultural Awareness Training

Continue implementing the Aboriginal 
Participation and Engagement Action Plan

Council promotes best value and value for 
money for its ratepayers

Complete implementation the Coastal Connect 
shared service project

THEME FIVE - COMMUNITY LEADERSHIP

6
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Corangamite Shire Council 

181 Manifold Street
Camperdown VIC

03 5593 7100

shire@corangamite.vic.gov.au
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9.3 Community Satisfaction Survey 2024

9.3 Community Satisfaction Survey 2024

Directorate: Civic Support
Author: Chris Asenjo, Manager Governance and Civic Support
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments:
1. Under Separate Cover - CSS 2024 Corangamite Shire Council Report [9.3.1 - 

109 pages]
  

Declaration
Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – Chris Asenjo

In providing this advice to Council as the Manager Governance and Civic Support, I 
have no interests to disclose in this report.

Summary
This report provides Council with the outcomes of the 2024 Community Satisfaction 
Survey for Corangamite Shire Council. The survey is undertaken by the Department 
of Government Services on behalf of all Victorian councils.

Corangamite Shire Council continues to perform significantly better than the 
averages of Large Rural Shires and the State-wide average.

Introduction
Corangamite Shire Council participated in the 2024 State-wide Local Government 
Community Satisfaction Survey. The Survey provides results on the community’s 
satisfaction with Council across a range of performance measures, which is 
compared against Council’s past performance, as well as the performance of 
participating councils via statewide and large rural shire group averages. The results 
identify the best performing areas of Council and areas for improvement. Council’s 
participation also supports its statutory reporting obligations outlined in the Local 
Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020.
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A total of 400 interviews were completed during the period 1 June 2023 and 18 
March 2024. Minimum quotas of gender within age groups were applied during the 
fieldwork phase. Post survey weighting was then conducted to ensure accurate 
representation of the age and gender profile of the Corangamite Shire Council 
population. It is noted that the current survey results are taken from a quarterly 
survey. Future surveys will be undertaken annually and is due in March 2025.

Issues
Core Performance Measures 
Corangamite experienced a slight fall in core performance measures compared to 
last year’s result. However, Corangamite’s slight decrease is in line with the rest of 
the local government sector, with the large rural shire averages and the state-wide 
averages having a comparable decrease.

The results for 2024 indicate a continuation of strong satisfaction with Council’s 
performance by residents when compared to the large rural shires group and the 
State as a whole. Corangamite outperforms the large rural shires results by a total of 
14 points and outperforms all core measures individually. Corangamite also 
outperforms the state-wide results by 10 points across all core measures and 
outperforms the average on all measures except Sealed Local Roads and Art 
Centres and Libraries for which Corangamite was 5 points and 1 point lower than the 
state-wide average respectively.

Customer service is again Council’s highest performing core measure at 76 points (9 
points above the State total and 11 points above the large rural shires total). Other 
significant results were in Consultation and Engagement and Community Decisions 
(both 12 points higher than the state-total), Planning and Building Permits (11 points 
higher than the State-total), and Overall Performance, Emergency and Disaster 
Management, Lobbying and Town Planning Policy (all 10 points higher than the 
State-wide average).

In general, 65+ year olds continue to rate Council highest on the range of 
performance measures. The survey results also indicate improved performance from 
those surveyed in the north of the Shire. Those aged between 18-34 years of age 
from across the whole of the shire showed a decrease in overall performance.   

A comparison of index scores for each of the core measures is provided in Table 1. 
Like previous year’s reports, changes to the index scores for large rural shires and 
Statewide scores since last year are indicated by green text for an increase to the 
previous year, red text for a decrease to the previous year, and black text for no 
change. Change indicator text has also been added to Corangamite’s 2024 scores. 
The ubiquity of red text reflects the downward trend to index scores across the 
sector
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Core Performance 
Measures

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Large Rural
Shires 2024

State-wide
2024

Customer Service
76 76 78 76 76 65 67

Overall 
Performance 65 71 66 66 64 50 54

Waste Management 67 71 67 68 68 65 67

Making Community 
Decisions 63 67 63 61 62 46 50

Value for Money n/a 63 60 61 57 43 48

Community 
Consultation 64 66 62 62 63 48 51

Overall Council 
Direction 56 58 54 52 54 42 45

Sealed Local Roads
41 50 49 41 40 34 36

Table 1 – Core Performance Measure Results

Individual Service Areas 
The Local Government sector has seen a decline in its results across all individual 
service areas, with the large rural shires average seeing an increase in only six 
measures, art centres and libraries, business and community development which 
both increased by two points, and family support services, disadvantaged support 
services, appearance of public areas and emergency and disaster management 
which all increased by one point. Likewise, the Statewide average saw a decline or 
no change in every category except two, appearance of public areas and waste 
management which both increased by one point.

In contrast, Corangamite has seen improvements in 12 measures and has five 
measures which had no change from last year’s result. Corangamite also continues 
to perform well relative to our peers in almost all individual service areas, with most 
measures remaining well above the large rural shires and Statewide averages. 
There were particularly strong results in:

• Decisions made in the interest of the community (12 points higher than State-
wide average and 16 points higher than Large Rural Shires average)

• Planning and Building Permits (11 points higher than State-wide average and 
15 points higher than Large Rural Shires average); 
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• Community consultation and engagement (12 points higher than State-wide 
average and 15 points higher than Large Rural Shires average)

• Lobbying on behalf of the community (ten points higher than State-wide 
average and 13 points higher than Large Rural Shires average); and

• Council’s general town planning policy (ten points higher than State-wide 
average and 12 points higher than Large Rural Shires average)

The five measures which achieved an increase despite the general downward trend 
across the state were:

• Community consultation and engagement
• Lobbying on behalf of the community
• Decisions made in the interest of the community
• Enforcement of local laws
• Maintenance of unsealed roads in your area

In terms of general index score results, emergency and disaster management (index 
score of 75) is the area where Council performed best in 2024. The appearance of 
public areas (74) is Council’s next highest rated service area, followed by 
Recreational facilities and Art centres and libraries (both 72), COVID-19 response 
(70), Community and cultural activities (69), and Family support services and Waste 
management (both 68).

There are some areas where Council was rated lower than its peers. These are the 
exception, but two measures were lower than the Statewide average with no 
measures lower than the large rural shires average in 2024. These are as follows:

• The condition of sealed local roads in your area (five points lower than State-
wide, but two points higher than large rural shires); and

• Art centres and libraries (1 point lower than Statewide, but two points higher 
than large rural shires)

In terms of general index score results, Council rates lowest in maintenance of 
unsealed roads (index score of 36), which saw a decline of one point since 2023. 
Ratings of Council’s next lowest rated area was sealed local roads (40), dropped 
slightly from the 2023 results by one point after an eight point drop in 2023 from the 
2022 results. Notably, ratings of unsealed roads and sealed local roads are lowest in 
the southern part of the Shire and the 35-49 age group. A comparison of 
performance scores for individual service areas is contained in Table 2.
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Service 
Performance
Measure

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Large Rural 
Shires 2024

State-wide
2024

Community 
consultation and 
engagement

64 66 62 62 63 48 51

Lobbying on 
behalf of the 
community

62 64 60 58 60 47 50

Decisions made 
in the interest of 
the community

63 67 63 61 62 46 50

The condition of 
sealed local 
roads in your 
area

41 50 49 41 40 38 45

Informing the 
community 69 72 69 68 65 53 56

The condition of 
local streets and 
footpaths in 
your area

59 62 63 59 57 46 52

Enforcement of 
local laws 66 68 69 65 67 60 61

Family support 
services 72 73 71 68 68 62 63

Elderly support 
services 76 75 75 69 64 62 63

Disadvantaged 
support services 66 69 66 63 63- 59 58

Recreational 
facilities 73 76 72 73 72 64 68

The appearance 
of public areas 76 78 77 75 74 66 68

Art centres and 
libraries 72 74 68 71 72 71 73

Community and 
cultural activities 
performance

70 69 68 66 69 64 66

Waste 
management 67 71 67 68 68 65 67
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Service 
Performance
Measure

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Large Rural 
Shires 2024

State-wide
2024

Council’s 
general town 
planning

63 64 62 58 60 48 50

Planning and 
building permits 61 60 58 59 56 41 45

Environmental 
sustainability 63 63 63 63 64 58 60

Emergency and 
disaster 
management

76 79 47 73 75 65 65

Roadside 
slashing and 
weed control

39 50 51 45 49 43 45

Maintenance of 
unsealed roads 38 44 39 34 36 34 36

Business and 
community 
development

64 67 64 64 64 59 57

Tourism 
development 66 68 64 66 66 61 59

COVID-19 
response n/a 78 79 72 70 66 65

Table 2 – Individual Service Areas

Best Aspects and Areas for Improvement
As part of the survey, residents were asked two open-ended questions:

1. Please tell me what is the one best thing about Corangamite Shire 
Council? It could be about any of the issues or services we have covered 
in this survey or it could be about something else altogether? 

2. What does Corangamite Shire Council most need to do to improve its 
performance?

Customer service was nominated as the Shire’s top best attribute for the sixth year in 
a row (by 18% of respondents) followed by Community Engagement/Involvement/
Consultation/Approachable (by 11% of respondents).

Sealed road maintenance continued to be the top attribute identified as an area for 
improvement, with a decrease on last year’s result (37%, down from 42%). 8% of 
residents said nothing required improvement, although this is a decrease on the 10% 
of residents who had concurred last year.
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Tables 3 and 4 below show the  best aspects of Council and those in greatest need 
of improvement, as identified by residents.

Best aspects 
% of all 
respondents 
2024

% of all 
respondents 
2023

% of all 
respondents 
2022

% of all 
respondents 
2021

Customer Service 18 14 18 22

Community 
Engagement/Involvement/
Consultation/ 
Communication

11 11

8 6

Generally Good/No 
Complaints

9 6 8 6

Councillors 6 6 4 4

Road/Street 
Maintenance/Streetscape

4 6 Not ranked 4

Community Support 
Services 

4 5 7 8

Recreation/Sporting 
Facilities

3 4 4 4

Public Areas 3 3 5 6

Parks and Gardens 3 Not ranked Not ranked Not ranked

Location 3 Not ranked 3 Not ranked
Table 3 – Best Aspects 
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Areas for Improvement % of all 
respondents 
2024

% of all 
respondents 
2023

% of all 
respondents 
2022

% of all 
respondents 
2021

Sealed Road 
Maintenance

37 42 33 24

Nothing 8 10 8 11

Median Strips/Nature 
Strips 

8 8 7 4

Community Consultation 6 7 9 9

Unsealed Road 
Maintenance

5 6 6 5

Informing the community 5

Rural/Regional 
communities

4 5 7 Not ranked

Financial Management 4 4 Not ranked Not ranked

Town Planning/ 
Permits/Red Tape

4 Not ranked Not ranked 4

Table 4 – Areas for Improvement

Communication with Residents
For the sixth year, Council included an optional measure to identify preferred 
methods of communication with residents. Participants were asked how they would 
prefer Council to contact them about news, information, and upcoming events.

Overall, 32% of participants prefer to receive Council’s newsletter via mail (up 
slightly from 30% in 2023). Following an increase, rising to 21% in 2023 from 11% 
the year prior. Social media has seen a decrease, dropping to 15% in 2024. All other 
forms of communication remained steady in their popularity in 2024.

The under 50s demographic has seen a decrease of preference for social media, 
while it remains the preferred method of communication for those residents, this form 
of communication has dropped significantly to 27% (down from 42% in 2023). This 
was accompanied by an increase in their preference for Council newsletter via mail, 
rising to 26% from 21% last year. This was accompanied by a decrease in the 
preference for Council newsletter via email, down to 22% from 26% last year.
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In contrast, residents over 50 have seen a decrease in their preference for physical 
newsletters, falling to 35% from 37% last year. The preference for Council newsletter 
via email remained steady at 20% in 2023, as it has done so since 2022. Residents 
over 50 also remained steady in their preference for social media, with 7% of over 
50’s saying that was their preferred form of communication, as in 2023.

Table 5, below, shows the full results for the best form of communication. 
Percentages do not add up to 100 due to responses in the other and don’t know / 
can’t say categories.

Method of 
Communication

Overall
% 2021

Overall
% 2022

Overall 
% 2023

Overall 
% 2024

Under 
50’s

% 2024

Over 50’s 
% 2024

Council Newsletter via 
Mail
(Corangamite News)

38 35 30 32 26 35

Social Media
(Facebook, Instagram 
and Twitter)

15 11 21 15 27 7

Council Newsletter via 
Email
(Corangamite News 
email)

13 21 22 21 22 20

Advertising in a Local 
Newspaper
(Noticeboard in the 
Standard, WD 
Newspapers and 
community 
newsletters)

13 13 9 11 4 16

Text Message
(provided for pet 
registration reminders)

7 4 5 5 7 3

Council Website 1 1 1 2 4 1

Council Newsletter as 
Local Paper Insert
(not currently 
provided)

10 11 8 9 5 12

Table 5 – Best Form of Communication 
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Other observations
Roads remain an area of improvement for many in our community, and generally this 
is associated with the state’s arterial road network. Whilst Council continues to 
advocate for improvements in the network, there is the opportunity to better inform 
the community. In terms of value for money, it is the officers view the cost of living 
pressures are impacting this measure.

Policy and Legislative Context
Participation in the Community Satisfaction Survey is consistent with the following 
commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025: 

Theme Five - Community Leadership
Having strong governance practices
We listen to and engage with our community
Council promotes best value and value for money for its ratepayers

 
In accordance with the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 
2020, some of the core performance results obtained through the Community 
Satisfaction Survey 2024 will form part of the mandatory reporting in the Annual 
Report of Operations and Performance Statement, which will be included in the 
2023-2024 Corangamite Shire Annual Report.

Survey results for individual service areas will also be used to provide a qualitative 
assessment of the performance of Council against the Council Plan and will be 
published in the Annual Report.

Internal / External Consultation
Results of the Community Satisfaction Survey 2024 have previously been provided 
to Councillors and discussed during the 11 June Councillor Briefing. Results have 
also been provided to the senior officers and Leadership Group to assist them with 
the departmental planning and reporting processes. It is proposed that results are 
made available on Council’s website for the general public to review.

Financial and Resource Implications
Participation in the state-wide Local Government Community Satisfaction Survey 
allows for more cost-effective surveying than would be possible if councils 
commissioned surveys individually. The cost of this year’s survey was $18,110.
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Conclusions
Corangamite Shire Council continues to outperform the Large Rural Shires and 
State-wide averages in the majority of core and individual performance areas. While 
Council has in general seen declines in its performance, these are largely in line, and 
often better, than the declines seen across the sector broadly. While there are some 
areas of improvement, these results should be well-received.

 RECOMMENDATION - 9.3

That Council acknowledges the 2024 Community Satisfaction Survey results 
and publishes them on the Corangamite Shire website.
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9.4 Kerbside Landfill, Recyclables, Glass and Food Organics & Garden Organics Collection Policy 2024

9.4 Kerbside Landfill, Recyclables, Glass and Food Organics & 
Garden Organics Collection Policy 2024

Directorate: Sustainable Development
Author: Lyall Bond, Manager Environment and Emergency
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments: 1. Council Policy Kerbside Landfill Recyclables Glass and Food 

Organics Garden Organics [9.4.1 - 11 pages]
2. Under Separate Cover - Council Policy Kerbside Landfill 

Recyclables Glass and Food Organics Garden Organics 
Track Changes [9.4.2 - 12 pages]

  

Declaration
Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – Lyall Bond

In providing this advice to Council as the Manager Environment and Emergency, I 
have no interests to disclose in this report.

Summary
The purpose of this report is for Councillors to approve the reviewed Kerbside 
Landfill, Recyclables, Glass and Food Organics and Garden Organics Collection 
Policy 2024.

Introduction
Corangamite Shire Council is committed to providing high quality waste services that 
are accessible to the community. 
 
The purpose of the Kerbside Landfill, Recyclables, Glass and Food Organics and 
Garden Organics Collection Policy is to provide a framework to guide Council 
Officers in the administration and service of the Kerbside Collection Contract and 
assist residents in making service requests. 
 
The updated policy also addresses changes in Victorian Government Law resulting 
from the Circular Economy (Waste Reduction and Recycling) Act 2021.
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Issues
The purpose of the Kerbside Landfill, Recyclables, Glass and Food Organics and 
Garden Organics Collection Policy is to ensure Council Officers and residents have 
clear guidance on the provision of kerbside collection services and associated issues 
that arise during the operation of kerbside waste collection.
The policy has been updated to reflect the addition of the glass kerbside collection 
service, along with definitions of accepted glass materials, recyclable materials and 
food organics and garden organics materials in line with the new State Government 
regulations.
 
Additions to the Policy have also been made to address the issue of insufficient 
provision of built infrastructure for Council’s kerbside collection to take place. The 
Policy states that where land developers do not accommodate Council’s 
recommendations to the Traffic Impact Assessment for waste collection service 
vehicles, Council may direct the developer to provide alternate waste disposal 
services to the properties. 

This also extends to the developer providing appropriate storage locations for bins 
on premises, and adequate kerbside area allowed for each premise to be collected.
 
Community Groups are an emerging group that require a guiding framework for 
resolution of service claims. Community groups that approach Council for kerbside 
collection services may receive additional kerbside collection services if they receive 
a rates notice for a premise and have a base kerbside collection service as the 
default service.
 
The Policy now includes direction on the provision of Waste Exemption Cards for 
community not-for-profit groups who provide services to our community. The intent of 
these cards is to assist not-for-profits who may receive donated materials for 
repurposing and as a result have unsuitable or dumped items for disposal. These 
groups are typically volunteer-run Op-Shops. The cards provide a limited number of 
25 disposals per card and there is one card issued per 12 month period.
 
Policy and Legislative Context
This policy aligns with the Circular Economy (Waste Reduction and Recycling) Act 
2021 by supporting the provision of glass collections services and increased 
resource recovery.
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This report is in keeping with the commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025:
Theme Two - A Thriving Community
Facilitating and supporting economic development
Corangamite’s townships are attractive, accessible and appealing to visitors 
and are presented in a way in which our residents can be proud

Theme Three - A Healthy, Active and Resilient Community
Improving the health and wellbeing of our residents

Theme Four - Improving Our Environment
Protecting and improving our built and natural environment
Providing high quality waste services, including sustainable management of the 
regional landfill at Naroghid
Reducing the carbon footprint of Council operations
Helping our community plan and respond to climate change

Theme Five - Community Leadership
Having strong governance practices

A Gender Impact Assessment was undertaken on the Policy, which included 
intersectionality considerations. The assessment found that there was potential for 
adverse impacts relating to gender and intersectionality. These concerns have been 
addressed through the proposed Policy updates and how the Policy is implemented. 
Two keys changes included the ability to provide additional landfill and recycling 
services to eligible premises and for the Manager Environment and Emergency to 
have discretion on the allocation of these additional services.  

Internal / External Consultation
Consultation was undertaken with internal stakeholders to review the policy and 
prepare the Gender Impact Assessment. 

Councillors were notified of the Policy review at a briefing and feedback from 
community has been obtained during the roll-out of the purple-bin (glass bin) fleet.

Council officers have also been involved in ongoing community consultation 
regarding service improvements while working with customers to address specific 
issues. 
 
Financial and Resource Implications
The proposed policy amendments will have a neutral impact on Council’s budget and 
resourcing. The kerbside collection service is provided with revenue generated from 
the garbage charge applied to properties within the kerbside collection areas.
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Options
Council may decide to adopt the Policy, with or without amendments, or defer a 
decision on the Policy until further amendments are made.

Conclusions
The Kerbside Landfill, Recyclables, Glass and Food Organics and Garden Organics 
Collection Policy is due for review. Several amendments were made to this policy to 
align with the new services and directions from government and provide clearer 
guidelines on the kerbside collection service for the community and Council officers.

 RECOMMENDATION - 9.4

That Council;
1. Revoke the Kerbside Garbage, Recyclables and Food Organics and 

Garden Organics Collection Policy dated May 2015; and
2. Adopt the Kerbside Landfill, Recyclables, Glass and Food Organics and 

Garden Organics Collection Policy 2024 dated June 2024.



Kerbside Landfill, 
Recyclables, Glass, 
and Food Organics & 
Garden Organics 
Collection Policy 
2024
Corangamite Shire

June 2024
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Kerbside Landfill, Recyclables, Glass, and Food Organics & Garden 
Organics Collection Policy 2024

Introduction
This policy is designed to ensure the delivery of a safe, consistent, environmentally 
sustainable, and economically viable kerbside landfill, recycling, glass and food organics and 
garden organics (FOGO) collection services. 

Purpose
To define the level of service provision and entitlements for Council’s kerbside landfill, 
recyclables, glass and FOGO collection services and outline the requirements for both 
Council and service entitled premises in providing this service. 

Scope
This policy applies to all service entitled premises within the collection area designated by 
Council. It also applies to schools, community facilities, community groups, Council premises, 
commercial premises and events within the collection area designated by Council.

Definitions
In this policy – 
“Bin” is a mobile bin used to collect and store landfill, recyclables or food organics and 
garden organics. Bins are 120 litre and240 litre
“Collection Areas” are areas designated by Council which receive a kerbside waste 
collection service.
“Council” refers to the Corangamite Shire Council. 
“Council Premises” refers to premises owned by Council or Crown Land where Council has 
been appointed as the Committee of Management. 
“E-waste” refers to any item with an electricity cord or battery.
“Food Organics & Garden Organics (FOGO)” means:

• Prunings, cuttings and branches which are no greater than 100mm in diameter 
and 900mm in length; 

• Grass clippings, leaves, bark and cut flowers;
• Small non-treated timber offcuts which are no greater than 100mm in diameter 

and 900mm in length;
• Sawdust from untreated timber;
• cold ash (wrapped in paper);
• Pet droppings (wrapped in paper);

Council Policy
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• Food organics including but not limited to vegetable and fruit peelings, leftovers, 
bones, meat, dairy, prawn shells and fish scales;

• Soiled paper from wrapping food organics; 
• Soiled pizza boxes
• Australian certified compostable kitchen caddy liners AS 4736-2006; and
• Any other items as nominated by Council.

“Landfill” is the residual fraction of the waste stream remaining excluding the Recyclables, 
glass and FOGO diverted and includes refuse and rubbish except Hazardous Wastes.
“Glass” means the following products

• Glass bottles

• Glass jars; and

• Any other items as nominated by Council.

“Hazardous Waste” waste that exhibits characteristics of ignitability, corrosivity, reactivity or 
toxicity, batteries, pesticides, mercury-containing items, e-waste and radioactive materials. 
“Premises” refers to developed/habitable, school, industrial or commercial buildings.
“Prohibited Waste” Includes trade waste, medical or infectious waste, slops or liquid waste, 
slops or liquid waste, night soil, oils, solvents, flammable liquids or paint, bricks, concrete, 
masonry, engine blocks or vehicle parts (whether in pieces or not), e-waste, or any other 
matter prescribed by Council. 
“Property” refers to a property both habitable and/or vacant land. 
“Property Owner” refers to the owner of a property both habitable and/or vacant land. 
“Recyclables” means the following containers, packaging and products:

• Paper and Cardboard (unwaxed and unlaminated);
• Aluminium cans, packaging and foil;
• PET (1), HDPE (2) and  PP (5) rigid plastic packaging;
• Steel rigid packaging, including empty aerosol cans; and
• Any other items as nominated by Council.

“Service” refers to the provision of mobile landfill, recycling and FOGO bins and the 
collection of landfill, recyclables, glass and FOGO. 
“Service Entitled Property” refers to premises entitled to receive kerbside waste collection 
services. 
“Service Fee” refers to a fee to be charged by Council for the provision and collection of 
landfill, recycling, FOGO and glass bins to schools, commercial premises, community 
facilities, Council premises and at events. 
“Tennant” refers to a resident that is not the property owner. 
“Unauthorised Bins” refers to a bin not allocated by the Corangamite Shire Council for the 
purpose of kerbside waste collection services. 
“Waste” means any discharged object or material that requires disposal through the 
kerbside landfill, recyclables, glass or FOGO bin.
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“Waste Management Charge” refers to the annual kerbside waste collection service charge 
defined annually and listed on Council’s rate notice.

References
Corangamite Shire Local Laws
Recreation Reserves Management Policy 
Public Halls Management Policy Property Leasing Policy 

Policy Detail
Landfill, recyclables , Glass and FOGO Collection 
The Corangamite Shire kerbside landfill, recyclables and FOGO collection service provides 
for:

• Weekly landfill collection;

• Fortnightly recyclables collection;

• Fortnightly FOGO collection from January to September and weekly FOGO collection 
from October to December; and

• Monthly glass collection.

Landfill, recyclables, glass and FOGO collection shall be undertaken between the hours of 
6:00am and 3:30pm on the designated collection day, unless otherwise approved by Council. 

Where there is a change to the designated collection day due to a public holiday, Council will 
notify all affected residents via a public notice in the relevant local newspaper. 

Service entitled premises
Service entitled premises will only be eligible for a single kerbside collection service which 
consists of the following bins;

• One 120 litre landfill bin; 
• One 240 litre recyclables bin; 
• One 240 litre FOGO bin; and
• One 120 litre glass bin.

Council will not supply alternative bin configurations, with the exception of Multi Unit 
Developments (MUDs) and the provision of additional bins as outlined in this policy.

Vacant land and building sites will not be eligible for kerbside waste collection services

Removal of Kerbside Collection Services
If a premise ceases to be entitled to a kerbside collection services through demolition or 
condemnation, the property owner must notify Council and Council will adjust the premise 
Waste Service Charge and retrieve the bins from the property.

Provision of Additional Residential Kerbside Collection Services
In special circumstances, an additional residential kerbside landfill and or recycling collection 
may be provided to service entitled premises. 

Premises wishing to gain access to additional kerbside collection services are required to 
submit a written application clearly stating the reasons why the additional service is required 
with evidence to support their claim (i.e. medical certificate). Decisions regarding the 
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provision of additional kerbside collection services are made at the discretion of the Manager 
environment and Emergency. An additional kerbside collection service will only be provided 
where:

• A person living at the premise has a medical condition with treatment resulting in the 
generation of waste quantities exceeding those which can be reasonably 
accommodated by a standard kerbside waste collection service (i.e. dialysis) and the 
waste is non-hazardous.

• There are multiple dwellings (i.e. units) that are not rated separately by Council.
• There are circumstances beyond the resident’s control, not relating to leisure, 

business, culture or other pursuit, where the Manager Environment and Emergency or 
Coordinator Waste and Environmental Sustainability deems that an additional 
kerbside collection service would be appropriate.

If medical circumstances apply, the Coordinator Waste and Environmental Sustainability may 
deem it appropriate to provide these additional kerbside collection services free of charge.

Premises must notify Council as soon as circumstances warrant the cessation of the 
additional services.

Additional kerbside waste collections services will generally not be provided in the following 
circumstances:

• Premises with a large number of residents permanently residing;
• Premises that have additional residential premises, e.g. ‘granny flats’; 
• Premises that have Dependant Person’s Unit (DPU); and
• Premises that contain additional vacant lots (e.g. large gardens). 

Provision of New Kerbside Collection Services
New premises within the designated collection area will commence receiving landfill, 
recycling, glass and FOGO collection services following issue of a Certificate of Occupancy 
and submission of a customer service request to Council to receive the new kerbside waste 
collection services. 

New kerbside collection services will not be issued to sites under construction, including 
circumstances arising from owner builder constructions. Building sites must have waste 

Premises outside of the designated collection area wishing to receive kerbside landfill, 
recycling and FOGO collections must submit a written application to Council requesting an 
extension to the designated collection area. 

Decisions regarding the extension of designated collection areas are made at the discretion 
of the Coordinator Waste and Environmental Sustainability. The designated collection area 
will only be extended where:

• The premise is located in close proximity to the existing designated collection 
boundary;

• There is support from all service-entitled premises in the proposed collection area 
extension;

• The kerbside collection contractor provides approval for the collection area extension; 
and
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• There is sufficient access to provide the collection services.

The cost of extending the designated collection area will also be considered. Requests for 
on-route collections that do not meet the above criteria will not be considered.

Any request for new kerbside collection services must have written approval from the 
principal ratepayer.

Mobile bins for all new services will be supplied and delivered to the premise at Council’s 
cost.

Mobile Bin Placement and Collection 
Mobile bins must be placed on the kerbside by 8:00pm on the day prior to the designated 
collection day and should be removed within 48 hours of being emptied.

Mobile bins must be placed on the kerbside at the front the service entitled premise unless an 
alternative location has been approved by Council. Where no kerbing exists, the bins must be 
placed as close as practicable to the edge of the road shoulder. Where access is limited or 
collection is on one side of the road, mobile bins shall be positioned for collection as directed 
by Council. 

Mobile bins must be placed with the wheels facing the property. Mobile bins should be placed 
one (1) metre apart from other bins and free of obstructions such as power poles, letter 
boxes, trees and parked cars. Where possible, bins should not be placed on the road 
surface.

Mobile bins must not be over filled, and the lid shall be closed prior to collection to reduce 
spillage. 

Mobile bins must not be excessively compacted causing the contents to become jammed. 
Bins should not weigh more than 80kgs. 

Only recyclable materials can be placed in the mobile recycling bins. Non-recyclable material, 
FOGO, glass and landfill must not be placed in recycling bins. 

Only glass bottles and jars can be placed in the mobile glass bins. Non-recyclable glass, 
recyclables, FOGO and landfill must not be placed in glass bins. 

Only FOGO can be placed in the mobile FOGO bins. Non-organic material, recyclables, glass 
and landfill must not be placed in FOGO bins. 

Only non-prohibited waste materials can be placed in the mobile landfill bins. Recyclables, 
glass and FOGO material must not be placed in the landfill bins. 

Where mobile bins were correctly placed for collection and the collection was missed by the 
contractor, the resident must contact Council to submit a customer service request within the 
following 24 hours. The bin must be left on the kerbside to be cleared by the contractor or as 
a Council representative advises.

Council and the Contractor will investigate all complaints to ensure quality of service is 
improved and any unfounded complaints are handled correctly.     

Refusal of Service
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Waste Collection Service may be refused for:

• Failing to use the approved bin;

• Additional unauthorised bins;

• Placing prohibited waste out for collection;

• Placing a bin out for collection after the scheduled collection time;

• Placing a recyclables, glass or FOGO bin out for collection on a non-scheduled 
collection day for that service;

• Placing a bin that weights more than 80kg out for collection; 

• Placing a bin in a non-approved location that prohibits contractor access;

• Placing hazardous or prohibited waste in any bin; and

• Failing to use the bins correctly, leading to contamination of recyclables, glass or 
FOGO.

Council may issue warnings and take action including ceasing a collection service or issue 
fines under Council’s Local Law where there is repeated misuse of the waste collection 
service. Services will recommence once the resident signs an agreement stating commitment 
to Council’s Policy. 

Ownership of Bins
Council will retain ownership of all landfill, recycling, glass and FOGO bins supplied for the 
kerbside waste collection services. Residents must not remove or transfer mobile bins from 
the designated property. This includes the movement of bins from one property to another 
where multiple properties are owned in the Shire.

Unauthorised Bins 
Only authorised mobile bins issued by Council for the purpose of the service are permitted to 
be used for the kerbside collection services. Mobile bins that have not been supplied by 
Council for the purpose of the service will not be collected. Other non-approved waste 
receptacles such as drums or excess waste materials, such as bags placed next to mobile 
bins, will also not be collected. 

Where a premise is found to have unauthorised Council mobile bin(s), Council will take 
appropriate action to retrieve them. This includes premises that have additional Council 
mobile bins and have not received Council approval for additional kerbside collection 
services.

Missing, Stolen, Vandalised or Damaged Bins 
Where a bin is stolen, vandalised or damaged from vehicular accident, residents must 
provide a statutory declaration to Council to secure a new Council bin(s) free of charge. 

Where a statutory declaration is not supplied or the bin is missing, the resident will be 
required to pay the cost for the replacement bin(s). 

Where bins that are missing when a premises changes ownership or tenancy and where 
there is a claim that the premises never had the bin(s) Council will require a statutory 
declaration stating the bin(s) were not present and provide bins free of charge. Future bin(s) 
replacements at the property may attract charges.
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Council will replace authorised bins damaged or broken landfill, FOGO, glass recycling bins 
at no cost to the property owner or tenant in the following circumstances: 

• Split bins 
• Broken or damaged lids or pins 
• Broken or damaged handles 
• Broken or damaged wheels 

If the mobile bin has been damaged by the resident, including fire damage, the bin will need 
to be repaired or replaced at the cost of the resident. 

Council will manage all repairs and replacement of mobile bins.

Council and the contractor will not enter private property to deliver, repair or replace mobile 
bins. Residents must leave their mobile bin out on the kerbside for repair or replacement as 
instructed by a Council officer. 
 
Bin Disposal 
Council will not sell or donate second hand mobile bins to residents or community groups. All 
unserviceable bins will be retained by the contractor or Council for disposal or repurpose.  

Council Properties 
Council may provide waste collection services to Council owned and managed premises 
located in the designated collection area. 

Council premises wishing to receive new or additional waste collection services must submit 
a written request to Council. 

Where the Council premise is leased or managed by a third party and Council provides a 
waste collection service to the premise, a Service Fee will apply except where; 

• the lease agreement or Council’s Property Leasing Policy states that Council will be 
responsible for waste management costs for the premise; 

• Council is responsible for waste management at the premise as per Council’s 
Recreation Reserves Management Policy or Council’s Public Halls Management 
Policy or

• There is an agreement between Council and the tenant to waive the service fee.
The third party will be responsible for payment of the Service Fee. 

Records will be maintained of the number of collection services provided to Council premises 
for service costing purposes and to assist in the preparation of future waste collection 
contracts. 

Schools
Schools are entitled to access kerbside landfill, recycling, glass and FOGO collection 
services. 
An annual Service Fee will be applied for each mobile bin serviced under the collection. 
Mobile Bins will be supplied and delivered at the school’s cost. The school shall retain 
ownership of the Mobile Bin.
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Schools wishing to access the kerbside landfill recycling, glass or FOGO service must submit 
a written request to Council. 

Council reserves the right to withdraw waste collection services from any school at any time.

Commercial Premises
Council may provide additional kerbside landfill, recycling, glass and FOGO collection 
services to commercial premises in designated collection area pending an investigation into 
the costs and options to provide this service. 

An annual Service Fee will be applied for each service provided to the premise.

Multi-Unit Developments (MUD’s)
Council reserves the right to determine, and if necessary modify, bin configurations at new 
and existing multi-unit developments. Property developers must provide to each premise a 
designated storage location and reasonable kerbside access for the provision of kerbside bin 
collection services. Each premises requires a minimum of 5m kerbside for bin placement on 
collection day.
If it is found the developer has not provided the appropriate provisions, Council may direct the 
developer to provide alternate waste disposal services.

New Developments
Where new developments do not accommodate Councils recommendations to the Traffic 
Impact Assessment for waste collection vehicle access, Council may direct the developer to 
provide alternate waste disposal service. 

Community Facilities
When requested, Council will provide a base landfill, recycling, glass, and FOGO collection 
services to community facilities located in designated collection areas. This includes sporting 
facilities and recreational reserves. All requests for new or additional services must be made 
in writing to Council.

A Service Fee will be applied for each service provided to the premise except where Council 
is responsible for waste management as per Council policy or through other agreement with 
Council. 

Additional services may be provided for special events when requested, such as finals 
matches at sporting reserves. Additional Service Fees will apply for the additional services 
provided.
 
Council will not service unauthorised mobile bins at community facilities. 

Community Groups
Council may provide additional kerbside landfill, recycling, glass and FOGO collection 
services to community group premises in designated collection area pending an investigation 
into the costs and options to provide this service. 
The community group must receive a rates notice to be eligible for waste services. 

An annual Service Fee will be applied for each service provided to the premise.

Waste Exemption Cards
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Not for profit community groups within the Corangamite Shire are eligible to receive a waste 
exemption card. This allows a predetermined number of 25 free waste disposals at Council’s 
waste facilities for that financial year. 

The waste exemption cards assist not for profit community groups who may receive donated 
materials for repurposing and as a result have unsuitable or dumped items for disposal.

Community groups eligible for a waste exemption cards include.

• Opportunity Shops
• Charities
• Not for profit organisations 

The Waste exemption cards are for landfill waste only and are not intended for recycling, 
glass or food and or garden organics. 

Eligible not for profit community groups will only be provided with one card per year and each 
card provides a designated number of 25 disposals at Council Transfer Stations. 
 
Not for profit community groups must initially apply for a waste exemption card in writing and 
be approved by the Coordinator Waste and Environmental Sustainability. Community groups 
will automatically be issued a renewed waste exemption card annually until Council is notified 
they are no longer required.

In addition to this the Coordinator Waste and Environmental Sustainability and Manager 
Environment and Emergency have the ability to provide one of disposal for special 
circumstances to community groups as required. 

Events 
Event organisers may request landfill and recycling collection services for events held in 
designated collection areas. Requests for waste collection services at events must be made 
in writing to Council at least four (4) weeks prior to the event. Event organisers are to 
nominate the number of bins and collection frequency required for the event.

Event Organisers will be charged a Service Fee for all costs associated with the service 
including delivery and collection of bins, collection of waste and disposal of waste costs. 
Event organisers will be responsible for any additional costs associated with disposal of any 
additional waste that exceeds the bins supplied or disposal of contaminated recyclables. 

Council will not service unauthorised mobile bins at events. 

Public Litter Bins
Public litter bins and public place recycling bins are provided for the benefit of the community 
to reduce litter. The use of public litter bins for commercial, industrial, or household waste is 
prohibited.

Responsibility for Implementing the Policy 
The Manager Environment and Emergency, Coordinator Waste and Environmental 
Sustainability and Waste and Sustainability Officer shall ensure that requests by residents in 

Attachment: 9.4.1 Council Policy Kerbside Landfill Recyclables
Glass and Food Organics Garden Organics

Page 149 |
239



Corangamite Shire Council – Kerbside Landfill, Recycling, Glass and Food Organics and Garden 
Organics Collection Policy 

Adopted at Council on: Insert date Department: 
Agenda Item: To be reviewed by: Insert date
Responsibility: Insert title Policy Number:
Document Number: Page Number: 11

relation to collection of waste, FOGO, glass and recycling bins are responded to promptly 
and professionally. 

The Coordinator Waste and Environmental Sustainability shall ensure that all waste 
collection, FOGO collection, recycling collection and glass collection services are undertaken 
in a professional manner, in accordance with specified standards. 

Exemptions  
No service entitled premise in the collection area will be exempt from the Waste Service 
Charge.

References to linked Procedure or Guidelines, if applicable
The following references apply to this policy: 
Local Government Act 2020
The Circular Economy (Waste Reduction and Recycling) Act 2021

Review Date 
This policy will be reviewed in 2028, or earlier as required by changed circumstances 
including changes to legislation and policies of Corangamite Shire Council, the Victorian 
Government and its agencies and the Federal Government and its agencies.

Human Rights 
It is considered that this Policy does not impact negatively on any rights identified in the 
Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act (2006).

Gender Impact Assessment
The Gender Equality Act 2020 requires Council to undertake gender impact assessments 
when developing or reviewing any policy, program or service which has a direct and 
significant impact on the public. A Gender Impact Assessment has been undertaken and the 
policy adjusted to ensure that it meets the needs of people of different genders, addresses 
gender inequality, and promotes gender equality.  
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9.5 Special Rates and Charges Policy Review

9.5 Special Rates and Charges Policy Review

Directorate: Works and Services
Author: John Kelly, Manager Assets Planning
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments: 1. Policy Council Special Rates and Charges June 2024 [9.5.1 - 

8 pages]
2. Under Separate Cover - Policy Council Special Rates and 

Charges June 2024 with Tracked Changes [9.5.2 - 8 pages]
  

Declaration
Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – John Kelly

In providing this advice to Council as the Manager Assets Planning, I have no 
interests to disclose in this report.

Summary
The Special Rates and Charges Policy outlines Council’s process for raising 
contributions from property owners who receive special benefit from infrastructure 
improvements. The policy has been reviewed and updated and is recommended for 
adoption.

Introduction
The purpose of the policy is to establish a strategic framework for the application of 
the “user pays” principle and to ensure a fair and equitable basis to levying a special 
rate and/or charge.
 
The principle of “user pays” allows councils to retain the ability to recover reasonable 
contributions from people who will derive special benefits from particular works or 
services.  The result is that these special benefits do not need to be subsidised by 
general ratepayers.
 
The Special Rates and Charges Policy sets out how Council implements Special 
Charge Schemes in a reasonable and consistent manner.
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Issues
The current Special Rates and Charges Policy was adopted by Council on 29 June 
2021 and is due for review.  
 
The key aspects proposed in the attached updated policy include:

• A Special Charge Scheme will continue to apply in circumstances where there 
is an upgrade or an expansion to infrastructure such as kerb and channel, 
footpaths and urban road reconstructions.

• The extent of Council contribution to the total cost of a Special Charge Scheme 
will continue to depend on the benefit of the infrastructure upgrade to the wider 
community compared with the special benefits to specific property owners.

• The minimum Council contribution to the total cost of a Special Charge Scheme 
will remain at 35%.

• Consultation for a Special Charge Scheme will continue to include an initial 
written survey and/or an onsite meeting with benefitting property owners when 
it is yet to be ascertained whether or not there is support from owners to the 
scheme.

• The consultation process as a minimum is to be in accordance with 
requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government  Act 
2020. A flowchart stepping out this statutory process is included in the policy to 
assist Council officers in complying with the requirements. 

• A Special Charge Scheme will continue to come into effect when the total 
project cost is $15,000 or greater.

• Dust suppression works are exempt from Special Charge Schemes and are 
addressed separately by Council’s Dust Suppression Policy

Policy and Legislative Context
This report is also in keeping with the commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025:

Theme Two - A Thriving Community
Corangamite’s townships are attractive, accessible and appealing to visitors 
and are presented in a way in which our residents can be proud

Theme Five - Community Leadership
Council promotes best value and value for money for its ratepayers

Under Section 163 of The Local Government Act 1989 Council is permitted to declare 
a special charge, for the performance of a function, where ratepayers will receive a 
special and specific benefit from works or services delivered. 
 
Council implements special charge schemes in accordance with the Special Rates 
and Charges Ministerial Guidelines prepared by Local Government Victoria in 
September 2004.
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Internal / External Consultation
Community consultation and participation plays an important part in the development 
of projects subject to Special Charge Schemes. 
 
Current Council practice for commencing engagement with the owners benefitting 
from the improvement projects is to forward to them a written survey seeking their 
comments on the proposal. An onsite meeting may also be held between Councillors, 
Council officers and the owners to discuss the proposal further. Generally, the process 
for implementing the scheme will only be continued if there is significant support from 
the property owners.
 
If the process for implementing the scheme continues, consultation is undertaken in 
accordance with the requirements of the Act. Steps taken in the statutory process for 
the scheme are:

• Placing a public notice in a local paper advising of the intention to declare the 
special charge scheme and inviting submissions for the next 28 days.

• Providing a letter and a copy of the public notice to owners involved in the 
scheme within three working days of the publication.

• 28 days after publication of the public notice, a report including submissions 
received from the public is prepared and put to Council for consideration.

• Council then makes a declaration or otherwise on the special charge scheme.
• Scheme contributors are advised of Council’s decision. Levy notices are sent 

to the contributors if the scheme is declared.
• Aggrieved contributors are given 30 days to object to VCAT regarding the 

proposal.
• If no objections are received, construction of works may commence.
• Once works are completed and costs finalised, invoices are forwarded to 

contributors for payment.
 
If Council proposes to contribute an amount equal to or greater than 50% of the 
proposed scheme’s total cost, it may declare the scheme without considering 
objections.

Financial and Resource Implications
Given the administrative cost associated with a special charge scheme, Council’s 
current policy is that projects under $15,000 in costs do not invoke a scheme. 
 
Also Council’s current policy is that it will contribute a minimum of 35% towards the 
total cost of a special charge scheme, with the benefitting property owners contributing 
the remainder of costs.
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The percentage of Council contribution to a scheme is determined from the ratio 
between the estimated community benefits of a project and estimated special benefits 
to abutting property owners. Examples of this are as follows:

•    The construction of a footpath leading to a school, hospital or shopping strip 
may have a high community benefit. Council contribution could be 75% and 
property owners’ contribution could be 25%.

•    The sealing of a “no through” road within a cul-de-sac has minimal benefit to 
the community. Council’s contribution to the scheme would be the minimum 
35% and the benefitting property owner’s contribution would be 65% in 
accordance with the policy.

 
Council officers use the steps set out in the previously referred Special Rates and 
Charges Ministerial Guidelines in determining the benefit ratios for the schemes. 
 
Council ensures that the apportionment of costs between benefitting property owners 
is fair and equitable. The apportionment of costs may be determined from a variety of 
scenarios including:

• an equal split of the cost between lots
• apportionment based on the frontage length of lots
• a combination of apportionment methods.

 
In the instance where a property located on a corner is included in a special charge 
scheme the apportionment of this property may be based on the lesser of the 
property’s frontage and sideage length. This takes into consideration that the property 
may be incorporated in the schemes of two separate streets.  
 
Contributors have an option to pay in full within 30 days of receiving an invoice or pay 
20 instalments over five years with an added rate of interest linked to the official Cash 
Rate (as listed by the Reserve Bank of Australia) plus 1%. Differing payment 
arrangements may be considered for special circumstances.

Options
Council can opt to adopt the Special Rates and Charges Policy as proposed or choose 
to make amendments to the policy.

Conclusions
The proposed policy provides confirmation of Council’s process for raising 
contributions from property owners who receive special benefit from infrastructure 
improvements.
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 RECOMMENDATION - 9.5

That Council:

1. Revokes all previous Special Rates and Charges policies.
2. Adopts the Special Rates and Charges Policy dated June 2024.



 

 

 

 

Special Rates and 
Charges Policy 
Corangamite Shire 

June 2024 
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Special Rates and Charges  
 
Introduction 
The Special Rates and Charges Policy outlines Council’s process for raising 
contributions from property owners who receive special benefits from infrastructure 
improvements. 
 
The principle of “user pays” allows councils to retain the ability to recover reasonable 
contributions from people who will derive special benefits rather than be subsidised by 
general ratepayers. 
 
Purpose 
To establish a strategic framework for the raising of financial contributions from property 
owners who receive special benefit from infrastructure improvements in a fair, equitable, 
consultative and consistent manner. 
 
Scope 
This policy covers Council’s process for raising contributions from property owners who receive 
special benefit from infrastructure improvements. 
 
 
Definitions 
Maintenance 
Expenditure on an asset which maintains the asset in use but does not increase its service 
potential or life, e.g. repairing a pothole in a road, repairing the decking on a timber bridge, 
repairing a single pipe in a drainage network, repairing the fencing in a park, repair work to 
prevent early failure of an asset or a portion of an infrastructure network.  
 
Renewals 
Expenditure on renewing an existing asset or a portion of an infrastructure network, which 
increases the service potential or extends the life, e.g. resheeting part of a road, renewing a 
section of drainage network, major maintenance on bridges, resealing a road, replacing an 
existing footpath.  
 
For the purposes of the special charge, scheme renewal projects are those defined in which 
the primary purpose of carrying out the works is to manage the asset i.e. extend its life. In 
many circumstances Council takes the opportunity to improve the service that is provided to 
minimum design standards. For example, when a road is renewed, which has failed and has 
a 3 metre seal, it may be replaced with a 6.2 metre sealed pavement. In these circumstances 
these works are classified as renewal.  
 
Upgrade Works 
Expenditure on upgrading the standard of an existing asset of infrastructure network to 
provide a higher level of service to users. 
Upgrades would include, but not be limited to: 

• Replacing drainage pipes with pipes of greater capacity; 

• Upgrading the standard of a road from unsealed to sealed; 

Council Policy 
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• Upgrading the standard of a road to a higher classification; 

• Replacing an existing bridge with one having a greater carrying capacity; and 

• Upgrading the standard of a road to include drainage and/or kerb and channel. 
 
Expansion Works 
Expenditure on extending an infrastructure network, at the same standard currently enjoyed 
by existing residents, to a new group of users.  
 
Expansion projects would include, but not be limited to: 

• Extending a footpath on the road network; 

• Extending the drainage network; 

• Establishment of new carparks; and 

• Development of new facilities.  
 
References 

• Local Government Act 1989 (the “Act”) 

• Local Government Act 2020 (the “Act”) 

• Ministerial Guidelines – Special Rates and Charges, September 2004 
 
Policy Detail 
This policy applies to all new or improved infrastructure assets that benefit an identified group 
of property owners within the municipality. 
 
This policy details the circumstances and manner in which new or improved infrastructure 
works are undertaken with financial contribution from property owners based on principles of 
fairness and equity.  This contribution shall be obtained through a Special Rate or Charge 
Scheme having regard to the level of special benefit received by those properties and the 
level of benefit received by the wider community. 

 
Works or Services 
A Special Rate or Special Charge Scheme will be used to finance works and services in all 
circumstances permitted by legislation. The exception to this is that projects less than 
$15,000 in total costs will be exempt from a Special Charge Scheme. This is given that the 
difference between the costs of Council administration and the contributions from benefitting 
owners for Special Charge Schemes for these projects will be negligible. 
 
When considering infrastructure related projects, Special Charge Schemes will apply in 
circumstances where there is an upgrade or an expansion to infrastructure.  
 
Maintenance and renewal works will not be considered for a Special Charge Scheme.  
 
Dust suppression works, which, are classified as upgrade works, are of a temporary nature, 
and will be exempt from a Special Charge Scheme. These works are addressed in Council’s 
Dust Suppression Policy. 
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Developer Initiated Works 
Where works are initiated by a specific development or planning requirement, and 
construction of that infrastructure provides obvious special benefits to those existing 
properties, Council will consider enacting a Special Rate or Charge Scheme to recover 
reasonable costs from those owners, subject to the following conditions: 

• Agreement of the majority of owners to be a part of the scheme.  Any identified 
community benefit, which Council would be required to fund, has been considered in 
Council’s budget process and is consistent with Council’s forward works plans and 
strategies.  

• The funding of works does not remove, override or delay the specific planning 
requirements. 

 
Total Cost 
For upgrade and expansion works relating to kerb and channel, footpaths or urban road 
reconstruction Council will contribute a minimum of 35% of the total cost related to the 
implementation of a scheme.  Actual expenses related to the scheme include preparation, 
implementation, design, supervision and administration.   
 
The extent of Council contribution to the total cost of a Special Charge Scheme will be 
dependent on the benefit of the infrastructure upgrade to the wider community compared with 
the special benefits to specific property owners. This ratio of contribution is determine in 
accordance with the Ministerial Guidelines to the Act. 
 
For other eligible special charge scheme infrastructure works Council will apply the Ministerial 
Guidelines to the Act. 
 
At the completion of the scheme, the final cost of the scheme will be determined and the 
amounts to be recovered shall not exceed 110% of the adopted scheme estimate. Any 
expenditure above the 110% shall be borne by Council. Where the final cost of the scheme is 
less than the adopted scheme estimate the saving shall be returned to the contributors.  
 
Apportionment 
Apportionment of costs shall be on each property identified by Council as receiving a “special 
benefit” and has been included in the Scheme.  
 
In determining apportionment, Council will have regard to the objectives in the Local 
Government Act (Part 1A) to ensure the equitable imposition of rates and charges. 
 
Council will determine apportionment based on a range of factors, which may include: 

• Equal split of special benefit charge amongst properties benefiting; 

• frontage of lots receiving special benefit; 

• area of lots receiving special benefit; 

• use of lots receiving special benefit; 

• a combination of apportionment criteria methods. 
 
In the instance where a property located on a corner is included in a special charge scheme 
the apportionment of that property may be based on the lesser of the property’s frontage and 
sideage length. This takes into consideration that the property may be incorporated in the 
schemes of two separate streets. 
 
Council will model a variety of methods to demonstrate equitable apportionment of the 
special benefit amongst beneficiaries. 

Attachment: 9.5.1 Policy Council Special Rates and Charges
June 2024

Page 159 |
239



Corangamite Shire Council Policy – Special Rates and Charges 

 
Adopted at Council on:  

 
Department: Works and Services  

Agenda Item:   To be reviewed by: June 2028 
Responsibility: Manager Assets Planning Policy No.: INFRA 29-04 
Document Number:  Page Number: 4 

 

 
Consultation 
Community consultation and participation will play an important part in the development of 
specific projects.  Many proposals will only be implemented if they have significant support of 
property owners.   
 
Following Council budget approval to a project, the process for initial consultation will be: 

• Development of project concept design and determination of special charge scheme 
cost estimate and apportionment  

• Letters sent to adjoining landowners advising of project proposal, initial cost estimate, 
feedback form and details of upcoming onsite consultation (where there is only 1 or 2 
affected landowners this may be done individually) 

• Onsite consultation with adjoining landowners 
 
If the process for implementing the scheme continues, consultation is undertaken in 
accordance with the requirements of the Act. Steps taken in the statutory process for the 
scheme are as follows: 
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Once works are completed and costs finalised, invoices are forwarded to contributors 
for payment.

After 30 days if no objections are received, construction works may commence

Aggrieved contributors are given 30 days to object to VCAT regarding the proposal.

Scheme contributors are then advised of Council's decision. Levy notices are sent to 
the contributors if the scheme is declared. Aggrieved contributors are advised of their 

options if they wish to object

Council may then declare or not declare the special charge scheme

28 Days after publication of the public notice  prepare a report including submissions 
received from public and present to Council for consideration

Provide  a letter and a copy of the public notice to owners involved in the scheme 
within three working days of the publication

Make copies of proposed declaration available for inspection at Council office  for at 
least 28 days after publication of public notice 

Place a public notice in local paper advising of intention to declare special charge 
scheme and inviting submissions (include on Council's website)
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Objections Process 
If Council proposes to contribute an amount less than 50% of the proposed scheme’s total 
cost and Council receives objections from a majority of landowners in the scheme, Council 
may not declare the scheme. 
 
If Council proposes to contribute an amount equal to or greater than 50% of the proposed 
scheme’s total cost, Council may declare the scheme without considering objections. 
 
Payment 
That in respect of all special rates or charges the following conditions be included when the 
charge is declared and notice forwarded to the owner: 

• The option of: 
o Payment in full within thirty (30) days of the request for payment. 
o Twenty (20) quarterly instalments over a period of five (5) years. 

• Interest on instalment payments will be charged at the rate of interest linked to the 
official Cash Rate (as listed by the Reserve Bank of Australia) plus 1% as at the first 
day of each quarterly instalment. 

• Outstanding payments that are not paid by the agreed time will be charged at the rate 
of interest linked to the official Cash Rate (as listed by the Reserve Bank of Australia) 
plus 1%. 

• Requests for different arrangements for payment may be considered by the Director 
of Corporate and Community Services. 

 

Human Rights 
It is considered that this policy does not impact negatively on any rights identified 
in the Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act (2006). 
 
Gender Impact Assessment 
The Gender Equality Act 2020 requires Council to undertake gender impact 
assessments when developing or reviewing any policy, program or service which has 
a direct and significant impact on the public. This policy will not have a direct and 
significant public impact and a Gender Impact Assessment has not been undertaken. 
 
 
Review Date 
This policy is due to be reviewed in June 2028. 
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9.6 South West Councils ICT Alliance Joint Venture Extension

9.6 South West Councils ICT Alliance Joint Venture Extension

Directorate: Corporate and Community Services
Author: David Harrington, Director Corporate and Community Services
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments: 1. Under Separate Cover - South West Councils ICT Alliance 

Joint Venture Agreement [9.6.1 - 49 pages]
  

Declaration
Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – David Harrington

In providing this advice to Council as the Director Corporate and Community 
Services, I have no interests to disclose in this report.

Summary
The report recommends Corangamite Shire Council affirm participation in the South 
West Councils Information Communication Technology (ICT) Alliance as required by 
the existing (October 2022) Joint Venture Agreement (JVA) and extend participation 
for the specified term of 5 years.

In October 2022 the three councils of Corangamite, Moyne and Warrnambool 
formalised the shared service alliance by adopting a JVA. The adoption of the JVA 
set the mechanisms by which the three councils could work and plan together and 
resolve any issues related to the operation of this shared services venture. 

The establishment of the JVA facilitated participation in the Local Government 
Victoria’s Rural Council Transformation Program (RCTP). The alliance received 
$4,500,000 under this program to deliver the specified business case, which 
included an integrated shared service Enterprise Resource Platform (ERP).

The JVA, which is attached under separate cover, requires that the three councils 
affirm their participation at least 12 months before the original term's expiry (Clause 
2.2), being June 2025.
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Introduction
Corangamite Shire, Moyne Shire and Warrnambool City were successful in securing 
a State Government grant of $4.5 million in June 2019 under the State Government’s 
Rural Councils Transformation Program (RCTP) to implement a business case 
covering 5 years to transition the respective Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) 
platform of each council into a shared service model. An ERP is the corporate digital 
platform that delivers the core business information systems of an organisation.

A key component of securing this funding was the establishment of a Joint Venture, 
the South West Councils ICT Alliance. 

Under the South West Councils ICT Alliance Joint Venture Agreement, now known 
as Coastal Connect and adopted in October 2022, the three councils agreed that 
(clause C) the Joint Venture is:

• “C1. An ongoing program that the councils commenced prior to this
Agreement, and

• C2. Is, at the time of this Agreement is intended to operate for a period of 
around 5 years and is intended as a program that works towards delivering a 
shared Enterprise Resource Planning platform across the councils.”

Issues
In order for this Agreement to extend beyond the initial period which expires on 30 
June 2025 (under Clause 2.2), each of the three joint venture councils need to 
resolve by 30 June 2024 whether they wish to extend the current agreement for a 
period of five years after its initial expiry date of 30 June 2025.

The operations of the South West Councils ICT Alliance (Coastal Connect) are 
managed by the Joint Venture Governance Committee (JVGC) established as 
required by the Joint Venture Agreement. The membership of this Committee is the 
CEO and Director of Corporate Services at each Council, plus an independent Chair, 
a governance advisor, and the project team.

The benefits arising from the initial agreement were set out to be:
• Significant cost saving from economies of scale by being part of the larger 

Information Technology (IT) implementation.
• Improvements arising from the implementation of up-to-date cloud-based 

software including more secure platforms with better cyber-security and 
elimination of a range of manual and less integrated processes.

• Increased staff engagement with, and understanding of the new software
• Opportunity for improvements to the community engagement and customer 

service experiences through more flexible on-line responses
• Reduced back-end costs and enhanced productivity through reduction of 

duplicated processes.
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• Ability to share knowledge and resources with other Councils in the joint 
venture leading to more agile and elegant solutions.

A Joint Venture Governance Committee (JVGC) has been established with the 
power and responsibility for the operation of the Joint Venture to enable the 
performance of its functions and to achieve its purpose in accordance with the JVA 
(Clause 5.2.1).

The Council has previously appointed the following members to the JVGC:
• The Chief Executive Officer
• The Director Corporate and Community Services

There is no change to these appointments with the consideration of the JVA 
extension.

Policy and Legislative Context
This report is in keeping with the commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025:

Theme Five - Community Leadership
Having strong governance practices
Ensuring that we maintain our strong financial position
Council promotes best value and value for money for its ratepayers

Internal / External Consultation
The project has actively involved internal stakeholders across the three councils 
since its inception. A communication strategy was developed to ensure consistent 
consultation and engagement with staff. The strategy identifies the key stakeholders, 
the communication channels, the frequency and the key messages. 

The communication strategy is designed as a live document, allowing for continuous 
adaptation. Feedback from council staff is incorporated, ensuring the strategy 
remains responsive to the evolving needs of the project and its stakeholders.

The project has implemented strong governance controls which include: 
• Joint Venture Governance Committee (across the councils) 
• Project Control Group (across the councils) 
• Project Control Group (Corangamite Shire Council)

The extension of the Joint Venture Agreement was presented to the Audit and Risk 
Committee during their June 2024 meeting. Following their review, the Committee 
recommended that Council approve the extension.
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Financial and Resource Implications
A business case was provided to the funding body Local Government Victoria via 
their Rural Council Transformation Program. This business case was approved and 
funding of $4,500,000 provided for the delivery of the outcomes by the established 
Joint Venture.

The business case concluded in a shared service environment that a positive Net 
Present Value of $73,247 is achieved across the five-year project timeline. The 
benefits are detailed in the funded business case and extend over the five-year 
period. 

All contributions to the on-going operations and activities of the Joint Venture are 
governed by the individual Councils business-as-usual annual budget process. This 
is a requirement of Clause 6.2 of the Joint Venture Agreement and ensures 
compliance with Individual Councils’ processes.

Corangamite Shire's minimum commitment to extending the Joint Venture 
Agreement includes covering the cost of Technology One license fees and funding 
the agreed-upon core services. These services may encompass modifications or 
enhancements to the shared platform. These costs have been incorporated into 
Council’s budget for 2024-2025 and its long-term financial plan.

Options
Council may or may not choose to extend the South West Councils ICT Alliance 
Joint Venture Agreement.

Conclusions
The South West Councils ICT Alliance Joint Venture is a key component for the 
delivery of the funded business case and the achievement of the benefits 
documented.
 RECOMMENDATION - {item-noext}

That Council:
1. Under Clause 2.2 of the Agreement, authorises the Chief Executive 

Officer to: 
a) Agree in writing to the Joint Venture Governance Committee and to 

the other two participating Councils to the extension of the Joint 
Venture Agreement for a further five years to June 2030.

b) Exercise Council’s rights and powers under the Joint Venture 
Agreement on Council’s behalf.
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9.7 Contract 2024005 Panel Consultancy Services

9.7 Contract 2024005 Panel Consultancy Services

Directorate: Sustainable Development
Author: Justine Linley, Director Sustainable Development
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments: 1. Under Separate Cover - 2024005 Panel of Consultancy 

Services [9.7.1 - 5 pages]
2. Under Separate Cover - Evaluation Table Consultancy Panel 

[9.7.2 - 3 pages]
  

Declaration
Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – Justine Linley

In providing this advice to Council as the Director Sustainable Development, I have 
no interests to disclose in this report.

Summary
The purpose of this report is to award Contract 2024005, Provision of Consultancy 
Services (Panel Contract) for a two-year period from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2026.

Introduction
Council has undertaken a tender process to engage a panel of suitable 
contractors/consultants for the provision of Consultancy Services.
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Categories of service provision may include, but be limited to the following:

1. Legal Services 
2. Registered Building Architects
3. Landscape Architects
4. Quantity Surveyors
5. Engineers – 

o Civil
o Mechanical
o Structural
o Environmental
o Geotechnical
o Landfill 
o Climate Change 

6. Landfill related services 
o Auditing 
o Design
o CQA
o EMPs
o Rehabilitation designs 
o Hydrogeological 

7. Land Surveyors
8. Environmental monitoring services 

o Water
o Air
o Dust 
o Noise 

9. Town Planning
o Open space
o Heritage Advisors
o Heritage Architects
o Transport Planners
o Urban and Public Realm Designers

10.Economic and Community Development
o Economists 
o Placemakers 
o Community Engagement
o Videographers
o Marketers and Promoters
o Advocacy and Lobbying services
o Visual Recorders
o Demographers
o Statisticians
o Agricultural and Agribusiness analysts
o Small Business Advisors
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Issues
The tender document was released through Eprocure to all registered suppliers and 
was publicly advertised in the Herald Sun on 13 March 2024.

Ninety eight (98) tender submissions were received via Eprocure and were released 
to the assessment panel after the closing date on 10 April 2024.

On review and evaluation of the submissions it is proposed that multiple 
contractors/consultants be appointed to the Panel under the 10 categories outlined in 
the tender brief.

An Evaluation Report provides an assessment of the tender submissions and is 
provided under separate cover.

Recommended contractors will form a panel of suppliers whereby Council may 
undertake a secondary procurement process, based on the requirements of the work 
being proposed to be undertaken. It should be noted that no work is guaranteed to 
any contractor under this tender. 

This Contract commences on 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2026 and is for a period of 2 
years. The Contract will be a schedule of rates contract, paid on an agreed hourly 
rate.
  
Policy and Legislative Context
This report is in keeping with the commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025:

Theme One - A Connected Community
Infrastructure and services that deliver population growth and new housing

Theme Two - A Thriving Community
Facilitating and supporting economic development

Theme Four - Improving Our Environment
Protecting and improving our built and natural environment
Helping our community plan and respond to climate change

Theme Five - Community Leadership
Council promotes best value and value for money for its ratepayers

The tender was advertised and the evaluation conducted in accordance with 
Council’s Procurement Policy 2021.

Internal / External Consultation
An evaluation panel was established to assess the submissions against the 
evaluation criteria. 
   
Each member of the panel who conducted the evaluation was considered to have 
appropriate experience to undertake the evaluation. 
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Financial and Resource Implications
Services to be provided under this contract are incorporated in Council’s budget 
allocations in each budget year. The best value for Council is not always necessarily 
reflected by the lowest price.  

Options
Council may choose to award the Contract (Panel) to the recommended 
contractors/consultants or decline to award.

Conclusions
Council has invited tenders from suitably experienced and qualified 
consultancies/contractors. Ninety-eight (98) submissions were received through this 
process and seventy-one (71) have been assessed as suitable for inclusion in the 
Panel across ten categories.
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 RECOMMENDATION - 9.7

That Council awards Contract 2024005, Provision of Consultancy Services 
(Panel Contract) for a two-year period from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2026 by 
letter of award to the following contractors:
Reference Tenderer
1 Hurcon 
3 Glen Rundell Consulting
5 JJR Consulting
6 Thompson Berrill Landscape
7 Slattery
8 SMEC 
9 Currie and Brown
10 Emerge Associates
12 Ratio Consultants
15 Partnear 
16 Maker Eng
17 K20 Architecture
18 Fraser Design Collaborative
19 CoFutures
20 Mesh Liveable Urban Communities
21 Presna 
22 Four18
23 AEC Group
24 Dock4
25 PT Tomkinson
26 Bajwa Consulting
27 Peter Wright and Associates
28 FMG Engineering
29 TRACT
31 GroupGSA
32 Ethos Urban
34 Hansen Partnership
36 Engeny
37 RLW
38 Russell Kennedy Lawyers
39 ST Surveyors
40 Kelly Architects
41 Trenchless
43 Traffix Group
44 Planology
45 Spiire
46 Transect Planning
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47 Zinc Cost Management
48 Hunt and Hunt Lawyers
49 Saba Civil Management
50 BCBA
52 Turner Townsend
53 Measured Pty Ltd
55 Architecture Matters
58 HWL Ebsworth
59 Head and Humphrys
60 Stantec
61 One Mile Grid
62 Extent Heritage
64 Justin Staggard
65 Hamilton Survey Group
66 Dartmouth
70 Optimatum Migilic McLeod
73 Haskell Architects
74 Beveridge Williams
75 Pardo
77 DP Planning
78 Marcus Lane Group
79 WSP Group
81 Landserv Environment
84 Plico Design Studio
85 Berkowitz and Associates
86 AA Roadmaint Consulting Pty Ltd
87 Gestalt Engineers
88 Tetra Tech Coffey
89 Tony McGann
91 Loetis
93 McIntosh Planning
94 Conway Planning
95 AER Consulting
96 Planit Consulting
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9.8 Contract 2025006 for Long Term Dozer Hire for Landfill

9.8 Contract 2025006 for Long Term Dozer Hire for Landfill

Directorate: Sustainable Development
Author: Sumitt Mittal, Landfill Projects Engineer
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments: 1. CONFIDENTIAL REDACTED - Tender Evaluation Report 

2025006 [9.8.1 - 10 pages]
  

Declaration

Pursuant to sections 3(1) and 66(5) of the Local Government Act 2020 the Chief 
Executive Officer has designated this attachment as confidential on the grounds that 
it contains private commercial information, being information provided by a business, 
commercial or financial undertaking that—
(i) relates to trade secrets; or
(ii) if released, would unreasonably expose the business, commercial or financial 
undertaking to disadvantage.
In particular the attachment contains information regarding pricing and technical 
information relating to tender submissions.

Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – Sumitt Mittal

In providing this advice to Council as the Landfill Projects Engineer, I have no 
interests to disclose in this report.

Summary
The purpose of this report is for Council to consider awarding Contract 2025006 for 
Long Term Dozer Hire, Corangamite Regional Landfill, Corangamite Shire.
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Introduction
The waste specific dozer is required to undertake construction and waste 
management tasks at Corangamite Regional Landfill including but not limited to 
performing the following tasks:

• Movement and placement of waste and compost material.
• Haul road construction and maintenance.
• Excavation and movement of material to design levels and grades.
• Construction and maintenance of Landfill cells.

The tender specifically relates to the dry hire of a dozer fitted with waste 
management guarding and blade with optional GPS capabilities. This specialised 
equipment enables Council to continue to manage its waste facility at Naroghid 
without potential disruption or non-compliance with EPA regulations. This equipment 
is not currently offered on Council’s Plant Hire Contracts. Council does not own a 
piece of equipment capable of undertaking the works that are required at the Landfill.     
 
The successful tenderer will be required to supply a dozer for use at the 
Corangamite Regional Landfill, which includes all associated servicing and 
maintenance for a five-year period. It is anticipated that the annual usage rate will be 
at least 2250hrs-2500hrs (43-48 hours per week).

When considering the current construction and other works required at the Landfill, it 
is anticipated that there will be a far greater workload required for the dozer in this 
new contract period.

The term of the contract will be for up to five years with an option to extend the 
contract for a further five year term.

Issues
Tenders were sought from heavy equipment plant hire companies for the long-term 
hire of a dozer, as specified in the tender document. This included the supply and 
maintenance of a dozer equipped to work in an operating landfill environment.

Council received eleven tender submissions for “Long Term Dozer Hire, 
Corangamite Regional Landfill, Corangamite Shire”.

Two tenders, tenderer-9 and tenderer-10 have been assessed as non-conforming 
tenders and were not considered in the tender evaluation.

The remaining nine tender submissions were assessed by a tender evaluation panel 
that included Lyall Bond – Manager Emergency and Environment; Malcolm Lewis, 
Senior Accountant and Sumitt Mittal, Landfill Project Engineer.
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The tenders were assessed against the following tender evaluation criteria with the 
associated weightings applied:

• Pricing (Value for money) (40%)
• Meet Specifications (20%)
• Demonstration of Environment and sustainability consideration (10%)
• After Delivery Servicing (25%)
• Local content (5%).

The tender submission from William Adams CAT Rental Services was ranked 
highest overall in the assessment process. The assessment details for each of the 
eleven submissions are detailed in the Tender Evaluation Report attached under 
separate cover.

The William Adams CAT Rental Services tender price for five-year term was 
$1,144,000 including GST and including monthly standard maintenance and 
servicing. Their tender submission offers Council value for money and the offered 
plant is new with specifications suitable for landfill works and waste handling. The 
company also has the capability to provide after delivery service and maintenance.

The William Adams CAT Rental Services submission provides Council with 
confidence in their ability to meet the requirements and specification. As they are 
providing a new machine, this aspect will minimise the downtimes, operation and 
maintenance costs.

William Adams CAT Rental Services scored highest during the evaluation of the 
tender submissions:

Contractor Total Score Out of 100

1 Tenderer - 1 57.05
2 William Adams Pty Ltd (Tenderer – 2) 75.07
3 Tenderer - 3 52.29
4 Tenderer - 4 54.94
5 Tenderer - 5 72.56
6 Tenderer - 6 59.42
7 Tenderer - 7 66.72
8 Tenderer - 8 65.33
9 Tenderer - 11 48.39
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Based on this assessment, the tender evaluation panel recommends that Council 
award Contract 2025006: Long Term Dozer Hire, Corangamite Regional Landfill, 
Corangamite Shire to William Adams CAT Rental Services.

Policy and Legislative Context
This report is in keeping with the commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025:

Theme Four - Improving Our Environment
Providing high quality waste services, including sustainable management of the 
regional landfill at Naroghid

Theme Five - Community Leadership
Ensuring that we maintain our strong financial position

The tender process and awarding of this contract, is in accordance with the 
requirements of Council’s procurement policy.

Internal / External Consultation
This tender was advertised on 24 April 2024 in the Herald Sun newspaper and 
eProcure with a closing date of 09 May 2024.

Financial and Resource Implications
Prior to commencing the tender process, an assessment was undertaken to 
determine if purchasing a landfill specific dozer and undertaking maintenance in-
house would provide increased value for money for Council. The review determined 
that at this point in time hiring a dozer with maintenance included, was the more cost 
effective option for Council.

Budgeting for these works is included as part of the annual budget process. The 
price of the proposed works falls within the available budget allocated. 

As the Corangamite Regional Landfill operates as a cost-recovery business, all 
expenditure associated with this contract will be funded through the facility’s user 
fees.

The total estimated spend for this contract will be $1,144,000 including GST, over 
the 60-month term of the contract. There is provision for a further extension period at 
the discretion of Council, which can be considered during the first contract period.

Options
Council may decide to award Contract 2025006 to William Adams CAT Rental 
Services as recommended by the tender evaluation panel.
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Alternatively, Council may decide to award the contract to another tenderer with 
consideration to the tender evaluation criteria.

Council may also decide to re-advertise the tender.

Conclusion
Council advertised for tender submissions for Long Term Dozer Hire at the 
Corangamite Regional Landfill. Council received eleven tender submissions, out of 
which two tenders were non-conforming and were not considered in the tender 
evaluation. 

The tender evaluation panel recommends that Council award Contract 2025006: 
Long Term Dozer Hire, Corangamite Regional Landfill, Corangamite Shire to William 
Adams CAT Rental Services. This contractor offers Council value for money and the 
proposed plant item is new, has specifications suitable to landfill works and waste 
handling. The company also has the capability to provide efficient after-delivery 
servicing and maintenance.
 RECOMMENDATION - 9.8

That Council:

1. Award Contract 2025006: Long Term Dozer Hire, Corangamite Regional 
Landfill to William Adams CAT Rental Services for the sum of $1,144,000 
including GST, which includes monthly standard maintenance and servicing 
for a term of five years, with an expected usage rate of between 2,250 and 
2,500 hours per year. 

2. Authorise the Chief Executive Officer to approve variations for up to 20% of 
this contract sum, in accordance with the contract terms, Council’s 
Procurement Policy and within budget.  
 
3. Authorise the Chief Executive Officer to sign the William Adams CAT Rental 
Services Rental Agreement and if required, affix the Common Seal of Council.

4. Delegates to the CEO approval to enter into a five (5) year extension of this 
contract subject to satisfactory completion of the initial five (5) year contract 
term.
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9.9 Contract 2025001 - Provision of Electrical Services 2024

9.9 Contract 2025001 - Provision of Electrical Services 2024

Directorate: Works and Services
Author: Jane Hinds, Sports and Recreation Coordinator
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments: 1. CONFIDENTIAL REDACTED - Provision of Electrical 

Services Technical Evaluation Report June 2024 Contract 
2025001 FINAL [9.9.1 - 4 pages]

  

Declaration
Pursuant to sections 3(1) and 66(5) of the Local Government Act 2020 the Chief 
Executive Officer has designated this attachment as confidential on the grounds that 
it contains Council business information, being information that would prejudice the 
Council's position in commercial negotiations if prematurely released. In particular 
the attachment contains information regarding the commercial pricing and terms of 
the submitted tenderers.

Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – Jane Hinds

In providing this advice to Council as the Sports and Recreation Coordinator, I have 
no interests to disclose in this report.

Summary
The purpose of this report is to award Contract 2025001 for the provision of electrical 
services to the Corangamite Shire for a three-year period from 1 July 2024 to 30 
June 2027.

Introduction
Council has undertaken a tender process for electrical contractors to provide 
electrical services to the Shire. The contracts detail hourly rates, out of hours rates 
and travel costs that assist Council officers in determining best value for money 
when arranging maintenance and upgrade works.
 
Generally, contractors are awarded work based on considerations of location, 
urgency of works, nature of works and contractor availability following a secondary 
procurement process in accordance with Council's Procurement Policy.
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This contract relates to all maintenance electrical work procured by Council. In 
accordance with Councils Procurement Policy, quotations are sought for major works 
and projects to ensure best value for Council.

Issues
Council has tendered for the provision of electrical services at Council facilities. The 
contract requested tenderers to submit an hourly rate to perform the required duties, 
which is inclusive of wages and travel costs. This has provided Council with 
information to undertake an evaluation of contractors who have submitted to 
undertake the works.
 
The works are to be contracted over a three (3) year period. 
 
Five submissions were received from experienced and qualified tradespeople in the 
electrical industry. 
 
An evaluation was undertaken by a panel with each of the evaluation criteria scored 
in accordance with the relevant weighting by each panel member. A panel meeting 
was held to validate the evaluations, aggregate the scores, and provide a 
recommendation of award for Council decision. 

Tenderer Evaluation Score Recommendation
CW Electrical 75.33 Recommended
Dickinson Electrical / KMS 60.33 Recommended
Hickey Electrical 67.00 Recommended
Hillec Electrical Services 77.00 Recommended
Murfett and Whiting Electrical 67.00 Recommended

 

The financial benefit to Council was measured by the estimated cost of a one hour 
job undertaken by each contractor, both during business hours and out of hours 
incorporating travel to and from the job from the contractor’s office base. The 
tendered rates were also compared to the previous electrical contract.
 
The attached Technical Evaluation Report provides a detailed assessment of the 
tender submissions.
 
On review of the submissions it is proposed that by appointing multiple contractors 
across a broad geographic base within the Shire, that works will be completed 
efficiently and economically for Council.  
 
Projects of reasonable scale will be subject to a three quote process and contractors 
will be invited to quote on these in accordance with Council’s Procurement Policy.
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Policy and Legislative Context
This report is in keeping with the commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025:

Theme Five - Community Leadership
Having strong governance practices
Ensuring that we maintain our strong financial position
Council promotes best value and value for money for its ratepayers

Internal / External Consultation
An evaluation panel was established to assess the submissions against the 
evaluation criteria.
  
Each member of the panel who conducted the evaluation was considered to have 
appropriate experience to undertake the evaluation.
 
In accordance with the Local Government Act 2020, the tender was advertised in 
Western District Newspapers, The Warrnambool Standard and E-procure. 

Financial and Resource Implications
Works under this contract are incorporated in Council’s recurrent budget allocations 
for maintenance or minor improvement allocations in each budget year. 
 
The best value for Council is not always necessarily reflected by the lowest price. 

Best value can also be achieved by procuring from a contractor who may have a 
higher hourly rate or travel cost but who is intimately aware of the facility or property 
and/or the specific issue and may be able to deliver the works in a timelier manner. 
Council officers will allocate works based on the cost to Council, location, urgency, 
nature of works (other than urgent works) and contractor availability.

Options
Council can award the Contract to multiple contractors or may choose to use a single 
contractor across the Shire.

Conclusions
Council has invited tenders from suitably experienced and qualified contractors for 
the electrical services contract. Five submissions were received through this 
process, all with high levels of experience, services offered and financial benefit to 
Council. 
 
Following an evaluation of tenders received, it is proposed the best outcome and 
financial benefit for Council is achieved by awarding the contract to multiple 
contractors.
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 RECOMMENDATION - 9.9

That Council:
1.  Awards contract 2025001 Provision of Electrical Services for the period 

of 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2027 by letter of award to the following 
contractors by letter of award:
• CW Electrical
• Dickinson Electrical / KMS
• Hickey Electrical
• Hillec Electrical Services
• Murfett and Whiting Electrical 
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9.10 Contract 2025002 - Provision of Plumbing Services 2024

9.10 Contract 2025002 - Provision of Plumbing Services 2024

Directorate: Works and Services
Author: Jane Hinds, Sports and Recreation Coordinator
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments: 1. CONFIDENTIAL REDACTED - Provision of Plumbing 

Services Technical Evaluation Report June 2024 Contract 
2025002 FINAL [9.10.1 - 4 pages]

  

Declaration
Pursuant to sections 3(1) and 66(5) of the Local Government Act 2020 the Chief 
Executive Officer has designated this attachment as confidential on the grounds that 
it contains Council business information, being information that would prejudice the 
Council's position in commercial negotiations if prematurely released. In particular 
the attachment contains information regarding the commercial pricing and terms of 
the submitted tenderers.

Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – Jane Hinds

In providing this advice to Council as the Sports and Recreation Coordinator, I have 
no interests to disclose in this report.

Summary
The purpose of this report is to award contract 2025002 for the provision of plumbing 
services to the Corangamite Shire for a three-year period from 1 July 2024 to June 
2027.

Introduction
Council has undertaken a tender process for plumbing contractors to provide 
plumbing services to the Shire. The contracts detail fixed price hourly rates, out of 
hours rates and travel costs for the term of the contract that assist Council officers in 
determining best value for money when arranging maintenance and upgrade works.
 
Generally, contractors are awarded work based on considerations of location, 
urgency of works, nature of works and contractor availability following a secondary 
procurement process in accordance with Council’s Procurement Policy.
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This contract will be for all maintenance plumbing work procured by Council. In 
accordance with Council’s Procurement Policy, quotations are sought for major 
works and projects to ensure best value for Council.

Issues
Council has tendered for the provision of plumbing services at Council facilities. The 
contract requested tenderers to submit an hourly rate to perform the required duties, 
which is inclusive of wages and travel costs. This has provided Council with 
information to undertake an evaluation of contractors who have submitted to 
undertake the works.
 
The works are to be contracted over a three (3) year period. 
 
Five submissions were received from experienced and qualified tradespeople in the 
plumbing industry. 
 
An evaluation was undertaken by a panel with each of the evaluation criteria scored 
in accordance with the relevant weighting by each panel member. A panel meeting 
was held to validate the evaluations, aggregate the scores, and provide a 
recommendation of award for Council decision. 

Tenderer Evaluation Score Recommendation
Dutton Plumbing 54 Recommended
Poole Plumbing 75 Recommended
Molan Plumbing and Civil 80 Recommended
Warrnambool Emergency 
Plumbing

57 Recommended

Sargeant Plumbing 67 Recommended

The financial benefit to Council was measured by the estimated cost of a one hour 
job undertaken by each contractor, both during hours and out of hours and 
incorporating travel to and from the job from the contractor’s office base. The 
tendered rates were compared to the previous contract.
 
The attached Technical Evaluation Report provides a detailed assessment of the 
tender submissions.
 
On review of the submissions it is proposed that by appointing multiple contractors 
across a broad geographic base within the Shire, works will be completed efficiently 
and economically for Council.
 
Projects of reasonable scale will be subject to a three quote process and contractors 
will be invited to quote on these in line with Council’s Procurement Policy.
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Policy and Legislative Context
This report is also in keeping with the commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025:

Theme Five - Community Leadership
Having strong governance practices
Ensuring that we maintain our strong financial position
Council promotes best value and value for money for its ratepayers

Internal / External Consultation
An evaluation panel was established to assess the submissions against the 
evaluation criteria.

Each member of the panel who conducted the evaluation was considered to have 
appropriate experience to undertake the evaluation.

In accordance with the Local Government Act, the tender was advertised in Western 
District Newspapers, The Warrnambool Standard and E-procure.

Financial and Resource Implications
Works under this contract are incorporated in Council’s recurrent budget allocations 
for maintenance or minor improvement allocations in each budget year. 
 
The best value for Council is not always necessarily reflected by the lowest price. 

Best value can also be achieved by procuring from a contractor who may have a 
higher hourly rate or travel cost but who is intimately aware of the facility or property 
and/or the specific issue and may be able to deliver the works in a timelier manner. 
Council officers should allocate works based on the cost to Council, location, 
urgency, nature of works (other than urgent works) and contractor availability.

Options
Council can award the Contract to multiple contractors or may choose to use a single 
contractor across the Shire.

Conclusions
Council has invited tenders from suitably experienced and qualified contractors for the 
plumbing services contract. Five submissions were received through this process, all 
with high levels of experience, services offered and financial benefit to Council. 
 
Following an evaluation of tenders received, it is proposed the best outcome and 
financial benefit for Council is achieved by awarding the contract to multiple 
contractors.



AGENDA - Council Meeting 25 June 2024

  Page 186 | 239

 RECOMMENDATION - 9.10

That Council awards contract 2025002 Provision of Plumbing Services for the 
period of 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2027 by letter of award to the following 
contractors:

• Dutton Plumbing
• Poole Plumbing
• Molan Plumbing and Civil
• Warrnambool Emergency Plumbing
• Sargeant Plumbing
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9.11 Contract 2025004 - Supply and Loading or Supply and Delivery of Roadmaking Materials

9.11 Contract 2025004 - Supply and Loading or Supply and 
Delivery of Roadmaking Materials

Directorate: Works and Services
Author: Pulkit Pahwa, Projects Engineer
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments: 1. Under Separate Cover - Technical Evaluation Report - 

2025004 - Supply and Loading or Supply and Deli [9.11.1 - 6 
pages]

2. Under Separate Cover - Schedule of Rates - Internal [9.11.2 
- 7 pages]

  

Declaration
Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – Pulkit Pahwa

In providing this advice to Council as the Projects Engineer, I have no interests to 
disclose in this report.

Summary
This report seeks Council approval for the award of Contract 2025004 Supply and 
Loading or Supply and Delivery of Road Making Materials for a period of 2 years, 
commencing 1 July 2025 and expiring 30 June 2027.

Introduction
The Corangamite Shire road network consists of approximately 915km of sealed 
roads and 1,228km of unsealed roads across an area of 4,400 square kilometres. An 
extensive construction and maintenance program for the road network is developed 
annually and the supply of road making materials from external suppliers is critical in 
the delivery of the annual road program across the Shire. 

Issues
The Corangamite Shire does not own or operate any quarries and therefore requires 
the supply of roadmaking materials from external suppliers to deliver Council's 
annual road program.  Council’s current contract for Supply and Loading of 
Roadmaking Materials is due to expire on the 30 June 2024.



AGENDA - Council Meeting 25 June 2024

  Page 188 | 239

Tender submissions were sought for Contract 2025004 Supply and Loading or 
Supply and Delivery of Road Making Materials from registered quarries. The tender 
was advertised through Eprocure and Warrnambool Standard newspaper during the 
month of April with a closing date of 06 May 2024.

Eight tender submissions were received for this Contract. Five out of eight suppliers 
have supplied roadmaking materials to the Shire previously. Five of the tender 
submissions were on the previous Contract list for 2022-2024. All tender 
submissions were assessed against the evaluation criteria.

Tender Evaluation Criteria:
Weighting %

(a) Tendered Price 50% 
(b) Compliance with Specification 20% 
(c) Quality of Product 20% 
(d) Availability of Product 5% 
(e) Local Content 5%

As the area of the Shire is extensive, the supply of a variety of materials across 
multiple locations is critical to ensure cost-effective, high-quality delivery of projects 
to the designed scope and budget. Further, it is important to ensure that all suitable 
submissions are accepted for this specific Contract to allow council staff the option to 
evaluate and select a variety of suppliers and materials to be utilised across the 
Shire which are best suited on individual projects. 
 
Whilst multiple tenderers are recommended for inclusion in the contract, it is 
important to note that preferred suppliers will be determined on an individual project 
basis to meet the material properties outlined in the design. 
 
Vic Roads Classified materials were specifically requested in the tender 
specification. Material properties and standards were included in the specification to 
ensure materials met Vic Roads classifications. Other materials which did not meet 
the specified criteria and not Vic Roads classified were permitted as part of the 
tenderer's submission.
 
There is a diverse range of materials offered by each of the tenderers. After a 
detailed evaluation of all tenders, the assessment panel have recommended that 
seven tenders be accepted under Contract 2025004.
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One tender is not recommended due to material rates that are almost 150% higher 
when compared to the rates of similar material supplied by other suppliers. This 
supplier does not offer any benefit in terms of cost and material quality when 
compared to local suppliers. 
 
A pricing structure will be considered at the time of procuring materials for each 
project to ensure best value for Council.

Tenderer Evaluation 
Score

Recommendation

DE Quarry Solutions 70 Recommended
Green Valley Lime Co Pty Ltd 55 Recommended
Holcim Australia Pty Ltd 75 Recommended
Mibus Bros (Aust) Pty Ltd 60 Recommended
Moyne Shire Council 63 Recommended
RL Blake Pty Ltd 79 Recommended
Titan Willows T/As WA Molan 
and Sons Pty Ltd

82 Recommended

Tenderer 8 40 Not recommended

Policy and Legislative Context

The contract for the provision of supply and loading or supply and delivery of road 
making materials is advertised for all registered suppliers on Eprocure, as required 
by Council’s Procurement Policy and the Local Government Act, as it will involve 
cumulative purchases greater than $250,000.

This report is also in keeping with the commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025:
Theme One - A Connected Community
Roads that are fit for purpose
Footpaths that provide access to key destinations in our towns
Infrastructure that enables industry and business growth

Theme Two - A Thriving Community
Corangamite’s townships are attractive, accessible and appealing to visitors 
and are presented in a way in which our residents can be proud

Theme Five - Community Leadership
Ensuring that we maintain our strong financial position
Council promotes best value and value for money for its ratepayers

Internal / External Consultation
The tender was released to all registered suppliers via Eprocure tendering portal. 
The tender was advertised on Council website for more than 3 weeks in April.
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Internal consultation was completed via the assessment of tenders by the Works and 
Services directorate with a direct interest in the contract. Each member of the panel 
had relevant, extensive experience and knowledge in the variety of materials, 
procurement policies and financial information provided in the submissions.

Financial and Resource Implications
Financial implications have been considered in the assessment of the tender 
submissions. On an average Council spends approximately $2 milllion annually on 
the purchase of road making materials for its construction, re-sheeting and road 
maintenance works. An investigation into the rates provided by all tenderers 
concludes that the rates are relevant/reasonable and can be accommodated within 
the budgeted requirements of upcoming annual road programs. This conclusion is 
confirmed by a comparison of previous contract rates and consideration for relevant 
inflation rate which have occurred. A comparison of rates for suppliers included in 
the previous contract highlights an overall average increase in rates of 8%. However, 
it is noted that some rates have increased by a high margin of 10 -12% in 
comparison to the previous contract. 

Resources provided in the tender submissions ensure that Council can meet the 
scope and design requirements of road projects, with most recommended suppliers 
having VicRoads classified materials available for purchase. There is sufficient 
variety of materials in the recommended tender submissions to complete all projects 
in the annual road program for the 2024-2025 and 2025-2026 financial years using 
VicRoads Classified materials. Not all submissions met the specified VicRoads 
standards and geotechnical tolerances for material properties. Tenderers have 
submitted other materials which do not meet the VicRoads specifications; however, 
these would offer sufficient flexibility and variety for projects other than roads.  

Options
Council may choose to award the contract to all suppliers, the recommended 
suppliers or none of the suppliers. 

If the Contract is awarded to all suppliers, Council will have the ability to choose the 
most suitable material and location for each individual project. However, there may 
be multiple suppliers on the Contract who will not be engaged for the supply of 
materials or for only a small quantity of materials over the period of the contract.
 
If the Contract is awarded to the recommended suppliers from evaluation, Council 
will have the ability to choose the most suitable material and location for each 
individual project whilst encouraging competitive rates.
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If the Contract is not awarded to any of the tender suppliers, council will risk the 
supply of any materials to complete the upcoming road programs, resulting in 
significant dissatisfaction of relevant stakeholders including residents and rate 
payers in the Corangamite Shire.

Conclusions
All elements of Council's Procurement Policy were adhered to in this tender process. 
All tender submissions were received in accordance with the Procurement Policy, 
tender timeframes and offer a wide variety of materials for use in the upcoming road 
delivery programs. The assessment panel have concluded that seven submissions 
met the financial and resource requirements of the Contract and therefore seven 
submissions are recommended for acceptance for the upcoming two financial years.

 RECOMMENDATION - 9.11

That Council;

Awards Contract 2025004 Supply and Loading or Supply and Delivery   of 
Road Making Materials, by letter of award, to:

• DE Quarry Solutions
• Green Valley Lime Co Pty Ltd
• Holcim Australia Pty Ltd
• Mibus Bros (Aust) Pty Ltd
• Moyne Shire Council
• RL Blake Pty Ltd
• Titan Willows T/As WA Molan and Sons Pty Ltd



AGENDA - Council Meeting 25 June 2024

  Page 192 | 239

9.12 Contract No 2025008: Consultancy Services for Construction Quality Assurance Inspector (CQA) and Geotechnical Inspection and Testing Authority (GITA) for Cell 16 (Cell 16 A & Cell 16 B) Construction Works, Corangamite Regional Landfill

9.12 Contract No 2025008: Consultancy Services for Construction 
Quality Assurance Inspector (CQA) and Geotechnical 
Inspection and Testing Authority (GITA) for Cell 16 (Cell 16 A 
& Cell 16 B) Construction Works, Corangamite Regional 
Landfill

Directorate: Sustainable Development
Author: Sumitt Mittal, Landfill Projects Engineer
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments: 1. CONFIDENTIAL REDACTED - 2025008 Technical 

Evaluation Report [9.12.1 - 6 pages]
  

Declaration
Pursuant to sections 3(1) and 66(5) of the Local Government Act 2020 the Chief 
Executive Officer has designated this attachment as confidential on the grounds that 
it contains private commercial information, being information provided by a business, 
commercial or financial undertaking that—
(i) relates to trade secrets; or
(ii) if released, would unreasonably expose the business, commercial or financial 
undertaking to disadvantage.
In particular the attachment contains information regarding supplier pricing and 
information which would not be publicly available outside of this tender process.

Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – Sumitt Mittal

In providing this advice to Council as the Landfill Projects Engineer, I have no 
interests to disclose in this report.

Summary
The purpose of this report is for Council to consider awarding Contract 2025008 for 
providing Consultancy Services for Construction Quality Assurance Inspector (CQA) 
and Geotechnical Inspection and Testing Authority (GITA) for Cell 16 (Cell 16A & 
Cell 16B) Construction Works at the Corangamite Regional Landfill, Naroghid.
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Introduction
Council is planning to construct a new waste cell and it has been planned to 
construct it in two stages cell 16A and cell 16B. Each cell stage will have 2.7 years of 
airspace. Due to this, cell 16A will be constructed in 2024-2025 and cell 16B is 
expected to be constructed in 2026-27. Actual timelines will be finalised after the 
approval of the cell design by EPA.

Under EPA requirements, Council is required to appoint a Geotechnical Inspection 
Testing Authority (GITA) and Construction Quality Assurance (CQA) Inspector to 
inspect construction of landfill cells. Accordingly, Council is seeking to engage a 
suitably qualified and experienced consultant to provide the following services as 
CQA / GITA for the construction works of Cell 16 at the Corangamite Regional 
Landfill:
 
(i) Pre-construction and construction compliance testing of clay material and other 
materials to be used in construction to demonstrate compliance with the EPA 
approved Technical Specification report and design.
 
(ii) Geotechnical Inspection and Testing (GITA) services at LEVEL-1 Responsibility in 
accordance with the Section 8 of Australian Standard 3798-2007 (or any new, 
updated requirements) including all geotechnical testing of subgrade, compacted 
clay liner and any other required testing in compliance with the EPA approved 
Technical Specification report and design.
 
(iii) Full-time Construction Quality Assurance Inspector (CQA), testing for 
Geosynthetic component of the works and the construction of the Leachate 
Collection System and at other times, for construction of Cell 16 as outlined in EPA 
approved design, technical specification report and EPA publications.
 
(iv) Provide all relevant details, reports in written form required for the construction 
process and compliance with the requirements of EPA approved technical 
specifications, designs, auditor or Council in a timely manner for satisfactory 
completion of work.
 
The successful consultant is required to have previous experience as GITA / CQA 
Auditor, undertaking inspection of the construction of landfill cells and liners. The 
successful consultant (GITA / CQA) is required to be, or be managed by, a GRI 
Certified CQA Geosynthetic and Compacted Clay Liner Inspector (GCI-ICP Certified 
Inspector). The successful consultant is also required to be NATA Accredited for the 
relevant test methods if undertaking in-situ, laboratory testing and laboratory testing 
of geosynthetic materials and is also required to liaise with auditors for all 
compliance.
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The expected term of the contract will be from the award date until June 2028. The 
construction of Cell 16 will be undertaken in accordance with the final approvals from 
EPA.

Issues
Submissions were sought from experienced Consultants for providing consultancy 
services for construction quality assurance inspector (CQA) and geotechnical 
inspection and testing authority (GITA) for Cell 16 (Cell 16A & Cell 16B) construction 
works at the Corangamite Regional Landfill, Naroghid. 

The submission process was undertaken using the Municipal Association of Victoria 
(MAV) Vendor Panel from a contract that was previously subject to a full tender 
process undertaken by MAV as a collaborative tender, on behalf of Victorian Local 
Government in accordance with section 108(3)(c) of the Local Government Act 2020. 
The contract is CL7700-2021 – Contaminated Land, Landfill and Environmental 
Audit Consultancy Services.

At the conclusion of the Vendor Panel submission period, Council received two 
submissions.

All submissions were assessed by a suitably qualified evaluation panel. 

The submissions were assessed against the following evaluation criteria with the 
associated weightings applied:

• Value for money (30%)
• Capability (25%)
• Demonstration of Environment and sustainability consideration (10%)
• Technical Knowledge, Relevant Experience, Quality of Previous 

Performance (30%)
• Local content (5%).

The submission from Senversa Pty Ltd was ranked highest overall in the 
assessment process. The assessment details for each of the two submissions is 
detailed in the Technical Evaluation Report attached under separate cover.

The Senversa Pty Ltd quoted price was $320,958 including GST and their 
submission offers the best service for Council. It is not the lowest price overall 
however the time allowances and service provided does provide Council with the 
best service offering. Senversa has the required and ongoing experience with 
landfills as GITA, CQA and previously demonstrated that they have the capability to 
execute the work to the satisfaction of Council.
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The Senversa Pty Ltd submission provides Council with confidence in their ability to 
meet the requirements and a supporting schedule of rates for variation purposes as 
these works are highly variable and dependent on external factors including weather 
and earthworks, variations to the construction design and EPA requirements. The 
proposed works delivery strategy by Senversa Pty Ltd conforms with the technical 
specification.

Senversa Pty Ltd demonstrated relevant experience as CQA and GITA on landfills 
for construction of waste cells. Council has previously engaged Senversa Pty Ltd for 
landfill works at the Corangamite Regional Landfill and has been satisfied with the 
quality of work completed.

Senversa Pty Ltd scored highest overall during the evaluation of the submissions:

Contractor Total Score Out of 100

1 Senversa Pty Ltd (Tenderer-1) 82.42

2 Tenderer-2 77.17

Based on this assessment, the evaluation panel recommends that Council award 
Contract 2025008 for providing Consultancy Services for Construction Quality 
Assurance Inspector (CQA) and Geotechnical Inspection and Testing Authority 
(GITA) for Cell 16 (Cell 16A & Cell 16B) Construction Works to Senversa Pty Ltd.

Policy and Legislative Context
This report is in keeping with the commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025:

Theme One - A Connected Community
Infrastructure that enables industry and business growth

Theme Four - Improving Our Environment
Providing high quality waste services, including sustainable management of the 
regional landfill at Naroghid

Theme Five - Community Leadership
Ensuring that we maintain our strong financial position

The process and awarding of this contract, is in accordance with the requirements of 
Council’s procurement policy.
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Internal / External Consultation
Council sought submissions through a process undertaken by MAV. Submissions 
were lodged through the MAV Vendor Panel on 23 April 2024 with closing date of 15 
May 2024.

In accordance with section 108(3)(c) of the Local Government Act 2020, Council will 
first give consideration to collaboration with other Councils and public bodies or 
utilise Collaborative Procurement Arrangements, when procuring goods, services 
and works in order to take advantage of economies of scale. Accordingly, Council 
had sought submissions through a Vendor Panel established by MAV from a 
contract that was previously undertaken as a collaborative tender on behalf of 
Victorian Local Government.  That contract is CL7700-2021 – Contaminated Land, 
Landfill and Environmental Audit Consultancy Services.

Financial and Resource Implications
Council has provided an allocation in the 2024-2025 Budget for the design, 
construction and operation of the new waste cell – Cell 16A & B. Construction of 
subgrade and bund walls of new waste cells (Cell 16A) is scheduled for late 
2024/2025.
 
As the works span multiple financial years further cell construction allocations will 
be made as part of Council’s annual budget process.  
 
A schedule of rates has been included in tender submissions for variation purposes 
as these works are highly variable and require on site alterations to delivery.

Options
Council may decide to award Contract 2025008 to Senversa Pty Ltd Ltd as 
recommended by the evaluation panel.

Alternatively, Council may decide to award the contract to another tenderer with 
consideration to the evaluation criteria.

Council may also decide to re-advertise the tender.

Conclusions
Council sought submissions through a process undertaken by MAV through Vendor 
Panel for Contract 2025008 for providing Consultancy Services for Construction 
Quality Assurance Inspector (CQA) and Geotechnical Inspection and Testing 
Authority (GITA) for Cell 16 (Cell 16A & Cell 16B) Construction Works. The 
evaluation panel recommends that Council award Contract 2025008 to Senversa Pty 
Ltd. This contractor offers Council with the best service offering and has the required 
and ongoing experience with landfills as GITA, CQA and previously demonstrated 
that they have the capability to execute the work.
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 RECOMMENDATION - 9.12

That Council:
1) Award Contract 2025008 - Consultancy Services for Construction Quality 

Assurance Inspector (CQA) and Geotechnical Inspection and Testing 
Authority (GITA) for Cell 16 (Cell 16A & Cell 16B) Construction Works, 
Corangamite Regional Landfill to Senversa Pty Ltd for the sum of 
$320,958 including GST.

2) Authorise the Manager Environment and Emergency and CEO to approve 
variations in accordance with Council’s procurement policy up to 20% of 
the total contract amount, the provided schedule of rates, CPI increases 
and within budget.

3) Affixes the Common Seal of Council to the Contract.
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9.13 Supply One Motor Grader with Mast-less 3D GPS

9.13 Supply One Motor Grader with Mast-less 3D GPS

Directorate: Works and Services
Author: Peter Rogers, Manager Works
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments: 1. CONFIDENTIAL REDACTED - Motor Grader Technical 

Evaluation [9.13.1 - 5 pages]
  

Declaration
Pursuant to sections 3(1) and 66(5) of the Local Government Act 2020 the Chief 
Executive Officer has designated this report and its attachments as confidential on 
the grounds that it contains Council business information, being information that 
would prejudice the Council's position in commercial negotiations if prematurely 
released. In particular the attachment contains information regarding pricing and 
technical information relating to tender submissions.

Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – Peter Rogers

In providing this advice to Council as the Manager Works, I have no interests to 
disclose in this report.

Summary
The purpose of this report is for Council to consider awarding contract 2024006 for 
the purchase of one motor grader with 2D/3D GPS mast-less technology with 
attachment roller as part of the strategic capital plant renewal program.

Introduction
Council’s road network is one of the largest and most expensive asset classes.  This 
proposed new grader will replace an existing grader and complement the current 
fleet of heavy plant.
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The grader is primarily for road construction works however can also be utilised for:
 

• Shoulder grading
• Gravel road re-sheeting
• Gravel road maintenance grading
• 4D road formation grading

 
 An important element included in the speciation was 2D/3D GPS mast-less 
technology. This component allows the use of advanced technology improving 
accuracy in road construction and ultimately reducing the cost of construction to 
Council through increased efficiency.
 
The tender was released through Vendorpanel in December 2023 in accordance 
with Council’s Procurement Policy.

Three submissions were received from three suppliers. An evaluation of tenders was 
undertaken in accordance with the Procurement Policy.

Issues
A panel of suitably qualified and experienced Council staff undertook a rigorous 
evaluation of all tenders.
 
An assessment of conformance and mandatory requirements deemed one tenderer 
non-conforming as they failed to meet the specification requirements for a mast-less 
2D/3D GPS technology. A second tenderer did not submit a price.
 
The tenders were each assessed against the evaluation criteria:
 

Financial Benefit 50%
Reliability of plant, service and support 20%
Compliance with Conditions of Tendering and Specifications 15%
Warranty 10%
Timely Delivery 5%
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Table 1 provides an aggregate of the scores for each tender submission against the 
criteria and with the applied weightings.

2024006

 

Financial 
Benefit 
(50%)

Proven 
Reliability & 

high levels of 
Support & 

Service (20%)

Compliance 
with 

Conditions of 
Tendering & 

Specifications 
(15%)

After 
Sales 

Service / 
Warranty 

(10%)

Timely 
Delivery 

(5%)
Total

Comments

Tenderer 
1

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A Did not Tender a 
Price

Tenderer 2
43.3 13.3 12 7.3 3.3 72.83 Does not meet 

specification with 3D 
Mast-less System

William 
Adams Pty 
Ltd

34.3 14.7 12 7.3 4.3 72.67 Met all required 
specifications

Table 1: Aggregate Scores

Williams Adams Pty Ltd demonstrated their capacity to deliver in an acceptable 
timeframe and the ability to meet the specification. A trade in offer for the existing 
P3000 Cat 12M grader was also received by Williams Adams Pty Ltd of $140,000 ex 
GST.
 
Based on this assessment, the tender evaluation panel recommends that Council 
award Contract 2024006: supply and delivery of one motor grader to William Adams 
Pty Ltd.

Policy and Legislative Context
This report is in keeping with the commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025:

Theme One - A Connected Community
Roads that are fit for purpose

The tender for the acquisition of a road grader and attachment roller was advertised 
and assessed in accordance with Council’s Procurement Policy.
 
Internal / External Consultation
An evaluation panel was established to assess the submissions against the evaluation 
criteria. Each member of the evaluation panel was considered to have appropriate 
experience in the appropriate field to undertake the evaluation. All panel members 
indicated there were no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial and Resource Implications
Budgeting for heavy fleet replacement is included as part of the annual budget 
process. The preferred tender, William Adams Pty Ltd has tendered a purchase price 
of $704,900 and trade in offer of $140,000 ex GST. 
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This purchase cost can be accommodated within the existing 2023 - 2024 heavy fleet 
budget. 

It is recommended options are evaluated for the disposal of the existing grader 
including trade in, auction and private sale to determine the most beneficial outcome 
for Council.

Options
Council may choose to award the Contract to Williams Adams Pty Ltd as 
recommended by the tender evaluation panel.

Alternatively, Council may decide to award the contract to another tenderer with 
consideration to the tender evaluation criteria.

Council may also decide to re-advertise the tender.

Conclusions
The tender has sought suitably experienced and qualified companies to supply a 
modern motor grader with 2D/3D GPS mast-less technology system with roller 
attachment. Three submissions were received, two submissions were evaluated and 
one was considered non-confirming. The evaluation panel recommends the best value 
outcome for Council will be achieved by awarding the Contract to William Adams Pty 
Ltd for the Catepillar 140 Joy machine.

 RECOMMENDATION - 9.13

That Council:
1. Award Contract 2024006 to William Adams Pty Ltd for the Caterpillar 140 

JOY grader with Mast-less 2D/3D GPS and roller attachment for the sum 
of $775,390 inc GST.

2. Authorise the Chief Executive Officer to determine the most beneficial 
option for Council for the disposal of the existing grader including trade 
in, auction or private sale.
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9.14 Victorian Transmission Investment Framework - Renewable Energy Zone Community Benefits Submission

9.14 Victorian Transmission Investment Framework - Renewable 
Energy Zone Community Benefits Submission

Directorate: Sustainable Development
Author: Aaron Moyne, Manager Planning and Building Services
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments: 1. Under Separate Cover - Corangamite Shire Council 

Submission Renewable Energy Zone Community Benefits 
Plan 2024 [9.14.1 - 5 pages]

2. Under Separate Cover - VicGrid Draft Community Benefits 
Plan 2024 [9.14.2 - 24 pages]

  

Declaration
Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – Aaron Moyne

In providing this advice to Council as the Manager Planning and Building Services, I 
have no interests to disclose in this report.

Summary
VicGrid has released the Renewable Energy Zone Community Benefits Plan (CBP) 
for public consultation until 25 June 2024. The CBP has been prepared to deliver 
benefits to communities hosting new transmission and renewable energy 
infrastructure across the State.

A draft Council submission has been prepared in response to the CBP for Council to 
consider its approval to submit as part of the consultation.

Introduction
The need for VicGrid to prepare the CBP has arisen from the Victorian Transmission 
Investment Framework (VTIF), which identifies community engagement and benefits 
as one of its core principles.
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The CBP has been informed by recent consultation undertaken by VicGrid via 
Engage Victoria in late-2023 and early-2024. In July 2022, Council also made a 
submission on the VTIF which identified the importance of targeted and genuine 
engagement with rural and regional communities, as an important component to 
Renewable Energy Zone (REZ) planning and development. 

Preparation of the CBP precedes the first planned Victorian Transmission Plan 
(VTP), scheduled to be published in July 2025, along with strategic land use 
assessments (SLUA), to inform the identification and declaration of REZ within 
Victoria.

The CBP has been prepared to consider the creation of benefits for:
- Landholders
- Regional Communities
- Traditional Owners
- Significantly Impacted Neighbours

Legislation is planned to be introduced into the Victorian Parliament in early-2025 to 
give effect to proposed REZ community energy funds and payment regimes, with 
funding for host communities available once a REZ has been declared. The first REZ 
is scheduled for declaration after the VTP is published in mid-2025.

Issues
A draft Council submission has been prepared for consideration, provided under 
separate cover. The submission notes that recent public engagement undertaken by 
VicGrid has been poor, providing limited opportunity for community awareness and 
participation. Future engagement must be targeted to affected communities within or 
nearby a proposed REZ and should not just be aimed towards regional centres or 
metropolitan areas, which are not directly impacted by transmission or renewable 
energy infrastructure.

The submission notes that aspects of the CBP present a valuable opportunity to 
refine and establish community energy fund parameters, however, a significant 
shortfall of the CBP exists in it being released for consultation before any further 
work has been released on the VTP, REZ review and SLUA. This creates a high 
level of uncertainty and a ‘cart before the horse’ scenario’, in terms of having clear 
understanding of appropriate REZ development locations.

The focus of the submission builds upon previous matters raised by Council 
regarding REZ planning and development, with a particular focus given to local 
communities in Corangamite Shire through the establishment of a community energy 
fund and its governance arrangements.
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Missing Strategic Direction
The submission identifies that further clarification is required within the CBP as to 
when companies/developers are required to contribute to a community energy fund 
and what transitional arrangements exist for approved, proposed, under construction 
and operational projects. VicGrid needs to be clear around when and how a 
contribution is required into the community energy fund.

Without any current information on the VTP and future REZ locations, there is 
uncertainty around whether all future renewable energy generation must occur within 
a REZ and, if not, can projects still be approved outside these areas and will 
community funding obligations still apply?

Plans to establish REZ locations also raise questions around their location, 
development thresholds, infrastructure proposed and potential impacts on the 
community, environment and rural amenity, with the submission querying how this 
proportionality is factored into contributions and allocation.

The submission highlights Council’s strategic focus and aim to prioritise agricultural 
production and processing, whilst managing loss and land use change of State and 
regionally significant farmland. Broad REZ identification currently exists in earlier 
strategic work by VicGrid and the Australian Energy Market Operator (AEMO), 
however, Council has no line of sight around how a REZ may apply within the Shire, 
its impacts and how to ensure community benefits are best structured for local 
benefit. This is likened to a ‘Trojan Horse’ analogy, with advantages and benefits 
being promoted without any awareness of what this means and what the future 
outcomes will be.

Before any CBP and community energy fund arrangements are finalised, strategic 
planning must occur via planned SLUA and within the VTP, to inform any proposed 
REZ identification and involve stakeholder engagement. A significant risk exists in 
promoting rural and regional benefits of future transmission and generation/storage 
without any awareness of potential impacts on rural communities.

Project Funding and Eligibility
The submission acknowledges the intent of the CBP to establish the community 
energy fund to direct contribution into energy supply, reliability, efficiency and 
affordability, along with creating other benefits into projects that build renewable 
energy supply chains, research, and innovation, or help attract investment. These 
are notable commitments.
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Further clarification is required around eligibility requirements in relation to a REZ, as 
uncertainty exists around the application and definition of a REZ, who and what will 
be in or out in terms of eligibility criteria, and how preferential access or weighting is 
given to areas or communities that are directly impacted, as opposed to external 
locations or centres.

If a REZ were declared within or over part of Corangamite Shire, Council’s focus 
would be to ensure that benefits and funding are kept locally, instead of being 
diverted to regional centres which are subject to low or negligible impacts.

The submission notes potential opportunities of contributory funding into projects 
such as the Camperdown Production Precinct (CPP), to support the delivery of a 
net-zero precinct and shared renewable energy outcomes, to promote development 
opportunities and investment attraction.

The CBP and community energy fund must also consider other opportunities, such 
as the investment into the upgrade of local electricity networks for residential and 
commercial growth, business modernisation and service delivery, and facilitation of 
power purchase agreements (PPA) to be obtained for townships, residential and 
business to offset direct electricity usage and costs or to build microgrid networks.

Importantly, the submission notes that the community energy funds need to be 
established to in a way which encourages and sets obligations on transmission 
companies and generation/storage developers to maintain ancillary community 
benefits funds which support local capital investment into community projects and 
initiatives, which lead to tangible and highly valuable outcomes at a grass roots level.

The submission also identifies the importance of retention of the Payment in Lieu of 
Rates (PiLoR) framework established under the Electricity Industry Act 2000 being 
retained, requesting that further consideration of an increase in both the payable 
fixed and variable rate components, as a result of localised project impacts on 
community and potential concentration within a declared REZ.

Funding Outcomes and Governance
The submission highlights that Council is firmly of the view that local impacts need to 
have local decisions and it is fundamental that local communities are involved in the 
allocation of community energy funds.

The submission notes the proposed two-pronged approach to funding; utilising 
community reference groups to identify and recommend funding opportunities; and a 
cross-government reference group providing decision making guidance. This 
approach seems logical provided clear criteria and a framework is established to 
guide decision making and monitor allocation and accountability.
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The submission flags that the use of Regional Partnerships as the body to administer 
community energy funds is not appropriate or aligned with the best interest decision 
making of locals. Regional Partnership groups and membership should not be used 
as a vehicle to draw funding allocation away from a declared REZ and affected 
community,

It is therefore critical that any proposed community reference group makeup be 
provided with clear guidance through the CBP around eligibility criteria and award of 
funding, including proportionality of impacts and consideration of both short and 
long-term values.

As an alternative approach to Regional Partnerships, it is recommended that VicGrid 
establish new representative community reference groups for a REZ, which reflect 
the localised mix of interests, representative bodies and sector-based organisations, 
helping to develop capabilities, knowledge and community linkages, whilst ensuring 
that localised benefit is obtained and kept through the community energy fund.

Policy and Legislative Context
This report is in keeping with the commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025:

Theme One - A Connected Community
Infrastructure that enables industry and business growth

Theme Two - A Thriving Community
Facilitating and supporting economic development
Recognising the vital role agriculture plays within the Shire

Theme Four - Improving Our Environment
Capitalising on opportunities created by new energy, and minimising impacts on 
key industry sectors, landscape values and natural assets

Theme Five - Community Leadership
Council advocates strongly and respectfully on issues that matter to our 
community
We listen to and engage with our community

Internal / External Consultation
Consultation on the CBP is being undertaken by VicGrid via Engage Victoria until 25 
June 2024. The consultation provides an opportunity for all stakeholders to put 
forward views and priorities regarding the CBP and REZ community energy funds.

Council officers have been kept directly engaged with VicGrid, whilst VicGrid have 
also briefed Council in February 2024 on continued work associated with the VTIF.
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Preparation of the CPB has been informed by earlier consultation undertaken by 
VicGrid in late-2023 and early-2024, also through Engage Victoria, which appears to 
have lacked community awareness and participation within Corangamite Shire and, 
more broadly, across the South-West region. Therefore, it is imperative now that 
Council and community remain engaged in the CBP and upcoming VTP and REZ 
planning.

Financial and Resource Implications
Making a submission does not present any direction financial or resource impact on 
Council but may influence and benefit future project and community outcomes 
through funding opportunities arising from the community energy fund, should a REZ 
be declared in Corangamite Shire.
Options
It is recommended that Council resolve to approve the submission attached to the 
report and submit it for the CBP. 

Alternatively, Council may choose to approve an alternate submission, or not make a 
submission on the CBP at all. 

Conclusions
A draft Council submission has been prepared in response to the CBP. The 
submission builds upon previous matters raised regarding REZ planning and 
development by VicGrid, but focuses on the core components outlined within the 
CBP.

The submission is presented for Council’s approval to submit as part of the CBP 
consultation.

 RECOMMENDATION - 9.14

That Council resolve to:
1. Approve the Corangamite Shire Council Submission Renewable Energy 

Zone Community Benefits Plan 2024
2. Authorise the Chief Executive Officer to sign the approved submission 

and submit it to VicGrid.
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9.15 Submission - Inquiry into Food Security

9.15 Submission - Inquiry into Food Security

Directorate: Sustainable Development
Author: Justine Linley, Director Sustainable Development
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments: Nil

  

Declaration
Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – Justine Linley

In providing this advice to Council as the Director Sustainable Development, I have 
no interests to disclose in this report.

Author – Katie Hearn

In providing this advice to Council as the Manager Community Services I have no 
interests to disclose in this report.

Summary
The purpose of this report is to authorise the CEO to make a submission to the 
Legislative Council of the Victorian State Government on the inquiry into food 
insecurity in Victoria. Submissions close on 26 July 2024.

Introduction
On 29 November 2023, the Legislative Council of the Victorian State Government 
agreed to the following motion:

That this House requires the Legal and Social Issues Committee to inquire 
into, consider and report, by 14 November 2024, on the impacts and drivers 
of, and solutions for, food security in Victoria, including but not limited to —
(1) the impact of food insecurity in Victoria, on —
(a) physical and mental health;
(b) poverty and hardship; and
(2) options available to lower the cost of food and improve access to 
affordable, nutritious and culturally appropriate food.
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The Inquiry was opened for submissions on 3 June 2024.

In late 2023 the Commonwealth Government issued findings into a related inquiry 
into food security, Australian Food Story: Feeding the National and Beyond 2023  
and Council is currently in the consultation phase in the preparation of Grow 
Corangamite: Securing our Agriculture Future, a strategy to address land-use, 
economic and social impacts on food and fibre production.

Most recently, South West Healthcare (SWH) Health Promotion completed an 
investigative report, Food Insecurity in the Corangamite Shire 2023, exploring food 
affordability in Corangamite and how to address food insecurity. This report was 
released on 19 June 2024 and the findings are important evidence for this 
submission. A copy of the report has been circulated under separate cover.

Background
Corangamite is a renown agricultural district producing a large percentage of 
Australia’s milk, as well as beef, lamb, grain, and wool.  Agriculture is the single 
largest sector of the Corangamite economy, generating $805 million of economic 
output in 2020-2021 (30% of total output), and accounting for 2,442 jobs (32% of 
total employment).  Excellent soils, reliable rainfall and mild climate underpin the 
productivity and versatility of Corangamite’s agricultural sector.  The Shire’s success 
comes from skilled producers utilising modern technology to boost productivity and 
efficiency and achieve increasing levels of sustainability.

Food manufacturing is the second largest sector by economic output and the sixth 
largest employer in the Shire.  It generated $408 million of economic output in 2020-
2021 (15% of total output) and accounted for 483 jobs (6% of total 
employment).  Agriculture and food manufacturing drive a thriving service sector with 
benefits flowing to the construction, transport, warehousing, utility services and 
professional services sectors, and increasing links to local tourism with a growing 
reputation for its local produce and gourmet food experiences. 

Conversely, many residents in the Shire at the same time experience the impacts of 
food insecurity. Healthy eating has far-reaching impacts on health and wellbeing and 
is a vital protective measure against many chronic diseases. However, the ability to 
consume a healthy diet is inextricably linked with the social determinants of health, 
with some members of our community experiencing greater barriers to consume a 
nutritious diet. Considering the affordability and accessibility of food within our 
community is important to ascertain what barriers are most prohibitive locally and 
ensure strategies meet the community’s needs. 

Local data indicates that residents in the Corangamite Shire are not consuming the 
recommended serves of fruit and vegetables, signifying the need for assessment of 
barriers and more localised support. 
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In 2017, the Victorian Population Health Survey found that only 2% of adults in 
Corangamite Shire were meeting the vegetable consumption guidelines and 37% 
were meeting the fruit consumption guidelines.

The Great South Coast Health Behaviours study showed that in 2019, only 21% of 
participating year 4 and year 6 students in Corangamite Shire were meeting the 
vegetable consumption guidelines and 68% were meeting the fruit consumption 
guidelines.

With the cost of living impacts, the daily challenge of consuming a well-balanced and 
nutritious diet is getting harder. For many, the increased cost for essentials such as 
rent/mortgage, energy bills and fuel, can result in food becoming a discretionary 
expense. This means that many people may not have enough money to be able to 
afford adequate and nutritious food, resulting in food insecurity. This raises several 
concerns given the role the Shire has as a high-value agricultural food production 
area in our economic and community profile.

Issues
Food security for the purposes of this report and submission is defined as “when all 
people, at all times, have physical, social and economic access to sufficient, safe 
and nutritious food that meets the dietary needs and food preferences for an active 
and healthy life” (United Nations Food and Agriculture Organisation).

This definition is underpinned by four pillars, namely Availability, Access, Utilisation 
and Stability. A further two pillars were included as part of the Commonwealth’s 2023 
inquiry, namely Agency and Sustainability.

• Availability: Having a quantity and quality of food sufficient to satisfy the 
dietary needs of individuals, free from adverse substances and acceptable 
within a given culture, supplied through domestic production or imports.

• Access: Having personal or household financial means to acquire food for an 
adequate diet at a level to ensure that satisfaction of other basic needs are 
not threatened or compromised; and that adequate food is accessible to 
everyone, including vulnerable individuals and groups.

• Utilisation: Having an adequate diet, clean water, sanitation and health care 
to reach a state of nutritional well-being where all physiological needs are 
met.

• Stability: Having the ability to ensure food security in the event of sudden 
shocks (e.g. an economic, health, conflict or climatic crisis) or cyclical events 
(e.g. seasonal food insecurity). 
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• Agency: Individuals or groups having the capacity to act independently to 
make choices about what they eat, the foods they produce, how that food is 
produced, processed, and distributed, and to engage in policy processes that 
shape food systems. The protection of agency requires socio-political systems 
that uphold governance structures that enable the achievement of Food 
Security and Nutrition for all.

• Sustainability: Food system practices that contribute to long-term 
regeneration of natural, social and economic systems, ensuring the food 
needs of the present generations are met without compromising the food 
needs of future generations

Food insecurity exists whenever the availability of nutritionally adequate and safe 
foods, or the ability to acquire acceptable food in socially acceptable ways is limited 
or uncertain. (SWH Health Promotion: Food Insecurity in the Corangamite Shire 
2023).

Australian Food Story: Feeding the Nation and Beyond, November 2023
In November 2023 the House Standing Committee on Agriculture released a report  
and findings following an Inquiry that was referred to the Committee in October 2022. 
The report examines calls for a national food security strategy, food production 
consumption and export, inputs, the supply chain, climate change and biosecurity 
and food insecurity. It includes 35 recommendations with a number having direct 
relevance to Corangamite Shire residents, agricultural producers and other 
businesses.

The first recommendation is that the Australian Government, in consultation and 
cooperation with State and Territory Governments, relevant industries, sectors and 
the community, develop a comprehensive National Food Plan providing for the food 
security, including nutritional security, of the nation and its people. The National 
Food Plan must have clear objectives and measurable targets set out in regular 
updates and action plans, and subject to regular review.

Recommendation 4 states as part of the National Food Plan, and in conjunction with 
industry, the Government develop a specific strategy for reinvigorating the Australian 
dairy industry, one which lifts profitability and production while addressing the 
economic and environmental sustainability of the industry, and identifies the 
resources and pathways required to achieve this.

Several recommendations explore further the role of innovation and value adding in 
food production to enhance food security (Recommendations 7, 8) and others look at 
skill development and employment (Recommendations 9,10,11). 
Recommendation 12 recommends supporting the development and expansion of the 
domestic production and manufacturing of essential inputs, such as fertiliser and 
agricultural chemicals.
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There are recommendations that address food waste, food hubs, circular economy, 
recovery and recycling of packaging and review of labelling and ‘best before’ and 
‘use-by’ dates and eligibility of agriculture for Australian Carbon Credit Units 
(Recommendations 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23). Several recommendations look at capital, 
investment and research and development (Recommendations 24, 25).

Biosecurity and protection of the food system is also addressed (Recommendations 
27, 28) and the remaining recommendations (Recommendations 29 to 34) address 
education and access to nutritious food throughout the nation.

Of particular interest are Recommendations 13 and 14, namely:
“The Committee recommends the Australian Government, in conjunction with 
State, Territory and Local governments, develop a strategic plan to protect 
agricultural land from urban sprawl and utilisation for non-agricultural 
purposes.” (Recommendation 13); and

“The Committee recommends that as part of the development of a National 
Food Plan, the Australian Government coordinate with industry in the 
development of a National Food Supply Chain Map, identifying:

• where products are grown or produced and in what quantity;
• how they are transported;
• where they are processed;
• what the major transport routes are;
• the main centres for the collection and distribution of product;
• where transport routes are vulnerable; and
• what happens if they are cut.

This map should also identify key inputs and vulnerabilities to lack of supply.
The Australian Government should consider options for technical innovation in 
the collection, access to and dissemination of this information and 
data.”(Recommendation 14).

Both recommendations 13 and 14 have direct relevance to Council in terms of how 
food is grown, produced and distributed, having a direct impact on access to 
affordable, nutritious food.

Grow Corangamite: Securing our Agriculture Future
Council is preparing an Agricultural Strategy to cement its position as a significant 
agricultural producer and food manufacturer into the future.  The Grow Corangamite: 
Sustaining our Agriculture Future project will provide:

• A comprehensive understanding of the physical, social, and economic 
attributes that underpin agriculture and the challenges and opportunities 
confronting the industry.
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• An economic development and planning framework to support and grow 
agriculture into the future.

The Grow Corangamite strategy will ultimately establish a strategic vision for 
agriculture in the Shire. In doing so, it will consider:

• Land use planning outcomes, including environmental/sustainability values, 
diversification and adaption, tourism, cultural heritage, land capability, quality 
and value of agricultural land, land use conflicts, infrastructure etc.

• Economic opportunities and market challenges.
• Long-term strategies, competitive strengths, and locational-specific 

advantages.
• Strategies and actions that respond the issues and opportunities identified. 

As part of the background work to inform the overall strategy, a Background Report 
has been prepared and is currently out for community feedback. It brings together 
desktop research and analysis to understand the current state of the agricultural 
sector; identify the key strengths and weaknesses facing the agricultural sector in the 
Shire; and the opportunities and threats (those external factors) which the Strategy 
should seek to address. 

The Background report, and in turn the Strategy, seek to identify the economic and 
land use planning directions Council could adopt to enable the ongoing viability and 
growth of the agricultural sector and the local community it supports. 

One core tenet of the Strategy will be to identify mechanisms to enhance and protect 
food production (growing, processing and distribution) in the Shire and to identify 
opportunities to also ensure local access to local produce.

SWH Health Promotion: Food Insecurity in the Corangamite Shire 2023
The SWH Health Promotion report identified 6 recommendations to address food 
insecurity in Corangamite Shire. In summary these are:

• Continue to advocate for increased income support rates and increase 
flexibility of emergency relief to support families on low incomes;

• Increase access to healthy foods through wider promotion of local producers 
and initiatives offering local produce;

• Use food initiatives and existing assets as a way to bring the community 
together including food swaps, redistributing excess produce, community 
houses and community meals;

• Promote the benefits of eating more fruit and vegetables to support cost-
savings at the supermarket as well as health and wellbeing;

• Increase educational opportunities around food, shopping and cooking literacy 
to support households with meal planning and cooking on a budget; and

• Investigate opportunities for healthier retail environments – high cost of food is 
a consistent theme.
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The SWH Health Promotion food insecurity investigation confirmed that the 
increasing cost of living, high food costs and challenges of living in rural areas have 
a significant impact on residents’ ability to access and afford nutritious food. This has 
led to people in Corangamite not consuming the recommended servings of fruits and 
vegetables, impacting on health and wellbeing outcomes. The investigation found 
that further investment and support for local initiatives that reduce barriers to food, 
increase household and community resilience and improve affordability of food are 
vital for mitigating the impacts of food insecurity. 

The investigation modelled the costs of a healthy diet that aligns with Australian 
dietary guidelines and the current Australian diet. In Corangamite, the cost of the 
recommended diet for a family of four ranged from $757.52 to $894.12, a difference 
in cost of $136.60 from the least expensive to the most expensive supermarket. The 
cost of the current diet for a family of four ranged from $907.94 to $1105.37, a 
difference in cost of $197.43 from the least expensive to the most expensive 
supermarket. In Warrnambool the recommended diet cost a family of four an 
average of $697.75 which is 14% more affordable than the average cost of $815.45 
in Corangamite. Prices were found to be 8% higher in the North Ward compared to 
the Central ward and the highest levels of disadvantage, along with a lower density 
of essential food stores, were also found in the North Ward. Based on the median 
household income in Corangamite a recommended diet would cost a family of four 
30% - 35% of their household income. Research literature suggests that food stress 
occurs when food costs account for 25% or more of a household income and 
becomes unaffordable when food costs account for 30% or more of income.

To address the issue of food insecurity across the Corangamite Shire, greater 
awareness of the significant cost of food, and the implications of food stress needs to 
be shared. Collaborative initiatives and grass roots approaches driven by community 
members and service providers are an effective method to alleviate food insecurity, 
and are valued by the local community. The report also concluded that the 
Corangamite community has solid foundations to build on and many opportunities for 
Council and local organisations to work together to support our communities to 
create an equitable, affordable and resilient food system for good health.

It is proposed that the submission to the Legislative Council’s Inquiry reference the 
Commonwealth Inquiry, the Grow Corangamite: Securing our Agriculture Future 
background report and community feedback, and the SWH Health Promotion Food 
Insecurity in the Corangamite Shire 2023 report. The submission will use information 
that has specific relevance to Corangamite Shire and will be made under two 
headings, namely Impacts and Solutions. 
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Impacts
A description of the current food production and food security landscape in 
Corangamite Shire, drawing on evidence contained in the SWH Regional Health 
Promotion Report and the Grow Agriculture Background paper including:

• Demographics
• Distribution networks and access to nutritious food
• Food availability and affordability specific to Corangamite Shire (e.g. prices of 

essential food are 8% higher in the North Ward compared to the Central 
Ward)

• Food production and supply chain including transport
• Land-use competition from non-food sectors

Solutions
Recommendations from the SWH Regional Health Promotion report and feedback 
from the Grow Agriculture Background paper including:

• Education – working with community organisations, schools, supermarkets
• Promotion of local producers and local produce
• Community-led initiatives (food swap, share, markets, gardens)
• Food waste reduction
• Land-use planning to secure local agriculture/food production
• Improved transport connections – for people and produce to market.

Policy and Legislative Context
This report is in keeping with the commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025:

Theme One - A Connected Community
Access to infrastructure that supports a healthy and active lifestyle for our 
community

Theme Two - A Thriving Community
Recognising the vital role agriculture plays within the Shire

Theme Three - A Healthy, Active and Resilient Community
Improving the health and wellbeing of our residents
Access and inclusion is improved

Theme Four - Improving Our Environment
Helping our community plan and respond to climate change
Piloting the implementation of the United Nations Sustainable Development 
Goals (SDGs) at the local level
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Internal / External Consultation
Council officers were consulted together with the Campderdown Community House, 
Simpson Community Centre, Terang Mortlake Health Service, Timboon District 
Health Service and the South West Healthcare Health Promotion team in the Food 
Insecurity report investigations and preparations. 

Financial and Resource Implications
There are no financial or resource implications associated with making a submission 
to the Legislative Council Committee Inquiry.

Options
It is proposed that Council authorise the CEO to make a submission to the Inquiry in 
accordance with the themes identified in the report. Alternatively Council may wish to 
add to or adjust the themes or to decline to make a submission.

Conclusions
Food security, or insecurity, is of relevance to Corangamite Shire on a number of 
levels. There can be little argument that Agriculture is the most important industry to 
the economic wellbeing and prosperity of our communities throughout the 
municipality. The work Council is currently undertaking in the preparation of the 
Grow Corangamite: Securing our Agricultural Future Strategy takes up several of the 
recommendations contained in the Commonwealth Government’s Feeding the 
Nation and Beyond report particularly relating to land-use conflict, the importance of 
highly productive food producing land and distribution networks. 

Equally, it is therefore difficult to reconcile the evidence that our residents continue to 
face a daily challenge of consuming a well-balanced nutritious diet as outlined in the 
most recent SWH Health Promotion report on Food Insecurity in Corangamite. In 
providing a submission to the Legislative Council Inquiry, Council can put forward the 
experiences and describe the impacts of food insecurity on our communities, and 
offer potential, considered solutions that are specific to this municipality, it’s residents 
and farm businesses.
 RECOMMENDATION - 9.15

That Council authorise the CEO to make a submission to the Legislative 
Council of the Victorian State Government on the inquiry into food insecurity 
in Victoria.  
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9.16 Submission - State inquiry into Local Government funding and services

9.16 Submission - State inquiry into Local Government funding 
and services

Directorate: Civic Support
Author: Chris Asenjo, Manager Governance and Civic Support
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments: Nil

  

Declaration
Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – Chris Asenjo

In providing this advice to Council as the Manager Governance and Civic Support, I 
have no interests to disclose in this report.

Summary
The State Legislative Council - Economy and Infrastructure Committee has 
commenced a new inquiry into Local Government Funding and Services. This report 
recommends that Council make a submission to the Committee. Submissions are 
due by 28 June 2024.

Introduction
Council has received correspondence from The State Legislative Council - Economy 
and Infrastructure Committee chair Ms. Georgie Purcell on an inquiry into local 
government funding and services. As part of the inquiry, the Committee will examine 
financial sustainability and funding frameworks of local governments, alongside 
service delivery and the effects of cost shifting from Commonwealth and State 
governments to local councils.
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The Terms of Reference are as follows:

The State Legislative Council - Economy and Infrastructure Committee inquiry into 
local government funding and services, terms of reference:
 

• The effects of cost shifting from the Commonwealth and State governments 
to local councils in an examination of vertical and horizontal fiscal 
imbalances;

• Whether local councils are adequately delivering on their core service 
delivery objectives;

• The overall revenue structure of local government;
• Whether the existing revenue structure is sustainable and appropriate or if 

alternative models of funding would be more sustainable and appropriate;
• Any other related matters.

It is proposed that the inquiry attend Camperdown in early August 2024, to conduct a 
hearing, with local councils, community groups and individuals offered the 
opportunity to provide submissions to the inquiry. The proposed hearing in 
Camperdown is to be confirmed.

Further information about the inquiry is available at: Inquiry into Local Government 
funding and services (parliament.vic.gov.au)

Issues
The Committee is seeking to understand the challenges faced by local governments 
in funding, revenue and providing services and related infrastructure requirements 
across Victorian local councils.

The Corangamite Shire submission will address all the terms of reference and will 
have the following focus:

• Funding and revenue streams, including council rates and rate caps, fees and 
charges, grant funding and the ongoing financial sustainability of local 
government.

• The ability of Corangamite Shire to assess and maintain sustainable service 
delivery to the community.

• The role of State and Commonwealth governments in supporting local 
government funding and services.

• Highlighting the differences between metropolitan, regional and rural local 
councils from a revenue and service delivery perspective.

https://www.parliament.vic.gov.au/localgovernmentfunding
https://www.parliament.vic.gov.au/localgovernmentfunding


AGENDA - Council Meeting 25 June 2024

  Page 219 | 239

Victorian councils, especially rural councils, generally have very few options 
available to raise revenue other than from rates, which are capped by the Victorian 
State Government. Council can of course decrease spending and Corangamite Shire 
is constantly looking at ways of doing things more efficiently and increasing 
productivity.

The 2018 Victorian Government inquiry into the sustainability and operational 
challenges of Victoria’s rural and regional Councils reported that several key 
differences between metropolitan and regional councils, including rural councils, 
were evident to the inquiry and that these differences needed to be considered in 
understanding the sustainability of regional and rural councils. These differences 
included regional and rural councils incurred higher costs than metropolitan councils 
and that regional councils had less ability to raise revenue than metropolitan 
councils. These two factors are critical in identifying how State and Commonwealth 
governments funds are disseminated to councils. 

Local councils are at times significantly impacted by legislation and policy change of 
State and Commonwealth governments. Changes that are intended to improve 
industry sectors, work practices and outcomes for communities often impact local 
governments’ ability to deliver sustainable high-quality services. Councils provide 
services and programs to communities in a not-for-profit scope. Any mandated 
change to structures, legislation or policy needs to be considered by Council in terms 
of sustainability of service, cost and workforce.

In the past councils have advocated strongly for a greater share of Commonwealth 
and State revenue. In 2015, almost ten years ago, the Commonwealth Government 
released its taxation white paper. Contained within this paper was a breakdown of 
the allocation of every tax dollar. There is a clear disparity in funding when the levels 
of government are compared. From each tax dollar, just 3 cents goes towards 
funding Local Government, 16 cents goes to the State Government and 81 cents to 
the Commonwealth Government. What is at issue is not whether there is a rate cap, 
but instead the inadequacy of the current funding models for the core, community-
focused, essential work of local government.

It is proposed that the CEO be authorised to make a submission to the Inquiry, 
highlighting the impacts of previous reforms, both positive and negative, and to 
support change to the funding models to enable a greater opportunity for the direct 
contribution of the Commonwealth and State towards council services and 
infrastructure provision. 
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Policy and Legislative Context
This report is in keeping with the commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025:

Theme Five - Community Leadership
Having strong governance practices
Ensuring that we maintain our strong financial position
Council advocates strongly and respectfully on issues that matter to our 
community

Internal / External Consultation
Discussion has occurred with the Executive Leadership Team and officers in the 
preparation of the submission.

Financial and Resource Implications
There are no direct financial or resource implications.

Options
Council may authorise the CEO to make a submission or may choose not to make a 
submission at this time.

Conclusions
Opportunities to advocate on behalf of the Corangamite community at the State 
Government level are often limited. Council has previously participated in reform 
programs and initiatives at both Commonwealth and State Government levels with 
varying degrees of success. The invitation to make a submission to this State 
Government Inquiry provides Council with an opportunity to have the voices of the 
community and council heard at the State level.

 RECOMMENDATION - 9.16

That Council authorise the CEO to make a submission to the State inquiry into 
Local Government funding and services 2024.
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9.17 Special Charge Scheme Final Costs - Neil Avenue Road Upgrade

9.17 Special Charge Scheme Final Costs - Neil Avenue Road 
Upgrade

Directorate: Works and Services
Author: John Kelly, Manager Assets Planning
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments: 1. Under Separate Cover - Apportionment Neil Avenue Terang 

Upgrade SCS Final Costs [9.17.1 - 1 page]
  

Declaration
Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – John Kelly

In providing this advice to Council as the Manager Assets Planning, I have no 
interests to disclose in this report.

Summary
Works have been completed on the upgrade of the existing gravel road to sealed 
road and associated works in Neil Avenue, Terang, from Cameron Street to 
approximately 485m east of Cameron Street. Costs associated with the Special 
Charge Scheme for these works have been finalised.

The final costs are less than those estimated at the time of the declaration of the 
Special Charge Scheme.

Approval is sought from Council to vary the cost of the Special Charge Scheme as 
shown below and to serve notice to the benefitting property owners seeking their 
contribution.

Introduction
Council, at its meeting on 22 November 2022, declared a Special Charge Scheme 
for the purposes of defraying expenses associated with the upgrade of Neil Avenue 
from gravel road to sealed road which was completed in December 2023.
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Issues
The actual cost of sealing the road on completion was less than the cost of 
construction estimated at the time of the declaration. The initial estimate to the 
Scheme were based on similar projects previously undertaken in the Shire and 
market rates.
Minor cost savings are proposed to be passed on to the property owners contributing 
to the Scheme.

Details on the estimated and final cost for the scheme and cost to property owners 
are provided in the Financial and Resource Implications section below.

Policy and Legislative Context
This report is in keeping with the commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025:

Theme One - A Connected Community
Roads that are fit for purpose

Theme Five - Community Leadership
Council promotes best value and value for money for its ratepayers

The Special Charge was declared pursuant to Section 163 of the Local Government 
Act 1989, and 65% of the cost associated with the Scheme is to be recovered from 
property owners benefiting from the works.

The process for finalising costs for the special charge scheme is in accordance with 
Council’s Special Rates and Charges Policy.

Internal / External Consultation
The Special Charge Scheme has previously been through a formal consultation 
process in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 and Council policy.

The Scheme, which was declared at the Council Meeting on 22 November 2022, is 
to be varied in respect of the final cost and property owners are to be notified of the 
required contribution.

Following the Council meeting, letters were forwarded to the benefitting property 
owners advising of the declaration. The letters also advised of the estimated amount 
of contribution from each owner as well as the owners’ rights of appeal.

Since the declaration there were no appeals made to VCAT objecting to the works.
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Financial and Resource Implications
The upgrade works on Neil Avenue, Terang are now complete and Scheme details 
are outlined in Table 1.

TOTAL SCHEME COST COST TO PROPERTY 
OWNERS

Estimated Final Estimated Final
Neil Ave, Terang $72,111 $68,643 $46,872 $44,618

Table 1: Details of Scheme Costs

The schedule of final costs to be apportioned to each owner is attached to this 
report. Added costs associated with sealing property driveways by prior agreement 
with the owners are included in the schedules. These costs are at the full expense of 
the owners and do not form part of the Scheme.

Other costs for the project which did not form part of the Scheme included 
earthworks associated with widening the road to a minimum standard carriageway 
width for Council and asphalt surfacing of the end court bowl.

Options
Council can choose to return the minor savings arising from finalisation of the 
Scheme to the contributing property owners. This is consistent with Council’s Special 
Rates and Charges Policy. Alternatively, Council can treat the cost savings as 
general revenue.

Conclusions
The sealing of Neil Avenue has improved the amenity of those living in the street and 
is considered to benefit the property owners.

The project has been managed efficiently to ensure that residents making 
contributions are not financially disadvantaged.
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 RECOMMENDATION - 9.17

That Council, with respect to the Special Charge Scheme declared on the 22 
November 2022 for the purpose of defraying the expenses incurred for the 
upgrade of the existing gravel road to sealed road and associated works in 
Neil Avenue, Terang, from Cameron Street to approximately 485m east of 
Cameron Street:

1. Varies the above Special Charge Scheme to acknowledge the final costs 
as per the attached schedule pursuant to Section 166(1) of the Local 
Government Act 1989, and issues notices to be served on the property 
owners pursuant to Section 166(2) of the Act.

2. Serves notices to property owners benefitting from the works for the 
final costs for full payment within thirty days of the owner receiving 
notice or by twenty quarterly instalments as approved by Council, 
bearing interest at the rate of interest set by Council Policy “Special 
Charge Schemes – Interest on Payment”.
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9.18 Special Charge Scheme Final Costs - Curdies River Road Upgrade

9.18 Special Charge Scheme Final Costs - Curdies River Road 
Upgrade

Directorate: Works and Services
Author: John Kelly, Manager Assets Planning
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments: 1. Under Separate Cover - Apportionment Curdies River Road 

Timboon Upgrade SCS Final Costs [9.18.1 - 1 page]
  

Declaration
Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – John Kelly

In providing this advice to Council as the Manager Assets Planning, I have no 
interests to disclose in this report.

Summary
Works have been completed on the upgrade of the existing gravel road to sealed 
road and associated works in Curdies River Road, Timboon, from just north of the 
golf course to approximately 280m north of Colcott Street. Costs associated with the 
Special Charge Scheme for these works have been finalised. 
 
The final costs are less than those estimated at the time of the declaration of the 
Special Charge Scheme. 
 
Approval is sought from Council to vary the cost of the Special Charge Scheme as 
shown below and to serve notice to the benefitting property owners seeking their 
contribution.

Introduction
Council, at its meeting on 24 October 2023, declared a Special Charge Scheme for 
the purposes of defraying expenses associated with the upgrade of Curdies River 
Road from gravel road to sealed road which was completed in April 2024.
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Issues
The actual cost of sealing of the road on completion was less than the cost of 
construction estimated at the time of the declaration. The initial estimate to the 
Scheme were based on similar projects previously undertaken in the Shire and 
market rates. 
 
Minor cost savings are proposed to be passed on to the property owners contributing 
to the Scheme. 
 
Details on the estimated and final cost for the scheme and cost to property owners 
are provided in the Financial and Resource Implications section below.

Policy and Legislative Context
This report is in keeping with the commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025:

Theme One - A Connected Community
Roads that are fit for purpose

Theme Five - Community Leadership
Council promotes best value and value for money for its ratepayers

The Special Charge was declared pursuant to Section 163 of the Local Government 
Act 1989, and 8% of the cost associated with the Scheme is to be recovered from 
property owners benefiting from the works. 
 
The process for finalising costs for the special charge scheme is in accordance with 
Council’s Special Rates and Charges Policy.

Internal / External Consultation
The Special Charge Scheme has previously been through a formal consultation 
process in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 and Council policy. 
 
The Scheme, which was declared at the Council Meeting on 24 October 2023, is to 
be varied in respect of the final cost and property owners are to be notified of the 
required contribution. 
 
Following the Council meeting, letters were forwarded to the benefitting property 
owners advising of the declaration. The letters also advised of the estimated amount 
of contribution from each owner as well as the owners’ rights of appeal.
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Financial and Resource Implications
The upgrade works on Curdies River Road,Timboon are now complete and Scheme 
details are outlined in Table 1. 
 

TOTAL SCHEME COST COST TO PROPERTY 
OWNERS

Estimated Final Estimated Final
Curdies River 
Road, Timboon

$220,500 $214,093 $17,640 $17,127

Table 1: Details of Scheme Costs
 
The schedule of final costs to be apportioned to each owner is attached to this 
report. 
 
Other costs for the project which did not form part of the Scheme included 
earthworks associated with widening the road to a minimum standard carriageway 
width for Council.

Options
Council can choose to return the minor savings arising from finalisation of the 
Scheme to the contributing property owners. This is consistent with Council’s Special 
Rates and Charges Policy. Alternatively, Council can treat the cost savings as 
general revenue.  

Conclusions
The sealing of Curdies River Road has improved the amenity of those living in the 
street and is considered to benefit the property owners. 
 
The project has been managed efficiently to ensure that residents making 
contributions are not financially disadvantaged.
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 RECOMMENDATION - 9.18

That Council, with respect to the Special Charge Scheme declared on the 23 
October 2023 for the purpose of defraying the expenses incurred for the 
upgrade of the existing gravel road to sealed road and associated works in 
Curdies River Road, Timboon, from just north of the golf course to 
approximately 280m north of Colcott Street:

1. Varies the above Special Charge Scheme to acknowledge the final costs 
as per the attached schedule pursuant to Section 166(1) of the Local 
Government Act 1989, and issues notices to be served on the property 
owners pursuant to Section 166(2) of the Act.

2. Serves notices to property owners benefitting from the works for the 
final costs for full payment within thirty days of the owner receiving 
notice or by twenty quarterly instalments as approved by Council, 
bearing interest at the rate of interest set by Council Policy “Special 
Charge Schemes – Interest on Payment”.
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9.19 Ready Now Grants June Quarterly Acquittal Report

9.19 Ready Now Grants June Quarterly Acquittal Report

Directorate: Sustainable Development
Author: Garry Moorfield, Community Development Officer 
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments: 1. CONFIDENTIAL REDACTED - Ready Now Grants June 

2024 Applications and Assessment [9.19.1 - 3 pages]
  

Declaration
Pursuant to sections 3(1) and 66(5) of the Local Government Act 2020 the Chief 
Executive Officer has designated this attachment as confidential on the grounds that 
it contains personal information, being information which if released would result in 
the unreasonable disclosure of information about any person or their personal 
affairs. In particular the attachment contains personal information.

Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – Garry Moorfield 

In providing this advice to Council as the Community Development Officer, I have no 
interests to disclose in this report.

Summary
The purpose of this quarterly report is to provide information on Ready Now Grant 
allocations approved between March and May 2024 inclusive.

Introduction
The Ready Now Grants Program supports the community with small timely grants to 
volunteer based community groups for proposals that are not readily able to be 
considered under the annual Community, Enabling, Events and Festivals, Facilities 
or Environmental Grants Programs.
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Issues
The Ready Now Grants Policy was adopted by Council in September 2023. The new 
program replaced the previous Quick Response Grants Program which had operated 
for more than a decade. The Ready Now Grants Program is a targeted program 
focused on community benefit, supporting community groups and activities where 
small grants can ‘make a difference’.

The program is designed to be flexible and responsive to community needs. 
Applications for Ready Now Grants are assessed as they are received with approval 
of grant applications delegated to the CEO enabling quick turnaround of applications 
as the process isn’t required to meet monthly reporting timelines.

The program provides small allocations of funds of up to $500 for beneficial projects 
and activities supporting community inclusion and participation and providing 
equipment, facilities and public spaces that are appropriate for community use. 
Grants are open to volunteer-based community groups operating within Corangamite 
Shire.

Recent Ready Now Grant Applications and Approvals
Over the last quarter (March – May 2024) 14 applications were lodged with nine 
grants approved over that period. Applications approved and funding provided are 
outlined in Table 1 below.

Project Amount Status Comments
Camperdown Clocktower 
Quilters Incorporated
Purchase of materials and 
quilting for community quilts

$500 Invoice received 
and paid

Acquittal due 
30 September 
2024

Derrinallum Bowling Club 
Incorporated
Purchase of ditch step for 
green access

$398 Invoice received 
and paid

Acquittal due 
30 September 
2024

Camperdown and District 
Historical Society 
Incorporated
Reprint of Robert Burns 
booklet

$500 Invoice received 
and paid

Acquittal due 
7 November 
2024

South West Model Engineers 
Incorporated

Purchase of leaf and stick 
rake

$500 Project acquitted
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Project Amount Status Comments
Scotts Creek and Cowleys 
Creek Public Hall 
Incorporated

Purchase of folding tables (5)

$500 Invoice received 
and paid

Acquittal due 
7 November 
2024

Lismore Cemetery Trust 
Incorporated

Purchase and installation of 
security cameras and lights

$422 Invoice received 
and paid

Acquittal due 
2 November 
2024

Skipton progress Association 
Incorporated

Purchase of market banners X 
2

$472 Invoice received 
and paid.

South Western District 
Restoration Group 
Incorporated
Replace Club entrance 
signage

$500 Approved. 
Invoice awaited

Cobden and District Historical 
Society
Purchase of two roadside 
promotional signs

$440 Approved. 
Invoice awaited

Table 1: Approved Ready Now Grants, March to May 2024

Five additional applications were received which did not comply with relevant Council 
policies. Following discussions with the applicants three were withdrawn. One 
application seeking $500 for garden maintenance was not supported. Further 
information was requested in regard to an incomplete application, but as yet has not 
been supplied. 

Policy and Legislative Context
This report is in keeping with the commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025:

Theme Two - A Thriving Community
Facilitating and supporting economic development
Arts and culture that is supported and accessible
Corangamite’s townships are attractive, accessible and appealing to visitors 
and are presented in a way in which our residents can be proud

Theme Three - A Healthy, Active and Resilient Community
Access and inclusion is improved
Our community groups and clubs are engaged and supported and facilities are 
fit for purpose
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Internal / External Consultation
The Ready Now Grants policy, adopted by Council in September 2023, was 
prepared taking into consideration community feedback. The application forms for 
the Ready Now Grants Program are available from Council’s website or by 
contacting Council’s Community Development Officer who can assist applicants 
through the application process.

Financial and Resource Implications
The 2023-2024 Quick Response Grants/ Ready Now Program (adjusted) budget 
allocation is $24,253. Grants to a total value of $17,531.64 have been awarded as at 
31 May 2024.

Conclusions
The Ready Now Grants Program provides financial assistance to eligible volunteer-
based community groups to undertake beneficial projects and activities. The 
applications approved for funding are in accordance with the Ready Now Grants 
Policy and provide positive outcomes for Corangamite communities.

 RECOMMENDATION - 9.19

That Council notes the quarterly report (March to May 2024) for the Ready Now 
Grants program.
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9.20 Business Assistance Scheme - June Grants

9.20 Business Assistance Scheme - June Grants

Directorate: Sustainable Development
Author: Katy McMahon, Manager Economy & Prosperity
Previous Council Reference: Nil
Attachments: 1. CONFIDENTIAL REDACTED - Business Assistance Scheme 

Application Assessment Summary June 2024 [9.20.1 - 5 
pages]

  

Declaration
Pursuant to sections 3(1) and 66(5) of the Local Government Act 2020 the Chief 
Executive Officer has designated this attachment as confidential on the grounds that 
it contains private commercial information, being information provided by a business, 
commercial or financial undertaking that—
(i) relates to trade secrets; or
(ii) if released, would unreasonably expose the business, commercial or financial 
undertaking to disadvantage.
In particular the attachment contains commercial and personal information.

Chief Executive Officer – David Rae

In providing this advice to Council as the Chief Executive Officer, I have no interests 
to disclose in this report. 

Author – Katy McMahon

In providing this advice to Council as the Manager Economy and Prosperity, I have 
no interests to disclose in this report.

Summary
The purpose of this report is to provide information on the assessment and 
recommended funding allocation for the June 2024 round of the Business Assistance 
Scheme (BAS).  Four applications have been assessed and meet the relevant 
streams aim, objective and assessment criteria and relevant policies. Three 
applications require a planning permit and are recommended conditional on a 
planning permit being approved.
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Introduction
As part of Grow and Prosper Corangamite, Council has consolidated its approach to 
economic and community development, inclusive of arts, culture, tourism and the 
circular economy. The Grow and Prosper Framework outlines new programs 
including the BAS.

The BAS enables Council to support local businesses, big or small, community 
enterprises, creative industries and new businesses looking to establish in the 
municipality.

Issues
The BAS provides business, building owners and community the opportunity to apply 
for support, including financial assistance. Applications are assessed on merit, 
considering the eligibility criteria and available funds.

The BAS is a new way to support our community. The BAS policy was adopted by 
Council September 2023. The Scheme is ongoing across the year enabling 
businesses to submit when suitable for their proposed project and provides four 
streams:

1. Business Façade Improvement – providing support to businesses that have street 
frontage in towns to undertake high quality façade improvements, that are visible 
from the front of the property and enhance the visual appearance and function of the 
building.

2. Creative Industries and Placemaking – supporting and building the capacity of 
entrepreneurs, creatives and established businesses to create and deliver inclusive 
and vibrant projects in public spaces or areas that are accessible to the public.

3. Community Enterprise - encouraging the development of enterprise skills, building 
economic capacity and employment opportunities in communities, by supporting 
entrepreneurs, creatives and community-led businesses to create and deliver 
inclusive projects throughout Corangamite.

4. Fees and Enabling Infrastructure - encouraging development that is significant to 
the community to occur within a shortened timeframe, assist new businesses to 
establish by reducing the up-front costs and provide some certainty to those 
preparing to invest in the municipality.

There are four (4) applications that have been assessed and are recommended for 
assistance to be considered by Council for determination.
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The four applications recommended for assistance are:

Stream 1 Business Façade Improvement 

1. George Taylor Stores: this project includes cleaning, repainting and installation 
of signage to the front of the building, facing Manifold Street Camperdown. The 
funding assistance requested is $2882.50. Note elements of this project require a 
planning permit (signage) and the project is recommended for approval subject to a 
planning permit being approved. 

2. ProDairy Timboon: this project includes repainting of the façade and deck at the 
front of the shop (Note: the shop is within a building of four shops, with two of the 
four shops seeking support through the BAS program.  The two applications will 
bring the four shops in the building into an aligned colour scheme and up to a higher 
visual amenity overall.  This application is for facade painting and reoiling of the deck 
outside shop 2 only and whilst aligned is separate to the application below). The 
funding assistance requested is $486.93. 

3. Babche Timboon: this project includes repainting of the façade and deck at the 
front of the shop alongside new signage to the door and window including a lightbox 
sign above the door and additional signage to the south side of the shop. (Note: the 
shop is within a building of four shops, with two of the four shops seeking support 
through the BAS program.  The two applications will bring the four shops in the 
building into an aligned colour scheme and up to a higher visual amenity overall.  
The application is for facade painting and reoiling of the deck outside shop 3 only 
alongside signage for shop 3 and whilst aligned is separate to the application 
above). The funding assistance requested is $2181.48. Note elements of this project 
require a planning permit (signage) and the project is recommended for approval 
subject to a planning permit being approved.

Stream 2 Creative Industries & Placemaking.

4. Excuse Me Katie’s Camperdown: this project proposes installation of a 
professional artist mural on the highway-facing wall of shop 243 Manifold Street. The 
funding assistance requested is $2000. Note this project requires a planning permit 
and the project is recommended for approval subject to a planning permit being 
approved and compliance with Council’s public art policy and guidelines. 

The BAS scheme is an ongoing grant and business support scheme that is open for 
applications year-round. Council officers work with applicants to enable applications 
to be ‘grant ready’. Applications are assessed against the relevant stream criteria 
and evaluated by an assessment panel. Applications are assessed to ensure they 
meet all assessment criteria and align with the program's objectives and if so, are 
recommended for approval.
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All four applications meet the relevant streams aim, objective and assessment 
criteria. Applications 1 George Taylor Stores, 3: Babche and 4: Excuse Me Katies 
require a planning permit and are recommended conditional on a planning permit 
being approved.

Policy and Legislative Context
This report is in keeping with the commitments in the Council Plan 2021-2025:

Theme Two - A Thriving Community
Facilitating and supporting economic development
Corangamite’s townships are attractive, accessible and appealing to visitors 
and are presented in a way in which our residents can be proud

The Business Assistance Scheme policy, adopted by Council September 2023, 
guides the administration of the scheme enabling council to provide targeted 
assistance, including advice and financial assistance. 

Internal / External Consultation
Extensive external promotion and consultation about the BAS has occurred across 
the Shire including media releases, Council’s social media channels, Corangamite 
News, Corangamite E-News and Corangamite Business E-News.

On receipt of applications internal consultation is undertaken with relevant teams 
(e.g. planning, building and environmental health) to ensure all aspects of proposals 
are considered and applicants are supported through the permit processes. 

Financial and Resource Implications
The current round of applications is seeking a total commitment of funds of 
$7,550.91. Planning fees for three planning permits are proposed to be waived by 
Council as part of the program to encourage participation, at a cost of approximately 
$644.10.  Any relevant building permit fees still apply.

Council’s 2023-2024 adopted budget includes an allocation of $50,000 towards the 
previous Business Façade Grant Scheme which is being expended through the new 
BAS with a remaining budget of approximately $29,296. Eligible fee waivers will be 
budgeted through Council’s planning fee waiver budget.

Applications 1, 2 and 3 are Stream 1 applications – Business Façade Improvements. 
Applications under this stream are applied on a minimum $1:$1 basis to complete 
improvements to their façades with the amount capped at $3,000 per business for 
physical works and $500 for landscaping. Funding for Stream 1 projects will be 
provided to the businesses following the conclusion of the project and once the 
acquittal process has been completed, all necessary permits having been approved.
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Options
Officers have assessed the applications and recommend them for assistance under 
the BAS the options are:

1. Allocate funds of $7,550.91 excl GST to the four Business Assistance Scheme 
applicants and waive planning permit fees to the value of $644.10. 

2. Not allocate funding through the program.

Conclusions
The BAS provides businesses, building owners and community enterprises with the 
opportunity to apply for support, including financial assistance.  The four applications 
recommended for support all meet the objectives of the BAS program and contribute 
to the growth and prosperity of Corangamite.

 RECOMMENDATION - 9.20

That Council approve the four Business Assistance Scheme applications for 
funding being:

1. George Taylor Stores: $2882.50. excl GST.
2. ProDairy Timboon: $486.93 excl GST.
3. Babche Timboon:  $2181.48 excl GST.
4. Excuse Me Katie’s Camperdown: $2000 excl GST. 
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10 Other Business

11 Open Forum

Members of the public are very welcome to make statements or ask questions 
relevant to Corangamite Shire at the Open Forum section of scheduled Council 
meetings. 

To assist with the smooth running of the meeting, we ask that you raise a maximum 
of two items at a meeting and please follow this procedure: 

1. Wait until the Mayor asks if there are any items in Open Forum and invites you to 
speak. 

2. Stand if you are able and introduce yourself. 

3. Speak for a maximum of five minutes. 

We will undertake to answer as many questions as possible at a meeting, and if we 
cannot answer a question at the meeting, we will provide a written response no later 
than five working days after the Council meeting.
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12 Confidential Items

RECOMMENDATION

That pursuant to the provisions of Section 66(2)(a) of the Local Government Act 
2020 the meeting be closed to the public to enable consideration of the following 
reports as they relate to Council business information and personal information.

13 Close Meeting
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